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To J A McGinty BA, BJuris (Hons), LLB, JP, MLA

Attorney General

Minister for Justice and Legal Affairs

In accordance with Sections 62 and 66 of the Financial Administration and Audit Act 1985, I hereby

submit for your information and presentation to Parliament the Annual Report of the Department

of Justice for the year ending 30 June 2002.

This report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Financial Administration and

Audit Act 1985.

Alan Piper

Director General

31 August 2002

Department of Justice 

141 St Georges Terrace

Perth WA 6000

Telephone (08) 9264 1711 or 13 12 17

Justice Online: www.justice.wa.gov.au
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In the past year, the Department of Justice has demonstrated its ability to achieve major change

very quickly, and manage the impact effectively. 

In this, the first full year of the new State Government, the Department has reshaped its direction,

supporting a large legislative program and taking on major initiatives to reduce imprisonment

rates, improve services to women prisoners and radically shift the focus of community justice in

this State.

New initiatives and the culmination of longer-term projects mean there have been major, tangible

results realised in the past year. Importantly, a rigorous program of community consultation and 

a commitment to transparency have also underpinned community support for the major changes

within the justice system. 

The Department has also shifted its focus internally – from a largely management agenda to a

true justice agenda. Employees across the organisation have met the challenges of a demanding

program and, in most cases, reduced budgets with renewed commitment – and with a great deal

of success. They have been given strong leadership from a management team marked by a high

level of stability and cohesiveness. The only change to the senior management team throughout

the year was the important appointment of Kate George, a respected lawyer with a track record 

in human rights, to give the Aboriginal Policy and Services branch a renewed sense 

of purpose and a new strategic focus.

Reduced prisoner population

A strong sense of direction and stability in management across the public prison system has also

been achieved this year. Through legislative, policy and administrative changes, there has been an

unprecedented fall of 1142 in prisoner numbers within the public system – the lowest prisoner

population in public prisons that Western Australia has seen in a decade. An important factor was

the State’s first private prison, Acacia, becoming fully operational and catering for 750 prisoners.

Managing such a massive drop in prisoner numbers reversed the challenges of previous years 

when an escalating prisoner population was the issue. Instead, employees have tackled different

adjustments required, including the closure of some units and staff transfers.

Overcrowding is no longer an issue anywhere in the system, there were no major incidents at any

prison during the year and no escapes from medium- or maximum-security facilities. The number

of deaths in custody did not increase, but four apparent suicides mean this issue continues to be 

a serious concern.

Reduced prisoner numbers has also meant more comprehensive and effective delivery of education

and training, and treatment programs.

At the same time, we have continued our prisons refurbishment program around the State

including upgrading the regional prisons at Broome, Albany, Roebourne and Eastern Goldfields.

The refurbishment program is another factor in reducing the levels of tension within prisons. 

Some of the improvements to the State’s prisons, and particularly to regional prisons, have been 

in response to reports from the Inspector of Custodial Services who completed his first full year,

making six prisons inspections.
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Despite the increased pressure on resources, the Department has welcomed the independent

overview and has responded swiftly throughout the year to the Inspector’s comments and

recommendations. Riverbank was also closed in August 2001, in response to the Inspector’s

criticisms of the building and facilities. 

We have also redefined the involvement of prisoners in work outside the State’s prisons, actively

engaging the community in suggesting work projects for all offenders. Our determination to find

practical alternatives to traditional imprisonment that better serve the community and prisoners is

evidenced in the very significant increase in community work opportunities, the decisions to close

the minimum-security Pardelup prison facility and reopen it as a work camp, and to expand work

camp opportunities for indigenous prisoners by establishing a new camp in consultation with

Aboriginal elders in the Wyndham region.

Improving services to women

An important part of the Department’s Reform of Adult Justice in Western Australia is a radically

new approach to women in the justice system. Women make up a small minority of people in

prison (around 200 at year’s end) and on community orders. This makes them vulnerable to

oversight and discrimination. 

The Department is tackling this issue directly and in the past year has commenced a thematic

review of women in prisons, planned a new, low-security prison which will embrace a completely

new approach to dealing with women offenders, and developed a series of programs specifically

tailored for women.

Intense focus on community justice 

The Department’s decision-making has been driven by a commitment to involving the community

in a practical justice system that demands and facilitates reparation and community service.

In a very short time-frame, community justice has become a more inherent part of the way the

Department manages offenders with very tangible and long-term benefits for both the community

and offenders. We have been responsive not only to new Government policy but to the

community’s keenness to understand and participate in the changes to their justice system. 

Working with indigenous communities

Although there have been real improvements in the way the Department has worked with

Aboriginal communities and there has been a very pleasing fall in indigenous imprisonment (18

per cent overall and a 30 per cent fall in the number of female Aboriginal prisoners), Aboriginal

justice issues remain some of the most important and most difficult confronting the Department.

Our work this year shows we have recognised the need to do business differently. Typical of our

approach has been our work with the Aboriginal communities at Warburton and Jamieson to

better understand the effects of isolation from the Government services and support available to

urbanised communities. Department representatives joined the Chairman of the Parole Board in

visiting the communities in May 2002 and will visit them again in August 2002 to further discuss

their difficulties and a range of possible community justice solutions. 
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As we move into 2002/03, we will maintain our commitment to the highest level of consultation

with Aboriginal and, indeed, all local communities. We will build on the progress achieved in

regional and remote communities to develop a method of justice delivery in which Aboriginal

communities can be very active participants.

Managing juveniles in custody

Juveniles continue to be managed very well within the justice system. The daily average juvenile

population in custody was 122 for the year. There were 169 participants in the supervised bail

program in the metropolitan area and another 43 participants who were able to remain in their

culturally familiar surroundings, close to family and other support at our remote bail facilities

opened in December 2000 (Banana Well, West Kimberley) and July 2001 (Bell Springs, East

Kimberley).

The $4.3 million Rangeview Remand Centre redevelopment and expansion project was also

commissioned during the year making it suitable for long-stay offenders. The investment provides

upgraded accommodation, better education and training facilities and a video conferencing facility.

Modernising courts

We have continued to streamline processes within the courts system and use new technology 

to better serve customers. The first stage of the Integrated Court Management System – a State-

wide, state-of-the-art computer system that provides a platform for e-business and replaces 14

different case management systems used previously – was introduced to the District Court during

the year and we look forward to expanding its application in the year ahead.

As well as addressing immediate service issues, including backlogs, the Department is determined

to invest wisely in capital projects that will fulfil demand for decades to come in metropolitan and

regional Western Australia. In Albany, the very latest technology will feature in a new, $20 million

integrated Justice and Police Complex given the green light during the year. Meanwhile,

preliminary planning for the construction of a new Central Business District courts complex was

also commenced in the second half of the year. 

Another major achievement with far-reaching benefits was the decision to establish a single State

Administrative Tribunal replacing nearly 40 different tribunals and boards, improving access and

reducing confusion. The new tribunal will become fully operational early in 2004 and represents 

an opportunity for a huge improvement in service delivery.

Wherever possible, the Department is testing innovative solutions to improve justice services.

After a two-year pilot period, the Family Violence Court project has been thoroughly assessed and

the Joondalup-based court will continue operating. In the year ahead, a new set of principles to

deal with domestic violence will be developed and implemented in courts across the State.

Modernising the State’s courts has also meant introducing a new fee structure. The new fees

introduced in January 2002 are the first increases in almost a decade and make our fee structure

comparable to other States.
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Technology improvements

Introducing new technology has been a challenge for the Registry of Births, Deaths and Marriages

but we are confident WARS2000 will deliver all it promised by way of more efficient and speedy

service for customers and increased opportunities for staff.

The Public Trust has also introduced new software to manage its core business services and

processes. Although demand for Trustee Services continues to increase, the Public Trust happily

wound up its Mortgage Information Service set up in the wake of the finance brokers’ scandal.

The year ahead

The year ahead promises to be every bit as challenging, with little relief from the budgetary

pressures faced by the Department in 2001/02. However, with the strong sense of direction and

enthusiasm established during the year, I have every confidence that the year ahead will be another

marked by significant achievements and real improvements in the justice system.

In particular, the work commenced this year on initiatives such as the new women’s prison,

expanded community justice opportunities, the State Administrative Tribunal, and Perth’s new

Central Business District Courts project are an encouraging foundation to even greater

achievements in 2002/03.

We renew our commitment to a closer working relationship with the community and especially

with Aboriginal communities in regional and remote Western Australia. And again, we commit 

to a very high level of transparency and accountability in the development of a justice system that

focuses on practical solutions to very complex and enduring issues in our society.

Much of my confidence is based in the dedicated team of people working across the Department 

of Justice. They have proven during the year that they are willing and very able to respond quickly

and effectively to major change in the community and in the strategic direction of this agency. 

I commend their efforts and, with proper regard for the significant challenges and difficulties still

facing us, celebrate the results achieved this year.

Alan Piper

Director General

Department of Justice
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In line with the State Government’s decision to make the naming of agencies consistent, the

Ministry of Justice became the Department of Justice from 1 July, 2001. The re-branding of 

the agency on such items as letterhead and signage has been and will continue to be done

incrementally to ensure minimal wastage.

COURT SERVICES

Court Services provides administrative and support services for the management of courts and

tribunals. It also provides accommodation, technical facilities, non-judicial staff support, registry,

security and other administrative support services. Court Services also provides services that meet

the needs of the judiciary and community, including victims of crime.

Key Achievements

• Introduced a blueprint to create a single State Administrative Tribunal to replace nearly 

40 tribunals and boards (see page 37) 

• Drafted legislation to amalgamate the existing Court of Petty Sessions and Local Courts into

the Magistrates Court of Western Australia (see page 37)

• Introduced a new fee structure in the Supreme and District Courts, based on an increased cost

recovery/State comparison model, so as to better reflect the cost of service to users and reduce

the burden to taxpayers (see page 38)

• Started preliminary planning for the first stage of the CBD courts complex, which will

consolidate district and criminal courts in one location and improve facilities for court users

(see page 39)

• Made the decision to continue the operations of the Family Violence Court at Joondalup and

further develop its application to provide a more effective response to family violence (see page 38)

• Continued the implementation of the Integrated Court Management System that enables a

whole-of-justice approach to managing case flow and provides for more accessible and efficient

business processes (see page 40)

• Integrated the Child Witness Service into the Victim Support Service (see page 41)

Future Directions

• Construction of new court accommodation in Albany and the Perth CBD in order to improve

facilities for court users 

• Enhancing the efficiency of the systems used for collecting and enforcing fines, penalties and

infringement notices

• Introducing a unified civil judgement enforcement system, together with a range of changes to

improve efficiency, including a wider choice in enforcement options and an enhanced garnishee

system

• Increasing levels of support for self-represented litigants through the provision of appropriate

information about court processes, procedures and protocols

• Establishing processes to increase the opportunity to resolve civil disputes through conciliation

and/or mediation



D E P A R T M E N T  O F  J U S T I C E  •  A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 1 / 2 0 0 2

THE YEAR IN BRIEF continued

THE YEAR 
IN BRIEF

Page 9

• Introducing a ‘best practice’ bail model that balances the need to protect the community with

the rights of an individual who may not have been proved guilty

CROWN SOLICITOR

The Crown Solicitor’s Office provides a broad-based legal service to the Government, its

departments, instrumentalities and agencies. This includes conducting litigation, providing legal

advice, representation as counsel in courts and tribunals and preparing legal documents.

Key Achievements

• Provided cost-effective and timely legal services to Government (see page 42)

• Continued to be involved in negotiating agreements and mediating claims leading to consent

determinations of native title in the Federal Court (see page 42)

Future Directions

• Continue to provide cost-effective and timely legal services to Government

PARLIAMENTARY COUNSEL

The Parliamentary Counsel’s Office ensures Government policies are put into legislative form and

the public is given access to, and information about, existing legislation. It provides comprehensive

drafting and related services to Government, its departments and agencies.

Key Achievements

• Drafted legislation to give effect to the incoming Government’s legislative program including

major amendments to the State’s labour relations laws (see page 43)

Future Directions

• Implement, where possible, any recommendations arising from the review to improve services

to Parliament and improve efficiency in the printing and reprinting of legislation

COMMUNITY AND JUVENILE JUSTICE AND PRISONS DIVISIONS

These divisions manage adult and juvenile offenders in custody and in the community. They aim

to reduce re-offending, contribute to the protection of the community and direct offenders towards

law-abiding lifestyles.

Key Achievements 

• Implemented the Reform of Adult Justice strategy to reduce the rate and cost of imprisonment

(see page 44)

• Reduced the daily average prisoner population from 3117 to 2923 (see page 46) 

• Reduced the number of Aboriginal prisoners by 18.3 per cent (see page 46)

• Increased the number of community corrections officers by 22 (see page 47)

• Completed the fill of Acacia Prison (see page 55)

• Commenced a review to investigate women’s needs and improve conditions for female

offenders (see page 44)
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• Completed the first stage of an upgrade of Bandyup Women’s Prison and progressed planning

for a new low-security prison for women on the Longmore/Nyandi site in Bentley (see page 60)

• Initiated the Kimberley Regional Justice project to determine alternative, culturally

appropriate ways to manage Aboriginal offenders (see page 48)

• Developed a comprehensive strategic plan for Aboriginal services in prisons (see page 53)

• Completed a $4.3 million redevelopment and expansion project at the Rangeview Remand

Centre (see page 61) 

• Opened a supervised bail facility for juvenules at Bell Springs in the East Kimberley (see page 51)

• Expanded the deferred bench warrant program to minimise the arrest and detention of

juveniles because of non-attendance at court (see page 51)

• Completed the report of the Suicide Prevention Task Force on suicide prevention measures 

in prisons (see page 57)

• Implemented a new prisoner grievance process across all prisons and established a Prisoner

Grievance Review Panel (see pages 24 and 53)

• Established new prisoner work camps at Bungarun, Pardelup and Wyndham (see page 59)

Future Directions

• Implement reforms to the adult justice system to ensure the successful integration of offenders

back into the community on release, and reduce the rate of recidivism

• Commence a recruitment project for additional Community Justice Services staff

• Increase community work options for offenders

• Support and implement programs and services that reduce Aboriginal over-representation

within the criminal justice system, including the Strategic Plan for Aboriginal Services

2002/2005 

• Develop a comprehensive drug strategy that promotes a pathways model for offenders 

to tackle substance misuse while serving a community or custodial sentence, in addition 

to court diversion strategies

• Implement further structural changes reflecting the refocusing of the role of prisons, including

the closure of units at Casuarina Prison, Greenough and Bunbury Regional Prisons and the

commissioning of new accommodation facilities at Bandyup Women’s Prison 

• Act on the findings of the review into female needs in prisons and detention and develop

programs that are appropriate and account for the needs of women, especially Aboriginal 

and regional groups

• Plan and construct a new purpose-built, low-security prison for women

• Continue to reposition aspects of the contracted prisoner transport service to improve efficiency

and reliability and tightly manage service costs

• Extend the Supervised Bail program

• Develop a risk assessment tool for juveniles.
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THE PUBLIC ADVOCATE

The Office of the Public Advocate protects and promotes the rights, dignity and autonomy of

adults who have a decision-making disability and reduces the risk of neglect, exploitation and

abuse. The Public Advocate is an independent statutory officer appointed under the Guardianship

and Administration Act 1990.

The Public Advocate provides advocacy at hearings of the Guardianship and Administration Board

and in the community, and information about preserving the best interests of people with decision-

making disabilities, including guardianship and administration. The Public Advocate also acts as

guardian when appointed by the board.

Key Achievements

• Launched a pilot project in Bunbury to provide guardianship and advocacy services to regional

Western Australia (see page 62)

• Commissioned a report regarding the needs of indigenous people in the guardianship and

administration system in Western Australia (see page 63)

Future Directions

• Provide advocacy and education services that establish alternatives to the services of the Office

of the Public Advocate and the Guardianship and Administration Board to protect the rights

and well-being of people with decision-making disabilities 

• Restructure the Office of the Public Advocate to redirect resources to critical areas of advocacy

and guardianship

• Implement strategies to establish less restrictive alternatives for Aboriginal people to reduce

the need for them to access the Office of the Public Advocate and the Guardianship Board

• Implement community education strategies that focus on ways to prevent the need to use 

the Office of the Public Advocate and the Guardianship Board and the need for a guardian 

or administrator

• Continue to implement the Bunbury pilot project to improve services to regional 

Western Australia

PUBLIC TRUST OFFICE

The Public Trust Office provides trustee services for Western Australia, delivering professional 

and independent trustee and asset management services.

Key Achievements

• Successfully implemented purpose-built, web-enabled, integrated trust accounting software

(see page 64)

• Completed an efficiency and service improvement program involving operational changes 

to the business unit (see page 64)

• Evaluated key trust and estate services to identify significant service improvement

requirements and reviewed delegations of authority (see page 65) 
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• Completed accommodation changes to establish new client meeting and interview rooms 

(see page 65)

Future Directions 

• Improve services delivered to Public Trustee customers and stakeholders through the

development of service delivery standards, caseload management and the ongoing realisation 

of efficiencies from improved management systems.

• Identify additional service requirements pursuant to the increasing demands for a trustee

service, and increase community expectations of service levels.

• Continue to monitor Common Fund investments to improve investment management

strategies.

• Review and improve complaint-handling procedures to improve customer feedback and

accountability with complaints.

REGISTRY OF BIRTHS, DEATHS AND MARRIAGES

The Registry of Births, Deaths and Marriages manages the security, integrity and preservation of

birth, death and marriage records and provides an alternative to a religious wedding ceremony. 

Key Achievements

• Implemented a new electronic birth, death and marriage registration system, which replaced

the outdated mission critical system (see page 66)

• Undertook a significant restructure and reorganisation of the registry, in response to the

introduction of the new registration system (see page 66)

• Performed 824 civil marriages (see page 66)

• Undertook a customer satisfaction survey which showed an unaudited satisfaction rate of 82

per cent (see page 66)

Future Directions

• Convert historic paper-based birth, death and marriage records to online storage

• Provide courthouses with online access to the registry’s database to improve service delivery 

to customers living in country areas

• Implement electronic delivery of services to customers and stakeholders.

ABORIGINAL POLICY AND SERVICES

This directorate provides policy analysis and advice, coordination and community consultation for

the Department. It also manages the Aboriginal Visitors Scheme and the Aboriginal Alternative

Dispute Resolution Service.

Key Achievements

• Appointed a new Director of Aboriginal Policy and Services (see page 67)

• Worked with ATSIC to develop a new justice advisory mechanism (see page 67)
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• Provided an Aboriginal Visitors Scheme which had 7828 interviews and/or contacts with

Aboriginal adults and juveniles in custody (see page 68)

• Developed nationally-accredited training packages for counsellors working with Aboriginal

people (see page 68)

Future Directions

• Implement the recommendations of the review of the Aboriginal Policy and Services

Directorate, leading to an enhanced role in providing strategic leadership and advice on

Aboriginal policy and service

• Support and implement programs and services that aim to reduce Aboriginal over-

representation within the criminal justice system and influence the environment in a way 

that promotes long-term change 

• Develop a Corporate Aboriginal Strategic Plan 

• Negotiate a new process of working with Aboriginal communities on justice issues, consistent

with the Statement of Commitment between State Government and ATSIC

• Develop a strategy for delivering regional and remote justice services

• Develop models for engagement of stakeholders - particularly other Government agencies 

and the broader Aboriginal community

CORPORATE SERVICES

The Corporate Services division assists the Department to develop its overall strategic direction

and manages the Department’s human, financial and physical resources.

Key Achievements 

• Developed an online Human Resources kiosk to enable employees to view and update their

own information (see page 69)

• Developed and implemented an Indigenous Mentor program (see page 70)

• Established a Contract Employment Unit to develop and implement a compliance framework

with the Government’s Modes of Employment policy, which resulted in 1005 contract

employees being appointed to permanent positions (see page 69)

• Piloted, with legal firms, an extranet to support the Department’s electronic delivery 

of services to courts (see page 71).

Future Directions 

• Upgrade the Financial Management Information System 

• Replace the existing Infrastructure Services Contract with a new service contract, developed

under the Government’s Strategic Partnering in Resourcing Technology (SPIRIT) framework

• Extend the use of extranet facilities beyond that of the initial pilot to other applications

• Launch a Department-wide approach to integrate risk management within the Department’s

planning, decision-making and management practices 
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• Implement the recommendations of the Indigenous Employment Strategy to improve the

recruitment and retention of Aboriginal staff to better reflect the Department’s customer base,

provide employment opportunities for Aboriginal people through traineeships, graduate

programs and cadetships; and provide career development opportunities through, study leave,

scholarships, career planning and job rotation 

PUBLIC AFFAIRS

Public Affairs supports the Department’s business areas with strategic communications advice 

and a broad range of services to help develop community, stakeholder and staff awareness of the

Department’s operations and achievements.

Key Achievements

• Undertook an unprecedented program of stakeholder briefings and consultation regarding

justice initiatives and projects (see page 72)

• Launched a renovated Justice Online internet site and a new staff intranet site (see page 73)

• Dealt with inquiries from the media (see page 73)

• Prepared detailed communications strategies for all major projects (see page 72)

Future Directions

• Proactively manage stakeholder consultation and briefings for major projects and issues

• Continue to prepare communications strategies for justice initiatives and projects

INTERNAL AUDIT 

The Internal Audit branch conducts comprehensive reviews that assist the maintenance of effective

corporate governance within the Department. Services provided by the branch also contribute

towards the improvement of business practices within the organisation, including management

accountability, compliance management and the effectiveness of internal control processes.

Key achievements

• Developed comprehensive annual audit planning process (see page 74)

• Facilitated risk assessment workshop (see page 74)

• Continued introduction of progressive audit concepts and practices (see page 74)

Future Directions

• Continue to develop strong alliances with customers, aimed at improving the overall

effectiveness and efficiency of Internal Audit service delivery

• Maintain a watching brief over significant initiatives within the Department

• Develop business assurance packages in conjunction with Prisons division and Court Services
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The Department of Justice is primarily funded from the Consolidated Fund. Funding for

operational activities increased by $89.8 million during 2001/02, largely due to the new capital

user charge ($45.9 million) and the change to accrual appropriations ($28.1 million).

Special funding and payments during the year included processing native title claims ($3 million),

cost increases for court security and prisoner transportation ($5 million), financing investor and

legal actions ($1.1 million), transition operations for Acacia Prison ($9.5 million) and redundancy

payments ($1.2 million).

Significant savings and structural adjustments included priority and assurance dividend returned 

to Government ($7.7 million), transfer of native title matters to the Department of Premier and

Cabinet ($1.7 million) and lower-than-expected criminal injuries payments ($4.1 million).

Spending on capital works projects included the upgrading of Bandyup Prison ($7.6 million), 

the expansion of the Rangeview Juvenile Detention Centre ($1.9 million) and the development 

of the Integrated Courts Management System ($3.6 million).

FINANCIAL RESOURCES OVERVIEW

The graphs to the left provide an overview of how the Department is funded and how resources 

are employed to achieve its outcomes.$ 
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The Department of Justice was established in July 1993 with the core responsibility of providing

the framework and processes for the efficient and effective administration of justice and legal

affairs in Western Australia. 

The Department is principally responsible for assisting the Attorney General in the

implementation of Government policy and the administration and/or compliance with more 

than 200 Acts. Its core services are:

• Court services that meet the needs of the judiciary and community, including victims of crime

• Protecting the community and directing offenders towards the adoption of law-abiding

lifestyles

• Managing the security, integrity and preservation of birth, death and marriage records

• Contributing to a coordinated, quality system of justice which is responsive to community

needs through informing, developing and evaluating justice policy

• Meeting the needs of Government and the community for policy, information and legislative

services.

Several services within the Department of Justice report directly to the Attorney General on

professional matters and to the Director General on administrative matters. These are:

• The Office of the Public Advocate, which protects the rights of adults with decision-making

disabilities and reduces the risk of neglect, exploitation and abuse

• The Public Trust Office, which ensures equitable access to trustee services for all Western

Australians

• The Crown Solicitor’s Office, which provides legal services to Government

• The Parliamentary Counsel’s Office, which ensures Government policies are put into legislative

form and the public is given access to, and information about, existing legislation.

The Department of Justice also provides support services for other Government agencies such as

the Office of the Director of Public Prosecutions, Equal Opportunity Commission, Office of the

Information Commissioner and the Law Reform Commission.

The following diagram provides a representation of the Department of Justice as the leading

provider of justice services to the Western Australian community.
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OUR VISION

The Department of Justice seeks to be recognised as an organisation that is a leader in the

coordination and delivery of justice services that:

• Provides excellent services

• Anticipates and satisfies community and customer needs

• Works in partnership with other agencies and community groups

• Values its employees

• Works as a team

• Listens and communicates

• Manages using sound information

• Is open and accountable

OUR MISSION

The Department of Justice’s mission is to provide quality, coordinated and accessible justice

services which contribute to a safe and orderly community.

Our Mission:  To provide quality, coordinated and accessible justice
services which contribute to a safe and orderly community of WA

DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE

Provide 
legal advice

Ensure legislative 
compliance

Develop, promote and 
implement policy

Provide legislative drafting services

Build and maintain relationships amongst 
stakeholder groups

Promote and build frameworks that contribute to a safe  
and orderly community

CORE SERVICE AREAS
Trustees, Advocacy and Guardianship

Criminal Justice

Civil Marriage

Civil Justice

Registration

Family Law

JUSTICE SYSTEM FUNCTIONS

Honest, accountable and
inclusive government

Sound financial management

A growing and diversified
economy

Strong and vibrant regions

An educated and skilled future
for all Western Australians

A valued and protected
environment

A just relationship
with indigenous Western

Australians

Safe, healthy and
supportive

communities

Safe, healthy and
supportive

communities

WA Police Service

Community Groups

Justice partnering agencies, commissions and boards

Specialist groups eg. Office of Crime Prevention

Partnerships
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OUR VISION

OUR MISSION



D E P A R T M E N T  O F  J U S T I C E  •  A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 1 / 2 0 0 2

OPERATING
ENVIRONMENT

Page 18

The justice reform agenda in Western Australia is guided by the overriding principle that the

Department, as an integrated service provider, leads the way in the delivery of comprehensive 

and practical justice services to Western Australia. 

Achieving real and meaningful reform requires the Department of Justice to: 

• Ensure equity and fairness in justice 

• Provide access to a justice resolution for all citizens

• Ensure that justice, as a service to the community, is delivered effectively and expeditiously 

in an open and accountable environment.

Two of the Department’s major areas of reform are:

• Improvement in the efficiency, effectiveness and accessibility of Western Australia’s courts

• The greater use of community-based sanctions that more effectively reduce re-offending,

reserving imprisonment as a strategy of last resort.

Achieving these outcomes requires the introduction of significant legislation and policy, continuous

improvement in Department practices, and planning that addresses justice issues from a systemic

perspective.

KEY CHALLENGES 

If the Department of Justice is to implement strategies that achieve effective and sustainable

outcomes, it must take into account a range of key issues and impacts from its immediate and

broader operating environment. 

These include:

Creating partnerships with Aboriginal people

Aboriginal people and their culture are a unique and invaluable part of our State. Within the

justice system, Aboriginal people are over-represented as both offenders and victims of crime.

Addressing Aboriginal justice issues and building a more culturally-sensitive criminal justice

system, through the establishment of effective partnerships with Aboriginal people, is a priority 

for the Department.

Improving conditions for women 

The Department is committed to ensuring gender equity is achieved across its range of services.

Improving services to victims of abuse and crime, upgrading the quality of prison conditions and

providing appropriate rehabilitation programs and through-care for women is a high priority.

Managing the drug issue

The impact of the use and trafficking of drugs remains a major issue that will occupy the

Department in coming years. Management of the complex drug issue involves a broad range 

of initiatives, which includes working with other agencies. 

THE REFORM AGENDA

KEY CHALLENGES
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Reforming the adult criminal justice system

This strategy aims to provide appropriate alternatives to imprisonment for those who have not

been convicted of serious crimes, by increasingly using meaningful community work options,

effective supervision regimes, ‘best-practice’ programmatic interventions, diversion of low-risk

offenders, ensuring offenders make suitable reparation to the community and assisting offenders

make a successful re-entry into the community. Through the provision of a range of effective

alternatives to imprisonment, the courts’ confidence in community-based sanctions (as opposed 

to imprisonment) will be enhanced. 

Providing modern, accountable and accessible services

The Department is committed to driving down costs across all its operations, introducing

efficiencies and modernising technology and access wherever possible. Streamlining and

modernising the courts system to improve access and enhance timeliness in completing cases 

is ongoing. 

Adapting services to ensure appropriateness for regional and remote
communities 

In addition to a safe, healthy and supportive community, the Western Australian Government is

seeking to develop strong and vibrant regions within a valued and protected environment. Within

this context, the Department of Justice has identified seven regions outside of the metropolitan

area where it will work to better coordinate the provision of justice services. The regional strategies

will be implemented with priorities for State-wide development and strategies to deal with the

specific differences across each region. 

OUR CUSTOMERS AND STAKEHOLDERS

The broad nature of the Department of Justice’s mission means its services can affect all members

of the community at some stage of their lives. These services range from the registration of births,

deaths, and marriages to court and tribunal adjudications and the management of offenders, both

in the community and in custody.

As such, the Department of Justice is committed to ensuring access to a fair and cost-effective

system of justice that protects the rights of individuals and is responsive to community needs.

Our willingness to listen to the community, and the Department’s Justice Advisory Council 

(see page 20), ensures the views and concerns of the community can influence the development 

of justice policy. Council membership comprises representatives of external organisations with

expertise and community standing in the justice field as well as senior Department executives. 

The Director General chairs the Justice Advisory Council.

The Department also provides a range of support and services for the judicial and executive arms

of Government, as well as other Government instrumentalities and departments. It is also the

department principally responsible for assisting the Attorney General and Minister for Justice in

the implementation of Government policy and strategic objectives and the administration and/or

compliance with approximately 300 Acts of Parliament.

KEY CHALLENGES continued

OUR CUSTOMER AND STAKEHOLDERS

2500

2750

3000

3250

June 02

Without proposed Government legislative reforms

With proposed Government legislative reforms

3500

June 03 June 04 June 05 June 06

2000 Policy settings

PRISON POPULATION 
PROJECTIONS
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The disproportionate representation of Aboriginal people within the criminal justice system is

recognised and is of great concern to the Department. To this end, the Department is pro-actively

engaging with Aboriginal communities to develop constructive and productive partnerships that

will ensure Aboriginal people have appropriate justice services that are accessible and fair.

A COLLABORATIVE APPROACH

The Department of Justice was established to assist in improving community confidence in the

justice system. Together with other parts of the justice system, and in particular the judiciary,

whose independence is a basic tenet of our democratic society, the Department works to facilitate

the efficient and effective delivery of justice services to the citizens of Western Australia.

The conduct of these functions within a single organisation requires a high degree of coordination

in the development of justice system policies and services.

The Department has drawn together all agencies with an interest in delivering justice services 

to ensure a cohesive, efficient and effective service to all its customers and stakeholders.

This cooperative approach requires close liaison and a close working relationship with a range of

other agencies such as the Western Australia Police Service and the departments of Community

Development, Health and Education. 

Justice Advisory Council

Taking a collaborative approach to ensuring community safety and security means taking a lead

role in the development and implementation of effective solutions. The Department of Justice

chairs the Justice Advisory Council, which has been established to ensure the responsive and

effective administration of justice by drawing on the expertise and knowledge of others.  

The Council comprises seven senior Department executives and representatives of the Legal Aid

Commission, Outcare, the Crime Research Centre, the Australian Crime Prevention Council, 

the WA Police Service, law firms and the community. 

It provides an important forum to promote dialogue, improve communication and obtain advice

from key stakeholders, significant organisations and experts in the justice field in the development

of policy and service improvement initiatives.

Aboriginal Cyclic Offending

The Aboriginal Cyclic Offending program is another interagency approach to address the causes 

of Aboriginal over-representation in the justice system, currently operating at Geraldton and

Midland. This project involves the Department of Justice, the Department for Community

Development, the Education Department and the Health Department. 

It is a long-term project, with the targeted reductions in the number of Aboriginal people coming

into contact with the criminal justice system and the associated cost savings not expected to be

realised for five to 10 years. 

OUR CUSTOMER AND STAKEHOLDERS continued

A COLLABORATIVE APPROACH
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Strong Families

The Strong Families Program is a collaborative case management approach coordinated by the

Department of the Premier and Cabinet which aims to bring agencies working with families

together to ensure coordinated, planning and delivery of services. It is based on New Zealand’s

Strengthening Families Program. The program is being piloted at Albany and Midland. 

Gordon Inquiry

Another important focus of the Department during the year was its contribution to the 

Gordon Inquiry.

Following issues raised in the coronial inquiry into the death of 15-year-old Susan Taylor,

Magistrate Sue Gordon was selected to chair a special inquiry into responses by Government

agencies to complaints of family violence and child abuse in Aboriginal communities. 

The Department of Justice’s responses to the inquiry were coordinated by its Community Justice

Services division and required the preparation of a comprehensive report on the relevant functions

and services provided by the Department. The final report from the inquiry will be tabled in

Parliament in August 2002 and an across-Government response will be developed. Community

Justice Services will coordinate and prepare the Department of Justice’s response.

Child Protection

Community Justice Services have also represented the Department on the inter-departmental

Child Protection Coordination Committee. This committee has reviewed existing interagency 

child protection protocols and is developing a framework to ensure across-agency coordination and

collaboration in child protection matters. Membership of this committee includes the Department

for Community Development, the WA Police Service, the Departments of Justice, Health and

Education and the Disability Services Commission. 

Release of Child Sex Offenders

In addition, Community Justice Services and Prisons divisions have worked with the Department

of Community Development on the development of protocols and procedures of advice and

notification in relation to the release of child sex offenders into the community on completion 

of the custodial portion of their sentence.
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During 2001/02 the Department has undertaken an intensive program of community consultation

with the full range of stakeholders on a variety of issues to enable the most effective and efficient

delivery of justice services.

Projects which have included a thorough consultative program include the:

• Reform of the adult criminal justice system

• Legislative changes to the Sentencing Act and Prisons Act

• Review into the needs of female offenders

• Design and development of a new, low-security prison for women 

• Fines reform and Bail Act review

• Consultation regarding the Kimberley Regional Justice Plan

• Design and development of the Integrated Courts Management System

The community has also been invited to have an unprecedented level of involvement in

community work plans and projects for prisoners in custody and on community work orders. 

For example, the development of new prisoner work camps at Bungarun and Wyndham, and the

establishment of a juvenile bail facility in the East Kimberley, entailed a high level of consultation

and input from the community.

For more on the Department’s consultation program, please see the report on Public Affairs’

activities on page 72.

WORKING WITH THE COMMUNITY
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The Department is committed to maintaining a high level of customer service and communication

with all its client groups. 

This commitment has provided the Department with the opportunity to recognise and work 

with a diverse range of client groups throughout 2001/02, helping it identify, meet and maintain

customer service expectations. Some of the more significant initiatives that have been implemented

within the Department of Justice during the year include:

• The Prisoner Grievance Process, which was successfully rolled out to all prisons across Western

Australia, and which provides an effective tool for prisoners to resolve issues within the prison

environment (see pages 24 and 53)

• The establishment of a 24-hour direct line information service by the Office of the Public

Advocate to answer the most common questions asked about Enduring Powers of Attorney

• The amalgamation of services provided by Victim Support Services and Child Witness Support

Service (see page 41)

• The launch of a video to assist Aboriginal victims of crime who have to give evidence in court

(see page 41)

• The completion of a customer service manual for jurors

• The establishment of a Family Court call centre to:

• process phone enquiries more efficiently

• provide a resource room where litigants can view files, inspect exhibits, subpoenaed

documents and prepare or modify documentation for processing in the registry 

• provide a Legal Aid paralegal officer to assist self-represented litigants with their legal

problems.

• Eight Community Legal Centres received accreditation to hold information sessions previously

convened by members of the Family Court, so sessions can be held in the city, suburbs and

country areas. 

• The introduction of EFTPOS facilities to a number of metropolitan and country Magistrates

courts, providing customers with more convenient payment options.

CUSTOMER SERVICE
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The Department of Justice provides an important service to the community and, as such, is subject

to a high level of scrutiny from external agencies. In addition, internal checks and balances ensure

the Department’s activities are managed in an open and transparent manner.

Prisoner grievance process

A new Prisoner Grievance Process has been developed after consultation with all key stakeholders,

including prisoners and the Ombudsman’s Office, to ensure a more fully documented and

streamlined process to resolve grievances.

Under the new process, the focus is on resolving complaints at the lowest level possible, to avoid

complaints of a trivial nature being referred to the Ombudsman. For instance, a complaint about

lost property can now be resolved between the prisoner and prison officers and unit managers. 

If the prisoner is not satisfied with the resolution of the complaint, it becomes a grievance and is

logged and documented. Clearly defined processes, strict timelines and a built-in appeals process

mean the there is more likelihood of grievances being successfully resolved within a short

timeframe. 

The new grievance system has now been rolled out to all prisons, and during the last financial 

year the Ombudsman’s Office was the main point of contact for prisoners who wanted to make 

a complaint. It is expected that as the new process takes effect, the number of complaints to the

Ombudsman’s Office will significantly reduce (see page 53 and 76).

Complaints to the Ombudsman’s office

Exact figures regarding the number of complaints made in the 2001/02 year were not available at

31 August 2002, however, the Ombudsman’s Office advises that approximately 750 allegations

were received during the year and some 160 unresolved allegations were carried-over from the

previous year. 

During the year, some 820 allegations were dealt with, of which approximately 140 were wholly

or partly sustained. The remainder where either not sustained, could not be determined, or the

Ombudsman determined that an opinion was not necessary.

Approximately 110 allegations remained unresolved at 30 June 2002.  

Internal Investigations Unit

The Department’s Internal Investigations Unit investigates complaints of staff misconduct. 

While many matters are investigated internally, the unit sometimes refers matters to the 

WA Police Service for investigation. 

Most of the matters investigated during the year related to the Prisons and Community and

Juvenile Justice divisions, however the unit can investigate matters arising from other areas 

of the Department at the direction of the Director General. 

In 2001/02 the Internal Investigations Unit dealt with 160 investigations. Of those, 48 were

allegations of assaults, 44 serious misconduct and six involved drug trafficking.  

In addition, the unit progressed development of an investigations policy to formalise investigations

processes and the roles and responsibilities of staff under investigation and internal witnesses. 

The policy is due to become effective in August 2002.

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE
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Internal Audit

The Department’s Internal Audit branch, conducts comprehensive reviews that assist the

maintenance of effective corporate governance within the Department. Services provided 

by Internal Audit also contribute towards the improvement of business practices within the

organisation, including management accountability, compliance management and the 

effectiveness of internal control processes (see page 74).

OFFICE OF THE INSPECTOR OF CUSTODIAL SERVICES

The Inspector of Custodial Services has maintained a constant schedule of inspections throughout

the year. These are listed below:

Some key themes arising from these inspections have been:

• Inequitable treatment of women in custody, particularly those in regional prisons. 

• The appropriateness of the condition/suitability/location of regional prisons. Regional prisons

were criticised as being generally inferior to the metropolitan prisons in amenity and places

where structural racism was prominent

• Cultural understanding. Reports identified a need for better training and recruitment of

indigenous staff across the board and in strategic areas where the majority contact would 

be with indigenous people

• Prisoner access to an appropriate standard of health services.

The Department of Justice has treated the issues seriously and has worked to address them 

as part of its strategic planning within prisons.

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

Eastern Goldfields Regional Prison - Unannounced 

Special Handling Unit Casuarina – Announced 

Casuarina Prison – Announced 

Nyandi Women’s Prison – Announced 

Eastern Goldfields Regional Prison Follow-up - Announced 

Hakea Prison – Announced 

Roebourne Regional Prison - Announced

Bandyup Women’s Prison - Announced

Conducted Status

August 2001

September 2001

October 2001

February 2002

February 2002

March 2002

April 2002

June 2002

Lodged November 2001

Due for lodgement July 2002

Report in preparation

Due for lodgement August 2002

Due for lodgement July 2002

Report in preparation

Report in preparation

Report in preparation

Prison Inspection

Adult Prisoner Transport Services - Announced 

Conducted Status

Extended period, 
ending October 2001

Lodged November 2001

Inspection of Contracted Custodial Service

Court Custody Centres (Armadale, Fremantle, Rockingham, 
Supreme Court of Western Australia, Midland, Central Law 
Courts and Joondalup) – Announced

Extended period, 
ending November 2001

Lodged May 2002
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In relation to women’s issues in prisons, the Department has conducted extensive research 

and planning for:

• The new low security women’s prison (see page 60)

• Thematic review of "Women, Young Women and Girls in Custody" (see page 44)

• Upgrade of facilities for women at Bandyup and regional prisons (see page 60).

Planning and implementation for services in regional areas is a priority for the Department 

and includes:

• Kimberley Regional Justice Services Plan, which will form the benchmark for planning 

in other regions (see page 48)

• Upgrade Eastern Goldfields Regional Prison

• Capital upgrades (see page 60).

In response to the unannounced inspection of Eastern Goldfields Regional Prison, plans to address

cultural and physical issues were implemented ahead of time.  As a result, the Inspector found a

vastly different facility when he returned to the prison six months later for a follow-up inspection. 

The Department has published its Prisons Division Strategic Plan for Aboriginal Services 2002-

2005. The objectives of this plan include higher rates of employment of indigenous staff and

culturally appropriate training for staff (see page 53).

The Offender Health Council has been established to oversee the delivery of health services to

offenders. This Council is a combination of senior management from the Departments of Health

and Justice and includes the Inspector of Custodial Services and the Director of the Office 

of Health Review, as ex-officio members (see page 56).

A more consultative approach to dealing with the Inspector’s concerns has seen regular meetings

between Prisons division staff and Inspections officers, creating a better understanding of the

business from both offices. 

In 2001/02 the Office of the Inspector took over the administration of the Official Prison Visitor

Scheme, which previously reported directly to the Attorney General. 

The Department will continue to work closely with the Inspector’s office to ensure the visitors’

concerns are addressed fully and promptly.

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE
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The Department of Justice operates from its head office at 141 St Georges Terrace in Perth, with

service locations throughout the metropolitan area and throughout regional Western Australia.

Metropolitan area

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

Joondalup

Perth

Midland

Fremantle

Armadale

Rockingham

Mandurah

Wangara

Mirrabooka

Osborne Park Mt Lawley

East Victoria Park

Bentley

Maddington

Thornlie/Armadale

Murdoch

Victoria Park

Canning Vale

Karnet

Casuarina

Wooroloo

Guildford

Court Services

Community and 
Juvenile Justice

Prisons Division

Registry of Births, 
Deaths and Marriages

Public Trust office
and Office of the
Public Advocate

Legend
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Regional locations
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Albany

EsperanceKatanning

Manjimup
Busselton

NarroginBunbury

Pinjarra

Northam

Kalgoorlie

Merredin
Moora

Geraldton
Leonora

Mount Magnet

PERTH

Carnarvon

RoebourneKarratha

Port Hedland/
South Hedland

Broome

Derby

Kununurra

Halls Creek

Cocos (Keeling) Islands

Christmas Island

Court Services Community and 
Juvenile Justice

Prisons Division Registry of Births, 
Deaths and Marriages

Legend

Collie

Meekatharra

Bell Springs

Banana Well

Walpole

Pardelup

Kellerberrin

Millstream

Wyndham

Greenough
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The executive team (L–R):
Alan Piper, Director General 
Julie Roberts, Public Advocate
Don Stockins, Registrar of Births, 
Deaths and Marriages
Gary Thompson, Executive Director
Court Services
Robert Harvey, Executive Director
Community and Juvenile Justice
Ray Warnes, Executive Director
Corporate Services
Nina McLaren, Public Trustee
Kate George, Director of Aboriginal
Policy and Services
Terry Simpson, Executive Director
Prisons Division

Not Photographed:
Peter Panegyres, Crown Solicitor
Greg Calcutt, Parliamentary Counsel

The Department of Justice executive team, headed by Alan Piper, takes responsibility for the

various divisions of the agency, which all contribute to a safe and orderly Western Australian

community.

It includes the independent positions of Public Advocate and Public Trustee, which also prepare

separate annual reports. 

The Department also administers State Corporate Affairs and provides secretariat support for the

Parole Board and Supervised Release Review Board. Corporate Services functions are also provided

to a number of other Government agencies.

Alan Piper

Director General

Alan Piper graduated in 1972 with a Bachelor of Engineering (Hons) degree and was awarded 

a Master of Business Administration in 1981. He joined the Department of Justice in 1998,

bringing to the position of Director General extensive experience in the public sector. Between

1996 and 1998, he was Executive Director of the-then Department of Contract and Management

Services.

Gary Thompson

Executive Director Court Services

Gary Thompson has university qualifications in management and courts administration. 

A member of the Australian Institute of Judicial Administration, Gary joined the Department 

in August 2000. He has spent 30 years working in the New Zealand justice system, and has 

been involved in a wide range of justice issues, including a Ministerial inquiry into escapes from

maximum-security prisons, a Ministerial review of New Zealand’s Department of Justice, and 

a court modernisation program.

Peter Panegyres

Crown Solicitor

Peter Panegyres joined the then Crown Law Department in 1962 and has held the position 

of Crown Solicitor for more than 16 years.
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Ray Warnes

Executive Director Corporate Services

Ray Warnes has provided consultancy services and project management in public sector organisations

for more than 10 years. He holds a Graduate Diploma in Business and Administration, a Bachelor

of Education and a Diploma of Teaching. He joined the Department of Justice as Director

Organisational Performance in 1996 and was appointed Executive Director Corporate Services 

in July 1999.

Robert Harvey

Executive Director Community and Juvenile Justice

Robert Harvey holds a Bachelor of Engineering and a Masters of Business Administration. Before

being appointed as Executive Director Offender Management in March 1999, (now known as

Community and Juvenile Justice, following a restructure in October 2001). Prior to joining the

Department, he held senior executive positions at the Department of Contract and Management

Services and the Water Corporation.

Terry Simpson

Executive Director Prisons Division

Terry Simpson has a Bachelor of Social Work and worked in Queensland and the Northern

Territory in child welfare and juvenile justice. When he came to Western Australia, he joined

Family and Children’s Services and served as Assistant Director General of that agency before

being appointed to the Department of Justice in 1996 as Executive Director Corporate Services.

He was appointed General Manager Prison Services in March 1999. On 1 October 2001, he

became Executive Director Prisons Division.

Greg Calcutt

Parliamentary Counsel

Greg Calcutt graduated from the University of Western Australia with a Bachelor of Laws in 1967

and joined the then Crown Law Department in 1971. He was appointed Deputy Parliamentary

Counsel in 1985 and took up the position of Parliamentary Counsel in 1989.

Julie Roberts

Public Advocate (Independent Statutory Officer)

Julie Roberts has a Bachelor of Applied Science (Social Work) and worked with Family and

Children’s Services and the then Public Guardian’s Office before becoming Public Advocate in

1996. She is Chairperson of the Australian Guardianship and Administration Committee and a

member of the Ethics Committee of the Australian Association of Social Workers (WA Branch).

Nina McLaren

Public Trustee (Independent Statutory Officer)

Nina McLaren holds a Bachelor of Arts (English) and a Master of Business Administration. She

joined the Department in 1999, having previously worked in management in the private sector.

She brings to her position a proven track record in financial services and management, having 

held senior positions with Asgard Capital Management Ltd and UWL Ltd.

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE
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Don Stockins

Registrar of Births, Deaths and Marriages

Don Stockins holds a Diploma in Accounting (Hons) and has been the Registrar of Births, Deaths

and Marriages for the past 17 years. He was awarded an Order of Australia Medal in 1988 and

was Citizen of the Year in 1990. His career began in 1954 as a junior in the Bunbury Courthouse

and in 1964 he became Managing Registrar of one of WA’s country courts. In 1971 he moved 

to the Registrar General’s Office in Perth. 

Kate George

Director Aboriginal Policy and Services

Kate George holds legal qualifications and for the past nine years has provided national

consultancy services to private and Government sectors and Aboriginal communities. She has 

been a ministerial advisor at State and Federal levels and brings to the Department considerable

expertise in the area of indigenous policy and programs. 

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE



D E P A R T M E N T  O F  J U S T I C E  •  A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 1 / 2 0 0 2

CORPORATE STRUCTURE

Page 32

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

DIRECTOR GENERAL
Aboriginal Policy and Services, Executive, Internal Audit,

Ministerial Liaison Unit, Public Affairs

COURT SERVICES 
Courts; Tribunals and Boards; 
Victim Support Service; Sheriff

CROWN SOLICITOR’S OFFICE
Legal services to Government

CORPORATE SERVICES
Corporate support including Asset Management; Financial Management;

Human Resources; Information Services; Organisational Performance

COMMUNITY AND JUVENILE JUSTICE
Community-Justice Services; Juvenile Custodial Services

PRISONS DIVISION
Management and operation of WA’s public and private prisons; 

Health Services

PARLIAMENTARY COUNSEL’S OFFICE*
Legislative drafting service to Government 

PUBLIC ADVOCATE*
Independent advocacy and guardianship advice to people 

with decision-making disabilities

PUBLIC TRUST OFFICE*
Trustee services to WA community

REGISTRY OF BIRTHS, DEATHS & MARRIAGES
Creates and stores birth, death and marriage records;

Conducts civil marriages

* Reports directly to the Attorney General on professional or statutory

matters and to the Director General on administrative matters
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ENABLING LEGISLATION

The Department of Justice was established on 1 July 1993 in accordance with the Acts Amendment

(Ministry of Justice) Act 1993. Other enabling legislation for statutory offices of the Department

include Public Trustee Act 1941, Part II of the Births, Deaths and Marriages Registration Act 1998 and

the Guardianship and Administration Act 1990. 

The Department is a public organisation, responsible to the Attorney General, for the provision 

of a broad range of justice services throughout the Western Australia.

COMPLIANCE WITH LEGISLATION

The Department of Justice administers and complies with a broad range of legislation. 

The complete list of legislation is included as an appendix to this report (see page 182).

PUBLIC SECTOR STANDARDS AND ETHICAL CODES

In July 2001 and March 2002, the revised Public Sector Standards in Human Resource Management and

the Code of Ethics were implemented. Policies, guidelines and other relevant documents supporting

the Department’s compliance with the standards have been developed and are available on the

Department’s intranet. Although all staff are required to comply with the standards and code of

ethics, the Director General has ultimate responsibility.

Recruitment, Selection and Appointment

A number of initiatives were implemented or enhanced during the year to improve recruitment

practices and legislative and standards compliance. These include:

• Implementation of the second round of the prison officer promotion system, which resulted 

in no claims or breaches.

• The establishment of "appointment pools" of merit-selected candidates from which future

permanent, fixed-term or casual appointments can occur. Five appointment pools were

advertised during the year. The Community Corrections Officer and Juvenile Justice Officer

process resulted in 78 people being appointed to the pool.

• Implementation of a process to appoint from a recent previous selection process. At least seven

requests have been approved where a person, who was also deemed suitable from a previous

recruitment process, was appointed to a similar vacancy. This has resulted in significant cost

and time savings to the relevant business areas.

• Advertising positions indicating the possibility of extension of the period or subsequent

permanent employment, reducing the need for readvertising of the same position.

• The implementation of a claims management system to ensure compliance with the Public

Sector Management (Examination and Review Procedures) Regulations 2001.

• The implementation of a compliance framework for the use of fixed term employment.

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE
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Claims Against the Recruitment, Selection and Appointment Standard

There has been a significant reduction in the number of breaches found against the Recruitment,

Selection and Appointment Standard, with only one "technical" breach being found during

2001/02. This breach did not affect the outcome of the appointment. Although the lodgement of

24 claims during the financial year was an increase from the previous year, these claims involved

only 14 recruitment processes. Nine claims related to one process, four to another process, and two

(same claimant) for a third process.

The most significant change with the revised standards was a greater emphasis on agencies

attempting to resolve claims directly with the claimant. As a result of the Department

implementing a claims management framework to facilitate the new requirements, 21 of the 24

claims (87 per cent) were resolved during the internal resolution stage or examiner stage. The

number of claims and breaches against the Recruitment, Selection and Appointment Standard for

the reporting period were:

The stage at which claims against the Recruitment, Selection and Appointment Standard were

resolved during the reporting period were:

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

Claims lodged

Breach of standard found

2000/01 2001/02

13

7

24*

1

* 14 recruitment processes

1999/2000

36

19

Claim withdrawn by the claimant during the internal resolution stage 

Claim withdrawn by the claimant during the examiner stage

Claim dismissed at examiner stage

Claim withdrawn by the claimant during the review stage

Claim dismissed at review stage

Claim dismissed at remedy stage

Claim upheld

Outcome yet to be determined*

TOTAL

8 

1 

12 

0 

1

0

1

1

24 

33%

4%

50%

0%

4%

0%

4%

4%

* Claim was dismissed at examiner stage on 1 July 2002 (ie not this reporting period).

Percentage Breakdown of Claims Lodged
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Claims Against the Other Eight Public Sector Standards in HRM

There were no claims lodged or breaches against the other eight public sector standards for 

the reporting period.

Alan Piper

Director General

31 August 2002

ADVERTISING AND MARKETING EXPENDITURE 

The Department of Justice includes the following statement relating to advertising, direct mail

and market research, as required under section 175ZE of the Electoral Act.

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

Beilby Corporation

Choiceone Task Force

Department of Premier and Cabinet

Louella McDonald Consulting

Marketforce Productions

MJB & B Advertising and Marketing

Public Information Service

Stanwyk & Associates

State Law Publishers

Taaffee & Associates

Telstra

West Australian Newspapers Ltd

 

Direct Mail Organisations

 

Market Research Organisations 

Colmar Brunton

 

TOTAL EXPENDITURE

2,500

8,590

36,665

12,935

307,610

17,907

1,190

12,797

16,777

1,844

1,762

4,709

 425,286

 

0

 

55,000

 

$480,286

Advertising Amount($)
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INFORMATION STATEMENT

The Freedom of Information Act 1992 requires the Department to publish an information

statement.

The Department’s information statement is published separately, in the form of a handbook. 

The Department of Justice Handbook is published annually and is also available online at

www.justice.wa.gov.au.

FREEDOM OF INFORMATION

A total of 229 Freedom of Information applications were received during the year with 237

applications finalised. Of the eight internal reviews completed, all decisions were confirmed. 

Four new external reviews were lodged with the Information Commissioner. Four external 

reviews were decided during the period, two were withdrawn following conciliation and two

decisions were upheld. 

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

Personal information requests

Non-personal information requests

Amendment of personal information

Applications transferred in full

TOTAL APPLICATIONS RECEIVED

Applications completed*

Internal reviews completed

External reviews completed

Applications outstanding

* Includes 15 applications withdrawn in 2000/01 and 13 withdrawn in 2001/02.

2000/01 2001/02

203 

19

0

5

227

223

11

5

18

189

22

2

16

229

237

8

4

11

1999/2000

168

15

3

3

189

187

14

12

15
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From 1 July 2001, the Policy and Legislation branch ceased to be a discrete office and its policy

and planning functions were incorporated into the operational areas of the Department – primarily

into Courts and Offender Management (which became Community and Juvenile Justice from

October 2001). 

COURT SERVICES

THE SERVICE

Court Services provides administrative services and support for the management of courts and

tribunals. This includes provision of accommodation, technical facilities, non-judicial staff support,

registry, security and other administrative support services. Court Services also provides victim

support and counselling services.

MAJOR ACHIEVEMENTS

State Administrative Tribunal

Progressive implementation of the Law Reform Commission recommendations arising from the

1999 Review of the Criminal and Civil Justice System continued during the year. 

The most significant initiative has been the establishment of a framework for a single State

Administrative Tribunal to replace nearly 40 tribunals and boards. It will provide easier access for

people wanting to challenge Government decisions, less confusion with a single point of contact

for administrative justice, and timely and impartial decisions.

The independent tribunal will have responsibility for:

• A wide range of appeals against administrative decisions that are currently determined 

by the courts, Government Ministers and public officials

• Disciplinary proceedings affecting 23 trades and professions

• Civil complaints including equal opportunity, strata title disputes and complaints 

against builders.

The operations of the Guardianship and Administration Board and the Mental Health Review

Board will be co-located with the State Administrative Tribunal.

Magistrates’ Court of Western Australia

Legislation is being drafted to restructure and amalgamate the existing Court of Petty Session 

and Local Courts into the Magistrates’ Court of Western Australia, which will also implement 

a number of Law Reform Commission recommendations.

The proposed Civil Judgments (Enforcement) Bill 2002 will discontinue the current parallel systems 

of enforcement of civil judgments and establish a uniform system for all jurisdictions, including

new more effective procedures.

REPORT ON OPERATIONS

COURT SERVICES

1999/00 2000/01 2001/02
0

200

400

600

800

1,000

78
3

85
9

90
7

NUMBER OF 
FULL-TIME EMPLOYEES

1999/00 2000/01 2001/02
$0

$50

$100

$150

$200

$1
38

,7
21

,0
00

$1
44

,7
66

,0
00

$1
66

,5
79

,0
00

$ 
m

ill
io

n

OPERATING COSTS

29.74%

OPERATING COSTS AS A
PROPORTION OF THE TOTAL

DEPARTMENT OPERATING COSTS



D E P A R T M E N T  O F  J U S T I C E  •  A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 1 / 2 0 0 2

COURT SERVICES continued

REPORT ON
OPERATIONS

Page 38

The changes will provide: 

• Improved access to justice for lower courts users in single summary jurisdiction court, dealing

with both civil and criminal matters

• Uniform civil enforcement procedures in all jurisdictions

• Improved procedures in respect to the nomination, appointment, removal, powers, training

and management of justices of the peace.

Disclosure legislation

Legislation was introduced into Parliament to replace preliminary hearings with a regime of

disclosure by the prosecution.

The changes are expected to significantly reduce the number of "bills of no prosecution", in which

trials are discontinued after court time has been allocated and a jury is in place. Under the new

system, both the prosecution and the defence will be required to disclose their evidence as soon 

as charges are brought before the court. This will also allow both parties to negotiate alternative

criminal charges resolutions. 

New fee structure

A new fee structure was implemented into the Supreme and District Courts on 1 January 2002,

which is comparable to the superior courts in other States. 

To maintain proper access to justice services, different fee levels have been set for individuals, 

small businesses and corporations. The fees can be waived, reduced, deferred or refunded at the

discretion of the court.

Drug court

The drug court initiative, which is part of a strategy to address the growing influence of 

substance abuse on crime, continued its operations on a pilot basis. The pilot will be evaluated 

in December 2002.

Based on a therapeutic jurisprudence model, the drug court targets offenders who plead guilty and

acknowledge their drug use. Offenders are then diverted to a specialist, tailored treatment program.

The roles of the drug court team and the case management of participants has been developed

during the year to allow it to work more effectively within existing legislation. 

The drug court structure was also modified in the Children’s Court to allow the new President 

to accept referrals, grant placement on a treatment program and sentence the juvenile, while 

a magistrate then manages the treatment program.

Family Violence Court

After a two-year pilot period, the Family Violence Court project was thoroughly assessed and 

the decision made to continue the Joondalup-based court.
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The pilot, which was a joint initiative of the Department of Justice and the Western Australia

Police Service, has provided a benchmark for dealing with family violence issues. A new set of

principles to deal with domestic violence will now be developed and implemented in courts 

across the State.

Bail process review

A report recommending the best practice model for bail within Western Australia was produced

following a major conceptual review of the bail process. The review was undertaken in conjunction

with the Western Australia Police Service, and its implementation is currently being considered. 

Law Week

The Department continued its support of Law Week with a full program of activities and displays,

including court tours, mock trials, poster competitions, discussion forums and displays and

information kiosks. The Supreme, Family and Central Law courts opened their doors so the 

public could see court procedures first-hand. Officers of the Perth Children’s Court also answered

questions from visiting school children and participated in a live broadcast to remote schools

through the Distance Education Centre.

Family Court

The Columbus Project pilot, which focuses on family law matters where domestic violence or child

abuse is involved, was launched in November 2001. The project is at the cutting edge of national

court-based programs and applies a collaborative approach to case management. It involves Family

Court registrars and counsellors working with legal representatives, health and welfare professionals

as well as community-based non-Government organisations providing services in the family law

field. This approach is designed to address serious issues at the earliest possible time and to provide

immediate contact with relevant services to assist parents and children in high-risk situations.

As at June 2002, the project has 77 cases out of a proposed pilot total of 100. Of these cases, 

14 have undergone an interim evaluation conducted by independent consultants from the

University of Western Australia's School of Social and Cultural Studies and the School of

Psychology at Edith Cowan University.

Initial results suggest the case management approach is having significant and positive impacts 

for most of the clients (and for their children). 

The evaluation methodology estimates case costs so that the cost of intensive, early intervention

can be assessed against the costs of lengthy litigation. Preliminary results suggest that the

Columbus pilot is a cost-effective approach to dispute resolution and case management in 

this highly sensitive area of family law.

CBD Courts project

Preliminary planning for the construction of a new Central Business District court complex, a

major infrastructure project for the State, commenced during the second half of the financial year.

The complex is planned for the Hay, Irwin and Murray Streets site and will bring together

Supreme, Magistrates, District and criminal courts. 

COURTS
ACCOMMODATION

STRATEGY
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The CBD courts project will address ongoing pressures in the justice system including:

• Deficiencies in existing court facilities

• A forecast increase in the demand for services

• Inherently inefficient practices in providing court services across multiple sites. 

This project represents the first stage in the development of a ‘justice precinct’ that will

consolidate court services in the CBD.

Albany justice complex

Funding for the $20 million Albany Justice and Police Complex was announced in October 2001

and will provide the Great Southern with the most modern facility in the State. The project is a

joint Department of Justice and WA Police Service development.

Combining justice and police services into one facility will result in operating efficiencies and

benefit the community by providing all services in the one precinct. The development will preserve

the historic value of the old court and lock-up, which are more than 100 years old.

Detailed planning and land acquisition will occur in the 2002/03 financial year, with construction

due to commence in 2003/04. It is expected that the justice complex will be completed in late 2004.

Integrated Courts Management System (ICMS)

The development of a single information technology system to support court operations

throughout Western Australia (except in the Family Court) made significant progress this year.

The Integrated Courts Management System (ICMS) is the key resource for the successful

management of the Department of Justice’s significant reform agenda. It provides a platform 

for e-business and is part of an overall plan to integrate Government policy, crime prevention

strategies and information systems to enhance efficiency within and between justice-related

agencies and improve customer service through Internet access.

Phase One of the ICMS was successfully introduced into the District Court civil jurisdiction this

year and work on Phase Two, which will replace the current civil legacy systems in the Supreme,

District and Magistrates’ Courts began and is due to be completed in early 2003.

E-lodgement

A pilot project to enable the electronic lodgement of documents via the Internet started in March

2002. Two law firms took part in the six-week pilot, which allowed for e-filing of a summons for

claims of up to $25,000 using the Department’s website. 

The pilot has been a success and it is now intended to extend the electronic lodgement facility to 

a further 10 law firms once a number of additional features have been added to the application.

The extension of the pilot is scheduled for later in 2002.

ICMS TEAM
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Enforcement of court fines and infringement notices

Amendments to the fines enforcement legislation now allow the Fines Enforcement Registry to

engage in ‘time to pay’ arrangements with offenders, subject to offenders satisfying the necessary

employment and medical criteria.

Other amendments to the legislation were also made to allow the registrar to determine the most

applicable enforcement procedures according to individual circumstances, leading to a more

effective delivery of fines enforcement. 

Direct debit facilities were introduced at the registry during the year to make the payment 

of fines easier and more efficient.

Victim Support Service

The Child Witness Service was integrated into the Victim Support Service to further streamline

and improve services to children and their families and to expand available services in regional areas.

Inter-agency procedures and practises to improve services to secondary victims of homicide and to

better coordinate services to families of homicide victims were also drafted. This will mean families

receive timely and accurate information about the progress of police investigations, court

proceedings and support services. 

A handbook for families dealing with the unlawful death of a family member and an information

sheet for stalking victims were also developed.

Taking the Stand video

A culturally appropriate version of the video ‘Taking the Stand’ was produced and distributed

throughout Aboriginal communities. The video will help indigenous people and communities

understand court procedures and the support that is available to them through the Victim 

Support Service.
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THE SERVICE

The Crown Solicitor’s Office provides a broad-based legal service to the Government, 

its departments, instrumentalities and agencies. These services include:

• Legal advice

• Representation as counsel in courts and tribunals

• Preparation of legal documents

• Conduct of litigation

MAJOR ACHIEVEMENTS

During 2001/02, the Crown Solicitor’s Office continued to provide cost-effective and timely

services consistent with the need to maintain legal excellence and integrity in the Government’s

legal dealings.

Native Title

The Crown Solicitor’s Office handles native title litigation on behalf of the State in the Federal

Court and the National Native Title Tribunal. The work continues to involve extensive preparation

for the hearing of claims in the Federal Court and mediation with representatives of claimant groups.

In line with the Government’s native title policies, the past year has seen the Crown Solicitor’s

Office involved in the negotiation of agreements and a continued involvement in the mediation 

of claims leading to consent determinations of native title in the Federal Court.

The Crown Solicitor’s Office has also been involved in a number of native title claims hearings 

in the Federal Court, such hearings being held at the claim sites in regional Western Australia.

Support services review

The review and restructure of the paralegal and support services to legal staff was substantially

implemented during 2001/02. The changes will provide for a more efficient use of resources and

effective use of paralegal staff. Some of the changes recommended following the review were:

• Improved support for legal staff through the abolition of specialised paralegal sections and

placement of multi-skilled legal support personnel closer to legal staff 

• The creation of a dedicated group to monitor and report on the progress of all legal matters

• The establishment of a Crown Solicitor’s Office IT manager and support staff providing for

direct and immediate response to the IT needs of the office by staff who have an intimate

understanding of the office and able to tailor service to business needs.

Annual client survey

The sixth annual client survey was conducted, the results of which are reflected in the performance

indicators and show there is a sustained high level of client satisfaction with the work of the office

and confirm commitment to client satisfaction.
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THE SERVICE

Services provided by the Parliamentary Counsel’s Office include:

• Drafting Bills for Ministers

• Drafting subsidiary legislation for Ministers and Government agencies

• Compiling and consolidating texts of Acts and subsidiary legislation

• Maintaining and arranging publication of the annual index to the legislation 

of Western Australia

• Maintaining the SWANS database of Western Australian legislation

MAJOR ACHIEVEMENTS

Increased workload

Traditionally, the demand for drafting services is very high in the first and second years of a new

Government. The office achieved a significant increase in outputs for the year. The issue facing this

output area is to continue to manage the existing and finite resources of the office to meet that

anticipated high level of demand. 

New labour relations laws

A major part of the office’s resources for the year were devoted to a Bill comprehensively revising

the State’s labour relations laws. This Bill phased out the Workplace Agreements Act 1993 and

provided for employer-employee agreements and other labour relations reforms.

Other major Bills and amendments drafted during the year included:

Royal Commission (Police Force) Bill 2002

Sentencing Administration Bill 2002

Sentencing Legislation Amendment and Repeal Bill 2002 

Volunteers (Protection from Liability) Bill 2002 

Civil Liability Bill 2002 

Offshore Minerals Bill 2001

Carbon Rights Bill 2002 

Criminal Investigation (Exceptional Powers) and Fortification Removal Bill 2001

Environmental Protection Amendment Bill 2002 

Home Building Contracts Amendment Bill 2002 

Planning Appeals Amendment Bill 2001 

Taxation Administration Bill 2001 

Tree Plantation Agreements Bill 2002 

Service review

The office engaged a project officer to investigate and make recommendations on the level of

services that the office provides to Parliament and the public and to compare those services with

the level of services provided in other jurisdictions.

The project officer also investigated internal efficiencies that may be possible in the printing and

reprinting of legislation.
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THE SERVICE

The Department is responsible for managing offenders from the time they are charged or

sentenced in court until the completion of their sentences – in many cases only a short period 

of which is spent in prison.

Of the total number of offenders in the justice system, some two-thirds are serving their sentences

in the community. The rest are detained in juvenile detention centres or prisons.

RESTRUCTURE

On 1 October 2001, following the commissioning of the State’s first privately managed prison 

in May, the then Prison Services and Offender Management divisions were restructured to better

manage the privately and publicly operated components of the prison system. 

A new division - Community and Juvenile Justice - was formed to take responsibility for

community-based adult and juvenile services and custodial services for juveniles. With the

disbanding of the Policy and Legislation branch, this new division also took on a reinvigorated

policy and planning role across the correctional system. 

All prison services were rationalised under a new Prisons division providing clear direction 

with consistent application of policies and procedures and operational efficiency in dealing 

with day-to-day logistical issues. 

MAJOR ACHIEVEMENTS

Community and Juvenile Justice and Prisons divisions have made significant progress in planning

and implementing major change in the past year, in line with new Government policy.

The key areas of change have involved legislative, administrative and operational action including

the development and first stages of implementation of the prisoner reduction strategy, the

improvement of services to women prisoners and significant change in community justice services.

Reform of adult justice

In July 2001, the Department started to implement a range of strategies to reduce the rate and

cost of imprisonment. The priorities of the structured and tightly managed change process

involving all divisions are to:

• Implement a strategy to reduce the rate and costs of imprisonment by introducing

administrative and legislative reforms to support sustainable improvements

• Improve the management of women offenders and develop gender-appropriate services

• Develop justice services that are appropriate and responsive for those living in regional 

and remote communities.

Services to women

A thematic review of women in prison commenced during the year which will continue to inform

the planning process for the delivery of improved services to women in prisons across the State.

The Department has recognised the need for a gender-specific approach which respects gender

differences by designing and providing services specific to women.
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The new approach has guided the planning of a new, low-security women’s prison, which will offer

state-of-the-art through-care and the development of appropriate programs and services for women. 

Also during the year, Commonwealth Government funding was obtained to conduct a pilot

program at Bandyup Women’s Prison for indigenous women prisoners, addressing sexual and

drug-taking risk in the context of child sexual abuse. 

Strategy to reduce rate and costs of imprisonment

A range of legislative and administrative strategies to reduce the rate and cost of imprisonment 

has been developed and implemented during the year. Further legislative changes will be made

over the next 12 months to deliver the full benefits of this strategy.

Some of the administrative changes implemented during the year included:

• A new, structured approach to breaching of community and prison release orders

• An increased emphasis on effective community work

• An increased emphasis on treatment, improved release on bail/surety and improved release 

at the prisoner’s earliest release date.

Over the next three years, the prisoner reduction strategy will deliver estimated savings of 

$12.4 million in the public prison system. This will be offset by additional operating costs 

for Community Justice Services, giving an overall saving of $7 million. 

THURSDAY CENSUS OF PRISONERS AND OFFENDERS ON COMMUNITY CORRECTION ORDERS 
FROM JANUARY 2000 BY WEEK

The Department has also taken a new, structured approach to breaching offenders on community

orders. This involves risk assessment and a structured process which recognises a return to prison

as the last resort for offenders who are potentially breaching their order. Alternatives include

curfews, home detention and increased supervision power. The Department is also increasing

services to facilitate release on bail as early as possible so fewer people spend time in prison on

remand. 
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The prison population

The daily average prisoner population fell by six per cent during the year, from 3117 in 2000/01

to 2923 in 2001/02.

Importantly, the number of Aboriginal prisoners fell dramatically.

Strategies to reduce the rate of imprisonment and the commencement of the privately operated

Acacia Prison resulted in the number of prisoners being managed in the public system falling 

from 3096 on 30 June 2001 to 2138 on 30 June 2002 - a reduction of 1142 or 36 percent. This

reduction has alleviated overcrowding in the public prison system and eased tensions, contributing

to greater harmony, fewer critical incidents and significantly fewer escapes. 

In response to falling prisoner numbers, the Department:

• Closed and decommissioned Riverbank Prison

• Converted Pardelup Prison Farm to a work camp

• Closed units at Albany Regional Prison, Casuarina Prison and Hakea Prison.

Prison staff

Following the prison closures and other adjustments made to cater for the reduced prisoner

population, it was established that 177 uniformed staff positions were no longer required. 

It is planned to reduce those staff numbers through natural attrition, and to use any excess staff

numbers to offset overtime costs. Staff affected by closures of prisons and units were transferred 

to new work locations to fill permanent vacancies and to cover other staff absences. This resulted

in a significant reduction of overtime costs during the year. 

Inspector of Custodial Services

During 2001/02, the Inspector conducted five prison inspections (Eastern Goldfields, Nyandi, Hakea,

Roebourne and Bandyup) and a follow-up site inspection at Eastern Goldfields Regional Prison. 

The Department has responded to issues raised by the Inspector including the:

• Treatment of women in custody

• Level and quality of regional prisons

• Need for staff training to improve understanding of cultural issues

• Improvements required in health services and staff training.

The Department continues to find the independent viewpoints and advice valuable and has,

wherever practical, formulated plans to implement recommendations (see page 25).
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MANAGING OFFENDERS IN THE COMMUNITY (ADULTS)

Reform of Community Justice Services

The Department’s reform of its services in the criminal justice arena is driven by research that

shows criminal justice sanctions can be more effective and less costly when delivered in the

community. Appropriate and targeted rehabilitation programs can reduce recidivism by at 

least 10 per cent and up to 25 per cent. 

The Department also recognises that community work orders, for example, are still used less

widely in Western Australia than in other states and our reform agenda adopted during the 

year involves:

• Encouraging offenders to successfully complete community work

• Enlisting the support of the community to increase the availability of work

• Seeking larger enterprises to engage a greater number of offenders

• Increasing opportunities for skills acquisition.

Community Justice Services restructure

The rapid increase in adult offenders under supervision and the increase in higher risk offenders

under management demanded a review of the Community-Based Services structure, which was

completed in November 2001.

As a result of the review, the new Community Justice Services directorate has now established a

Director for Programs and Services, has created peak professional positions for all regions, and

offered permanent appointments to 70 staff, thereby reducing the high numbers of contract staff.

These initiatives also address a range of issues relating to employment practices raised by the

Auditor General’s report of May 2001.

Increased caseloads

Community Justice Services staff have coped exceptionally well with the sustained high workloads

during the year, the result of a significant increase in the courts’ use of community-based sentences

since July 2000. In 2000/01, there was an increase of 1690 orders issued, bringing the total to

9652 in that year. That rate was maintained in 2001/02 when a total of 9644 orders were issued.

Twenty-two additional staff were appointed in 2001/02, and a further 16 are expected to be

appointed in 2002/03 to increase the Department’s capacity to deal effectively with offenders.

Engaging the community

Involvement with the community, as a result of the increased range of community work activities

for adult offenders, has been a major focus during the year, with more than half the current

community work orders involving community service. 

The Department advertised and ran an extensive communications program to attract new

community work opportunities and created a Community Work Support Unit to actively seek 

out still further projects. 
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In 2001/02, more than 40 new community work projects were registered each quarter. Many of

these were short-term projects, but others have provided the Department with a regular source 

of work for offenders. 

During the year, Community Justice Service sponsored the establishment of two additional ‘special

needs’ workshops in the metropolitan area, which provide light duties for those offenders who,

because of illness or other reasons, are incapable of undertaking mainstream work. 

Working with indigenous communities

In May 2002, representatives of the Department of Justice and the Chairman of the Parole Board

visited Aboriginal communities in Warburton and Jamieson to discuss how the effects of isolation

from Government services and support results in a greater rate of contact with the justice system

than for urbanised communities.

Through discussions with elders and others, the Department has achieved a better understanding

of difficulties the communities face. It also shared that information with other relevant

Government agencies including the Police Service and the Department for Planning and

Infrastructure. The Department is now working on a series of proposed solutions and will 

visit the communities again early in the new financial year for further discussions. 

Kimberley regional justice plan 

A major research project was commenced in late 2001 as the first phase in the development 

of a Kimberley Regional Justice Plan. The project aims to develop and implement innovative 

and integrated justice services that are regionally and culturally appropriate and that protect 

the community. The Kimberley plan will be the first in a series of regional justice plans that will

include the whole range of justice services including Community and Juvenile Justice services,

Court Services and Prison services. 

The intended outcomes of the plans are to:

• Divert offenders from imprisonment to appropriate alternatives in the community

• Reduce the representation of Aboriginal people in prison 

• Enhance the safety of communities

During the year substantial research was commissioned to inform the planning process. More than

720 people across six towns and 26 communities in the Kimberley were interviewed for their views

and experiences of the ways the Department currently operates and what could be done more

effectively. 

Victim notification register

A victim notification register was launched in October 2001. The register provides a central

contact point for victims of crime to receive information about the progress of an offender through

the justice system. It includes details about the offender’s sentence, any escapes from custody and

recapture, impending release dates and the results of any appeals against the sentence.

As at 30 June 2002, there were 231 active registered victims and 253 respective offenders. 

Of these, 174 victims were female and 57 were male. Of the offenders being monitored, seven 

are juveniles and 13 are female offenders. Most offenders monitored by the register are in custody.

As many as 25 registrations are being received each month.
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Information systems

The requirements, feasibility study and selection of a preferred solution for a new Community-

Based Information System were progressed during the year. The system is planned to strengthen

the role of Community Justice Services in reducing the rate of imprisonment and better managing

offenders. 

Key elements of the project are the urgent need to replace outdated and obsolete aspects of the

existing systems, and the need to develop a business information system to address strategic

planning needs. 

Electronic monitoring trial

A trial of new electronic monitoring technology for managing offenders in the community was

conducted during the year. The new technology monitors offenders more precisely, and in a less

intrusive manner than the equipment currently in use. 

The six-month trial commenced in October 2001 and has been extended to a 12-month trial. The

system has been tested in the metropolitan area and in remote parts of regional Western Australia. 

MANAGING OFFENDERS IN THE COMMUNITY (JUVENILES)

Risk assessment model 

The Crime Research Centre, in conjunction with Community and Juvenile Justice staff, has

completed a feasibility study into the viability of developing a risk assessment model for juvenile

offenders. Specifications for the model are currently being developed with a view to developing a

‘live’ model which will more accurately predict the risk of reoffending with the use of continuously

updated data. It will be similar to the model in use for adult offenders in the community, but will

be adjusted with a greater emphasis on the needs of juveniles.

Aboriginal support

An Aboriginal Coordinator has been appointed to help improve Aboriginal referral and retention

rates to the Juvenile Justice Teams and to develop culturally appropriate processes. Aboriginal

Case Support Officers have been appointed to assist young Aboriginal offenders and their families

with attendance at family group conferences and compliance with resulting action plans. 

Indigenous offenders

In line with the Department’s commitment to reduce the over-representation of indigenous people

in the justice system, a framework for Community Supervision Agreements to include juveniles

was established during the year.

Through the use of Aboriginal Community Supervision Agreements, Community Justice Services

supervises Aboriginal offenders on community-based supervision orders who live in remote areas 

of Western Australia. This ensures that community supervision is available to the judiciary as a

sentencing option. Legislative amendments which flow from an evaluation of the Young Offenders

Act will allow for the development of similar agreements for juveniles, so young Aboriginal people

can be committed into the care of their own communities as an alternative to detention. 
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The legislation also includes provision for supervised early release orders for juveniles serving 

a term of detention of 12 months or more. 

Community funding

The 2001/02 community funding program had an unprecedented commitment to the provision of

primary prevention services to Aboriginal youth. Eighteen separate agencies were funded through

the program, representing a total of $1.62 million. 

The agencies were independently evaluated during the year. As a result, it was decided to redirect

funding of three programs to regional areas to address the lack of community services and to

specifically address the over-representation of indigenous young people in the criminal justice

system. The remaining 15 agencies were recontracted with altered specifications to better reflect

contemporary issues and youth needs. 

The Department has also focussed on improving the coordination and strategic planning with

other public agencies to better target needs and obtain greater across-Government efficiencies

within available funding and resources.

Drug use

The Department continued to monitor drug use by juveniles in the community justice system 

by testing juveniles on Supervised Release Orders and those on bail who were being processed

through the drug court.

Other juveniles on Conditional Release Orders were required to attend drug treatment programs

conducted by Holyoake and Yirra, and funded by the Department.

Court conferencing

A pilot court conferencing project at the Perth Children's Court commenced in October 2001. Its

aim is to broaden the range of young offenders who can be referred to the Juvenile Justice Teams

to include persistent offenders and those charged with serious offences.

At this stage the pilot, which follows an evaluation of the Juvenile Justice Teams, involves just

three magistrates. It was originally intended to run for 44 weeks, but may be extended to include

all Children’s Court magistrates. 

During the year, there were 55 court conferencing referrals, resulting in 37 outcome agreements,

which have all been successfully completed.

MANAGING OFFENDERS IN CUSTODY (JUVENILES)

Juvenile Custodial Services manages young people between 10 and 17 years in custody, on arrest

and remand, or sentenced to detention. It is also responsible for young people in the community

on the Supervised Bail program.

The daily average population of juveniles in custody during 2001/02 was 122 compared with 120

in the previous year. There were 1360 admissions to Rangeview Remand Centre, 416 less than in

2000/01. The daily average remand population at Rangeview was 39 juveniles and the average

length of stay was 12 days.

The Supervised Bail program had 169 participants in the metropolitan area and 43 in the

Kimberley. The average number of days on the program was 19.62, representing a saving 

of 4160 custodial days in total.
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The Banksia Hill Detention Centre received 213 sentenced juveniles, 32 less than in 2000/01. 

The daily average population was 83 and the average length of the custodial proportion of the

sentence was 17.4 weeks.

Rangeview Remand Centre

The $4.3 million Rangeview Remand Centre redevelopment and expansion project was completed

and commissioned in November 2001. Improvements include a 24-bed accommodation unit,

redevelopment of the education and vocation centre, a video conferencing facility and

refurbishment of the accommodation areas.

Originally intended for short-stay accommodation, the upgrade means Rangeview can function 

as a residential facility for juveniles on remand for longer periods.

Kimberley Supervised Bail program 

A second supervised bail facility at Bell Springs in the East Kimberley was opened in July 2001.

The first evaluation of the Banana Wells juvenile bail facility, which opened six months earlier in

the West Kimberley, was completed in March 2002 and showed that the facility at Banana Well

had successfully met the objectives of the regional supervised bail program.

Negotiations to establish a third regional supervised bail facility in the Pilbara region are in progress.

The regional bail facilities accommodate juveniles who are eligible for bail but who do not have a

responsible adult to fulfil bail conditions. The facilities save the high cost of transport and escort 

to and from the Rangeview Remand Centre in Perth, while keeping juveniles close to their families

and culturally familiar surroundings.

The two facilities have accommodated 43 young people for an average of 27 days between July

2001 and June 2002.

Deferred Bench Warrant program

The Deferred Bench Warrant program aims to minimise the arrest and detention of juveniles for

whom a bench warrant has been issued because of non-attendance at court. The program is now

available at all metropolitan courts and successfully operating at three. During 2001/02, the

program had a 50 percent success rate, with 154 Notices to Attend issued and 77 young people

attending their next court appearance.

The program allows a court to delay issuing a bench warrant for seven days while the juvenile is

advised of a new court date and the importance of attending. Avoiding detention has better results

for the juvenile and saves police and Department resources.

The success of this and the Supervised Bail programs has meant the number of juveniles at the

Banksia Hill Detention Centre has steadied, deferring the need for capital expenditure.

Young Offenders Personal Development Program

An innovative Young Offenders Personal Development Program was developed by Juvenile

Custodial Services psychological team and has been implemented at Banksia Hill Detention 

Centre since early 2000. During the year, additional group workers were trained and the program

extended to Rangeview Remand Centre in the first quarter of 2002. 

FELLOWSHIP WINNER
STUDIES INTERNATIONAL

TRENDS
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The aim of the program is to introduce juvenile offenders to ideas and skills that may help them

break offending cycles and cope with the challenges they face in the community. The program 

is educational in its approach and does not rely on group therapy processes. It has been designed

to engage juvenile offenders through activities, colourful presentations, and the opportunity to

contribute to discussion in a non-threatening manner.

Another course for juvenile offenders, tackling domestic violence, was also started on a pilot basis

during the year.

MANAGING OFFENDERS IN CUSTODY (ADULTS)

PRISON SYSTEM REFORM

Integrated Prison Regime

The Integrated Prison Regime Project is a major vehicle for improvement in public prisons. 

It seeks to integrate and maximise the impact of relevant services and interventions for prisoners 

in a way that increases efficiency and effectiveness and leads to a reduction in recidivism.

Significant achievements in the year include: 

• A refocussing of unit management in public prisons to improve consistency in decision

making, increase levels of interactive prisoner management and promote a more humane 

and positive prison environment for both staff and prisoners. Seven prisons have drafted and

implemented unit plans and four prisons are in the process of drafting and moving towards

implementation. The unit plan is available to staff and prisoners and is based on the

interaction model.

• An expansion of the case management model which aims to provide an individualised

approach to managing prisoners and their involvement in activities aimed at rehabilitation and

early release in particular. Case management also promotes better interaction between staff

and prisoners and contributes to improved security and prisoners’ well-being. Some 230 

staff were trained as case officers and the number of sites facilitating case management 

was expanded to seven. 

• A total of 241 prisoners undertook the reasoning and rehabilitation program which is part 

of a broader cognitive skills program. The program helps prisoners understand their 

behaviour, increase their ability to resolve problems, manage conflict and improve their

communication skills.

Prisoner assessment project

The Hakea assessment centre commenced in 2000/01 and became fully operational during the

year - with all 2088 metropolitan-based, newly sentenced male prisoners passing through an

integrated and comprehensive assessment process. A further 374 prisoners who were already in the

system were also assessed.

Individual management plans for these prisoners identify issues that contribute to their offending

behaviour and determine appropriate management, program intervention strategies and education

services. The assessment system also addresses the security rating and placement of prisoners.



D E P A R T M E N T  O F  J U S T I C E  •  A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 1 / 2 0 0 2

COMMUNITY AND JUVENILE JUSTICE 
AND PRISONS DIVISION continued

REPORT ON
OPERATIONS

Page 53

The new system has contributed to a drop of 44 percent in the number of escapes - from 82 

in 2000/01 to 46 during 2001/02.

More than 1250 prisoners were assessed, through the new system, for entry to the privately

managed Acacia Prison. The system will be extended to Bandyup Women’s Prison and to all

regional prisons during 2002/03. 

Aboriginal services

A comprehensive strategic plan for Aboriginal services to 2005 was completed in June 2002. 

The plan provides practical ways to address the complex issues of Aboriginal imprisonment 

and a basis for ongoing performance measurement. The plan aims to:

• Reduce the over-representation of Aboriginal adults in prison

• Ensure Prisons division is responsive to the specific needs of Aboriginal women prisoners

• Ensure that services provided by Prisons division are appropriate to the culture and needs 

of indigenous people and their local communities

• Provide alternative approaches to managing adult prisoners in regional WA

• Acknowledge Aboriginal culture and diversity and ensure ongoing consultation and

collaboration with indigenous people

• Reduce the negative impact of incarceration on Aboriginal people

• Have the percentage of Aboriginal employees reflecting the proportion of Aboriginal clients.

Other initiatives include the introduction of an Aboriginal Elders Speakers Program in 11 prisons

around the State. The aim of the program is to help maintain cultural and community contact 

for Aboriginal people while in prison. A Community Reference Group supports the Elders

Speakers Program. 

Culturally sensitive Aboriginal offender treatment programs for sex offenders and drug and alcohol

abuse were developed and provided in regional and metropolitan prisons. There were 10 medium-

intensity programs, dealing with anger management and substance use issues, conducted for 100

indigenous men. These programs at Broome, Eastern Goldfields, Greenough and Roebourne

Regional Prisons addressed anger management and substance abuse.

See also "Managing Offenders in the Community (Adults)"

Prisoner grievance process

Implementation of a new prisoner grievance process was completed across the prison system in

2001/02, expanding to include Bandyup, Hakea, Casuarina and Acacia Prisons. The process was

developed to resolve prisoners’ grievances at the lowest level, reducing the number of complaints

to outside agencies and, in particular, the State Ombudsman. 

A prisoner grievance review panel has been established to adjudicate any grievances that cannot be

resolved at prison level; a staff manual, prisoner pamphlet and poster have been produced and 500

staff have been trained. Formal accredited training and assessment modules are being developed.
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There were 390 prisoner grievances recorded in the year to 30 June 2002, 245 of which came

from prisoners at Acacia. Many related to minor issues such as property matters.

Some 335 grievances were finalised, with the panel adjudicating on 11 cases. There was a marked

reduction in complaints to the Ombudsman from prisons that have operated with the process since

its pilot stage. However, the full impact of the new grievance system on the volume of complaints

directed to the Ombudsman will be seen in 2002/03.

CUSTODY AND CONTAINMENT

Prisons division keeps prisoners in custody for the period prescribed by the court at the lowest

possible level of security necessary to ensure their continuing custody, the good order and security

of the prison and the safety and protection of the community.

Improving security

The number and rate of escapes are a measure of the community protection provided and the

effectiveness of prisoner management. 

The escape rate from prisons fell from 2.5 per cent to 1.6 per cent during the year, with 46 escapes

from minimum-security prisons. There were no escapes from medium or maximum-security

prisons. The reduced number of escapes reflects a combination of the effort to address the

underlying causes of escapes, such as overcrowding, as well as an increase in opportunities 

for constructive activities and improved security. 

The number of escapes recorded in 2001/02 is the lowest since 1994.

Casuarina and Hakea Prisons Gatehouse project

A review of the Control Room and Gatehouse procedures at Casuarina and Hakea Prisons was

completed, making recommendations for better measures and management in three stages.

In October 2001, fully-trained Emergency Support Group staff were engaged at the Hakea Prison

control room, making arrangements consistent with Casuarina Prison’s control room.

Stage two includes measures to improve security, professionalism and customer services and will 

be implemented from November 2002. Stage three, being introduced by March 2003, will see 

the introduction of the latest technology. 

Open level of security

Secure level of security

TOTAL

Table: Escapes from Western Australian prisons, as a rate per 100 prisoners.

2001/02

4.9

0.0

1.60

Year 2000/01

6.1

0.4

2.5

1999/00

6.1

0.2

2.22

1998/99

9.8

0.5

3.72

1997/98

7.5

0.4

2.88

1996/97

11.4

0.2

3.99

1995/96

7.6

0.3

2.95

1994/95

10.4

0.1

4.5
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Acacia Prison 

Acacia Prison is a medium-security facility for up to 750 male prisoners located 60 kilometres 

east of Perth, managed by Australian Integrated Management Services. The first prisoners were

transferred from State prisons in May 2001 and at 30 June 2002 there were 645 prisoners, 

105 below full capacity. There were 1048 prisoner receptions during the year.

The extended fill period provided Acacia Prison with time to plan, develop its services and fully

prepare staff. Management also received advice from the Indigenous Community Reference Group

and Acacia Industries Reference Group. 

The prison has been closely monitored by an on-site monitoring team and there have been two

operational reviews during the year. Official Prison Visitors have made several visits and the

Inspector of Custodial Services has been on site informally. 

At the completion of the first year of operation, Acacia Prison is successfully delivering services 

in accordance with the agreement with the Department of Justice.

Prisoner transport contract

The Court Security and Custodial Services Contract, including the prisoner transport contract has

been held by Australian Integrated Management Services Corporation (AIMS) since January 2000. 

The contract was awarded at a tendered price of $11.7 million but increased to $16.3 million 

in the first year and is expected to exceed $18 million for the second service year finishing 

on 31 July 2002, with no increase in services.

Because of the Department’s concerns in relation to the cost increase, it commenced a major

project to reposition aspects of the service and examine all possible ways of providing the service

more cost effectively over the next three years of the contract.

During the year, the Department has made substantial efforts to reduce services under the contract.

Efficiencies have also been achieved in inter-prison transport and delivery of offenders in custody 

to courts. By reviewing court security, for example, some 15,000 service hours have been avoided.

Operationally the service has been adequate, with most performance measures met. However, 

the Department and AIMS have spent much of the year in arbitration over three main issues: 

• The number of escapes

• Disputed invoices during the first year of service, totalling approximately $700,000

• Agreement on a second year service budget.

The disputes regarding the invoices and second year service budget were resolved through

arbitration while the issue of escapes continues to be negotiated outside the arbitration process.
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CARE AND WELL-BEING

Prisons division is committed to ensuring prisoners’ emotional, physical and cultural needs 

are acknowledged and appropriately addressed.

Health Services

A new Director, Health Services, Dr Ralph Chapman, was appointed in June 2002. 

Health Services have been a key focus for the Department during the year with emphasis 

on improvements in the management of high health risk prisoners

Management of high-health-risk prisoners

During the year, there has been a stronger focus on the management of high-health-risk prisoners

and those identified with a terminal illness. 

In order to properly plan and deliver healthcare in a coordinated manner, prisoners with a major 

or life-threatening illness are identified as part of the initial assessment process. A care plan is then

developed that identifies present and potential healthcare problems and long- and short-term goals. 

Prisoners with a terminal illness and in the last stages of their life may then be provided with

holistic healthcare that includes provision for a non-custodial death through sentence

management.

Hepatitis C Report

A report Hepatitis C, A Study of Prevalence in WA Prisons, which was completed in March 2002,

sampled one in six prisoners over a two-week period and identified that 23 per cent of male and

46 per cent of female prisoners were positive to Hepatitis C. These findings have implications 

for the review of current policies and treatment programs offered to prisoners and the report

contained 22 recommendations providing direction for the management of Hepatitis C in prisons. 

Offender Health Council

An Offender Health Council, replacing the former Joint Justice/Health Interdepartmental Council,

was established during the year and met for the first time in June 2002. 

The council is charged with responsibility for developing a strategic overview of health services 

for offenders. Its membership includes the Director General of Health and the Director General 

of Justice. The Inspector of Custodial Services sits on the council as an ex-officio member.

It reports to the Minister for Health and the Attorney General through the respective Directors

General. Recommendations as required and a written annual report will be submitted to the

Minister for Health and Attorney General.

Standards development

Work has commenced on developing a set of standards that defines the quality or principles that

Prison Health Services should achieve. The standards are output focussed with clear service

specifications.

The primary objectives of the standards are to describe the level of healthcare required to optimise

the health of prisoners and detainees while in custody. 



D E P A R T M E N T  O F  J U S T I C E  •  A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 1 / 2 0 0 2

COMMUNITY AND JUVENILE JUSTICE 
AND PRISONS DIVISION continued

REPORT ON
OPERATIONS

Page 57

To date, significant progress has been made in developing a set of draft clinical standards and these

have been sent to stakeholders for comment and feedback. It is intended that Health Services will

be measured against these standards, as well as the Australian Council on Healthcare Standards

(ACHS) standards when accreditation in achieved (see below).

Accreditation

Significant work has been undertaken to prepare Health Services for accreditation with the

Australian Council on Healthcare Standards (ACHS), which represents the majority of healthcare

organisations in Australia. 

The accreditation program will provide recognition and credibility for health services provided 

to prisoners. The process is expected to be completed by the end of 2002/03. 

Prison Counselling Service and Prison Support Service

A review of the Forensic Case Management Team (FCMT) undertaken during the year resulted in

FCMT being transferred from Health Services division to the Prisons Division Operational Services

directorate. FCMT has been renamed the Prison Counselling Service.

The principal role of the Prison Counselling Service is crisis assessment and intervention,

psychological and social work services to prisoners, and the provision of consultancy advice 

to prison management. 

Prison support officers remain responsible for coordinating Peer Support Teams within prisons,

including recruitment and training of team members. The prison support officers also provide

advice, liaison and assessment assistance, particularly in relation to (but not limited to) Aboriginal

and intercultural issues.

Implementation will take between 12 and 18 months and will include the establishment 

of management structures within prisons. 

Deaths in Custody

While there has been a reduction in the number of deaths in custody, it continues to be a serious

issue for prisons, with 10 deaths during 2001/02. 

Of the 10 deaths, four were by apparent suicide (two women, two men), with the remainder 

by apparent natural causes. This compares with four apparent suicides the previous year and

represents a significant drop from nine in 1999/2000. 

During the year, a Suicide Prevention Task Force reviewed and reported on suicide prevention

measures in prisons. This major study provides a number of recommendations for improving

services and support to at-risk prisoners, which will be prioritised and addressed in the year ahead. 

MISSION TO THE TOP
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REHABILITATION AND REINTEGRATION

Prisoners are encouraged to engage in programs, education and activities that seek to reduce 

the risk of reoffending and increase their potential for reintegration into the community.

Offender Programs

Offender Programs provides programs for convicted adult offenders and expert advice to

sentencing and releasing authorities and to prison management. A restructuring of human

resources during the year resulted in staff having a more consistent presence in the prison and

working together in a more collegial manner.

The range of programs available to offenders has also undergone significant changes during the

year, with the more complex treatment needs of medium and high-risk offenders now being 

given treatment priority and allocated to more intensive programs. Low-intensity programs are 

no longer available.

During 2001/02, a redistribution of resources enabled Offender Programs to develop and deliver

medium and high-intensity programs targeting prisoners assessed with medium- and high-risk

needs. A total of 15 Managing Anger/Substance Use and 12 Indigenous Men Managing

Anger/Substance Use medium-intensity programs were delivered both in metropolitan and

regional prisons during the year. An intensive treatment program was developed and accredited 

in conjunction with the Drug and Alcohol Office to target prisoners with hazardous and harmful

drug-using behaviour.

Education and vocational training

Enhancing employment opportunities with education and training is important for successfully 

re-integrating prisoners into the community and reducing the risk of re-offending. In 2000/01

Western Australia reported the highest level of eligible prisoners enrolled in education and training

at 55 per cent compared with the Australian national average of 48 per cent.

This year, the Department has expanded its training provider partnerships to cope with an

increased allocation of 300 traineeships. The programs cover 14 different industry areas including

meat processing, engineering production, cabinet making, asset maintenance, textiles, upholstery,

horticulture, hospitality, automotive, printing, small business and food processing.

Arts program 

A variety of arts programs were developed and delivered during the year and a series of

performances, exhibitions and presentations were staged by the prisoners. The annual Prisoner 

Art Exhibition in was held in October 2001 showcasing 400 art pieces. 

Indigenous artists mentoring workshops were introduced during the year with accomplished

indigenous artists working as guest tutors in six regional prisons.

Drug-free units

Drug-free units help prepare prisoners for release and successful reintegration to the community

by providing a therapeutic self-care and drug free environment. 
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A pilot drug-free unit was introduced at Nyandi in August 2000, however, the drug-free status

was not maintained. An evaluation during the year found that the primary reason the pilot failed

was because appropriate admission criteria was not well enough established. 

In an effort to reinvigorate and re-establish the concept of an environment that fosters drug-free

behaviour, a working group has been established to build on the original framework for a drug-

free unit. 

Wooroloo Prison Farm implemented the first drug-free unit in a self-care wing in March 2002. 

A 100-hour intensive addiction program is also delivered to prisoners committed to changing

drug-using behaviour. 

Since the inception of the unit, no drug-positive urine tests have been recorded. To complement

the drug-free unit, an intensive drug program targeting high risk/high needs prisoners with a

history of hazardous and harmful drug use has been developed. During the year, one program 

was completed and the second is due for completion in August 2002. 

REPARATION

Prisoners are increasingly making positive contributions to the community through work and

other activities.

Prison industries

Prison industries continued to provide on-the-job training and work experience for prisoners while

offering extensive internal supply savings. The value of production for internal supply is more than

$10 million. New external contracts in carpentry, laundry and cleaning services were established

during the year. 

This has been achieved despite the transfer of 650 prisoners to Acacia and an additional drop 

of about 300 in prisoner numbers. On-the-job training improved with the number of traineeships

increasing to 200. There are a number of best practice workshops now operating in the 

prison system. 

Work camps 

Work camps give low-risk, minimum-security prisoners the chance to develop skills while

undertaking community work and repaying a debt to society. 

During the year, local communities - including Aboriginal groups - were involved in establishing

new work camps at Bungarun, near Derby, and at Wyndham. 

In February 2002, Pardelup Prison Farm was also converted to a work camp, bringing to six the

total number of prisoner work camps in Western Australia. 

In 2001/02, it is that estimated prisoners undertook more than 45,000 hours of reparation to the

community – the equivalent of nearly $500,000 worth of labour. Many important projects were

completed including walk trails, upgrading of tourist facilities and the eradication of noxious

weeds and pests from nature reserves and National Parks.

BUNBURY HELPS TO
GREEN ROTTO
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UPGRADING INFRASTRUCTURE

Bandyup upgrade

A key focus in 2001/02 has been on improving services to women prisoners.

The first stages of a $14.8 million upgrade of Bandyup Women's Prison were completed during

the year and include the construction of a crisis care unit, management wing, industries building

and education and vocational training centre. 

In 2002/03, a new accommodation unit, central support infrastructure facilities, refurbished

kitchen and laundry and prison reception will be completed. The new facilities will provide

accommodation and related facilities for an additional 64 women and at-risk prisoners. 

Metropolitan low-security prison 

Planning for a new low-security prison for women on the Longmore/Nyandi site in Bentley

commenced and included detailed consultation with a range of stakeholders and the local

community. 

A community advisory group has been formed to ensure the views of the community are taken

into account during the planning and design stage, as well as once operations commence. 

The prison should be completed as early as April 2004 and is expected to cost $12.1 million. 

Regional prisons

Renovations were completed at several regional prisons during the year.

The women’s section of Roebourne Regional Prison was upgraded to include a new mother-child

unit and an improved recreation area and garden. 

At Broome Regional Prison, new security grilles and motion detectors were installed in the

maximum-security section, while the administration area was extended and a new visits area and

playground was developed. During the year, tenders were called for refurbishments to the female

section of the prison and this work is expected to be completed by November 2002. 

A new visits centre was also built at Bunbury Regional Prison.

Improving health services

Prison Health Services facilities were expanded and improved at Albany, Karnet, Eastern

Goldfields, Nyandi, Greenough and Broome Prisons at a cost of $1.5 million.

A significant upgrade and expansion to the existing health centre at Bandyup Prison was also

completed as part of the Bandyup upgrade project.

Expansion of the existing health centre at Roebourne Regional Prison is scheduled to commence 

in 2002/03, along with upgrades to the infirmary at Casuarina and Hakea Crisis Care.
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Rangeview upgrade

The $4.3 million redevelopment of the Rangeview Remand Centre for juveniles was completed 

in November 2001.

A new 24-bed accommodation block will lift capacity to a maximum of 76 beds plus special-needs

accommodation. Other work includes expansion of educational and vocational facilities and a new

case planning area that will include a video conferencing facility.
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THE SERVICE

The Public Advocate is an independent statutory officer appointed under the Guardianship and

Administration Act 1990 to protect and promote the rights, dignity and autonomy, and to reduce

the risk of neglect, exploitation and abuse, of adults with a decision-making disability.

The Public Advocate provides advocacy at hearings of the Guardianship and Administration Board

and within the community, as well as information about ways of safeguarding the best interests of

people with decision-making disabilities (including guardianship and administration). 

The Public Advocate also investigates complaints or allegations of neglect, exploitation and abuse,

and provides guardianship services when the appointment of a guardian is considered necessary.

MAJOR ACHIEVEMENTS

Regional services

A pilot project to provide guardianship and advocacy services to regional Western Australia 

was launched in May 2002. 

The project aims to improve services for adults with decision-making disabilities and their carers

by providing enhanced access to information, advice and assistance, and by providing a more

immediate response to abuse and conflict situations. 

The pilot is being undertaken in Bunbury as a step towards achieving improved equity for 

regional stakeholders. 

Advocacy and Guardian of Last Resort Services

The Public Advocate provides advocacy services on behalf of people with decision-making

disabilities by investigating, representing and making recommendation in their best interests, on

the need for guardianship or administration at hearings of the Guardianship and Administration

Board, and in the community. The Public Advocate also acts as guardian of last resort where

appointed by the board.

During the year, there was a six per cent decrease in advocacy services (including community

referred investigations) provided by the Public Advocate due to the need to prioritise the critical

work of guardian of last resort. There was a 27 per cent increase in the number of guardian of last

resort appointments the Public Advocate was required to fulfil. 

In addition, the number of people identified as needing advocacy services increased by four 

per cent. 
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Indigenous people

The Public Advocate commissioned a report entitled ‘Needs of Indigenous People in the

Guardianship and Administration system in WA’, which was released in October 2001. 

Key recommendations of the report will be considered over the next two years.

The report identified a need to improve access to the guardianship and administration system and

less formal alternatives to the appointment of a guardian or administrator to assist indigenous people.

1995/96
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THE SERVICE

The Public Trust Office provides trustee services for Western Australians, delivering professional

and independent trustee and asset management services. The Public Trust Office ensures that all

Western Australians have equitable access to trustee services regardless of ability to pay. 

The person appointed to administer the office is called the 'Public Trustee' and is also a body

corporate under that name. The Public Trustee is a statutory authority within the provisions 

of the Financial Administration and Audit Act and the Public Trust Office operates as a program 

of the Department of Justice. The Public Trust Office offers the following services:

Trust Management

The Public Trustee provides a comprehensive range of financial and asset management services 

for people who, through age or disability, are unable to manage their financial affairs. 

Estate Administration

The Public Trustee administers the estates of deceased people in the absence of an executor of a

will, when an executor is unwilling to act, or when actually named as executor. The Public Trust

Office may also administer the estates of people who die intestate (without making a will).

Will Drawing

The Public Trustee offers professional advice to those seeking to make a will or enduring power 

of attorney appointing the Public Trustee as their executor or donee.

MAJOR ACHIEVEMENTS

New software 

New software that enables better management of the Public Trustee’s core business services and

processes was introduced in December 2001. Additional enhancements will be progressively made

during the next 12 months, providing the basis for increased efficiency and improved service

delivery in the future. 

Efficiency and service improvement

This program, which involved operational changes to virtually every part of the Public Trust

Office, was completed in June 2002. The adoption of ‘best practice’ principles has resulted in

improvements in the areas of policies, procedures and delegations. Processes have been improved,

duplication has been reduced and customary practices have been documented to retain intellectual

property and ensure continuous high standards of service.
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Key services evaluation

Key services were evaluated during the year due to increasing demands on Public Trust Office

services, particularly in the area of trust, financial administration and legal services. This increase 

is the result of an ageing population, increased complexity of client financial matters, and the

higher expectations of stakeholders and the community. 

The majority of initiatives to address service improvement requirements will occur during

2002/03. However, to align with a new focus on customer service, structural changes to the 

call centre were identified and made during 2001/02.

Mortgage Information Service

The Mortgage Information Service was established in September 2000 to provide information 

to investors who suffered loss through failed finance brokers. Throughout the year, this popular

service continued to provide practical assistance to those investors still requiring advice. 

The service, which had been funded on a project basis, was wound up on 30 June 2002. 

Customer service

To improve customer service, new client meeting and interview rooms were established on the

ground floor. These rooms are not only more accessible for clients but their modern design

enhances the public face of the office.

NEW MATE FOR PUBLIC
TRUST OFFICE
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THE SERVICE

The Registry of Births, Deaths and Marriages is responsible for:

• The creation and permanent storage of birth, death and marriage records, which enables 
the public to obtain documentary proof of these important life events.

• Providing facilities for the conduct of civil marriages as an alternative to marriage by 
a minister of religion or other civil celebrant.

MAJOR ACHIEVEMENTS

New registry system

In November 2001, the registry implemented a new electronic birth, death and marriage
registration system (WARS2000), which replaced the existing, outdated system.

WARS2000 uses scanning technology and intelligent character recognition to capture information
for new registrations, stores source documents electronically, integrates EFTPOS and uses online
transaction facilities to verify credit card information from registry customers. 

It provides a basis for the delivery of electronic services to customers and will also allow the
registry to link its regional agencies (courthouses) to records held on its central database.

A short-term drop in the registry’s operational performance occurred while staff were familiarising
themselves with the new system, resulting in service delays; however efficiency steadily improved
and work performance returned to near normal levels by year-end. 

Organisational restructure

The introduction of WARS2000 required significant restructuring and re-organising of the
registry. All staff received training to assist them in moving away from the previous production
line approach to the new case management and team-based approach to work. The new system 
is less paper driven, more efficient, and provides a more interesting variety of work and a better
career path for staff.

Civil marriages

During the year, 824 registry marriage ceremonies were performed around Western Australia,
compared with 811 in 2000/01.

Customer service 

A customer service survey was conducted to determine the level of satisfaction with the registry’s
products and services. The unaudited survey results, from randomly selected registration services
clients, showed a satisfaction rate of 82 per cent, compared with 89 per cent in the previous year. 

This may be attributed to initial service-delivery issues directly related to the implementation 
of the new registry system. While this did cause a backlog at the time, work performance has
returned to near normal levels.

A civil marriage customer survey showed satisfaction had risen from 86 per cent in 2000/01 
to 91 per cent in 2001/02.
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Corporate Services, Aboriginal Policy and Services, Public Affairs and Internal Audit do not have

individual outputs in the current year. However, all provide invaluable support to other divisions

and agencies.

Additionally, the divisions are supported by the Ministerial Liaison Unit. The unit is responsible for

coordinating all correspondence between the offices of the Attorney General and the Department

of Justice and for effectively and efficiently managing the work flow between the offices.

In 2001/02, the unit handled 4401 items of correspondence and processed 112 parliamentary

questions and 42 ‘questions without notice’. 

During the year, the unit was involved in the development and implementation of a new

ministerial tracking system and trained more than 130 department staff in its use. 

aboriginAL POLICY AND SERVICES

THE SERVICE

Following an independent review of the Aboriginal Policy and Services Directorate completed 

in December 2001, the directorate’s focus shifted to become one which offers the Department

strategic leadership and advice on Aboriginal policy and services, and takes a high level

coordinating role across the Department.

While the Aboriginal Policy and Services Directorate remains a resource, all divisions now share 

in the responsibility for making services culturally relevant for Aboriginal people. While Prison’s

division led the way with the appointment of a Manager, Aboriginal Services two years ago, 

it is expected all divisions will have a senior staff member responsible for Aboriginal Services 

in 2002/03.

MAJOR ACHIEVEMENTS

New Director

Kate George was appointed as the Director of Aboriginal Policy and Services in April 2002. 

A lawyer and former ministerial advisor, Ms George has an in-depth knowledge of Australian

indigenous issues at a political and policy level. Her 30-year career includes experience in

employment and training, prisons, legal and justice issues, housing and health, and a practical

knowledge of international policies in human rights. She was the first Aboriginal law graduate 

of the Australian National University. 

Aboriginal Justice Council

In May 2002, the State Government announced the abolition of the Aboriginal Justice Council.

The council, which was set up to implement the recommendations of the 1988 Royal Commission

into Aboriginal Deaths in Custody, was disbanded after a review found it was duplicating the role

of the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Commission (ATSIC) and other agencies.

ABORIGINAL POLICY AND SERVICES

NEW DIRECTOR
WELCOMED



D E P A R T M E N T  O F  J U S T I C E  •  A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 1 / 2 0 0 2

CORPORATE
SUPPORT AREAS

Page 68

Since its establishment, the Aboriginal Justice Council had made a significant contribution to

justice issues in relation to indigenous people. The State Government is now working with ATSIC

to establish a State-wide partnership framework that can facilitate negotiated agreements at the

local and regional level and deliver a contemporary approach to Aboriginal justice issues.

Aboriginal Alternative Dispute Resolution Service 

The Aboriginal Alternative Dispute Resolution Service (AADRS) developed the first nationally

accredited training package in Australia for mediators working with Aboriginal people.

Staff will begin delivering the unit, Facilitating Effective Communication in the Workplace, which 

can be credited towards a TAFE Certificate III in Business, in July 2002. 

The AADRS is also developing a training package in language suitable for use in the

Ngaanyatjarra lands near Warburton. It is expected that the Ngaanyatjarra package will 

be delivered in May 2003.

National Alternative Dispute Resolution Advisory Council

In August 2001, the Manager of the Aboriginal Alternative Dispute Resolution Service, Helen

Bishop, was appointed as the Western Australian representative to the National Alternative

Dispute Resolution Advisory Council (NADRAC).

Her three-year appointment is a significant achievement for the Department’s small dispute

resolution service and will give indigenous Western Australians greater input in NADRAC, 

a non-statutory body set up to advise the Federal Attorney General on matters concerning

alternative dispute resolution processes related to tribunals, courts and family law mediation. 

Ms Bishop is the only indigenous member of the council. 

Aboriginal Visitors Scheme 

The Aboriginal Visitors Scheme had 7828 interviews and contacts with Aboriginal adults and

juveniles in custody at police lockups, prisons and detention centres throughout the State. Service

visits to Acacia Prison increased from two to four visits a week as more prisoners were transferred

to the prison.

In November 2001, a protocol document was signed between Prison Services, Juvenile Custodial

Services and the Aboriginal Visitors Scheme outlining service delivery arrangements to prisons 

and detention centres. The scheme now manages 50 visitors throughout the State.

Interpreter training

The State Government’s four-year commitment to funding Aboriginal languages interpreter

programs finished in December 2001. Through the Commonwealth and State-funded programs,

more than 40 Aboriginal people from 10 language groups were trained as interpreters. In

recognition that Aboriginal language interpreter services have use across Government, the

Department of Indigenous Affairs will explore funding options to continue the program.

Aboriginal Justice Plan

The Department of Justice and the Department of Indigenous Affairs continued to work in

collaboration with the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Commission to develop a new justice

advisory mechanism. The process will include a review of the Aboriginal Justice Plan to ensure it 

is aligned with Government policy, including the Statement of Commitment to a New and Just

Relationship between the State Government and the Aboriginal people of Western Australia.

ABORIGINAL POLICY AND SERVICES continued

FAMILY JUSTICE

INDIGENOUS LEADERSHIP
COURSE FOR WA PAIR
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THE SERVICE

The Corporate Services division supports the management of the Department’s human, financial

and physical resources. It assists the Department in developing its overall strategic direction by

providing business planning systems and services. The division also provides a corporate service 

to associated offices such as the Director of Public Prosecutions, Office of the Equal Opportunity

Commissioner and the Office of the Information Commissioner.

MAJOR ACHIEVEMENTS

Workforce management

A new Workforce Management Branch was planned during the year and was due to be established

in July 2002 to simplify employment processes within the Department. The Branch brings together

the recruitment, classifications, workplace change and mobility and establishment functions into

one unit and incorporates the work previously done by the Contract Employment Unit.

HR kiosk

An online tool for staff and managers to keep track of personnel information was launched in

October 2001. The HR kiosk allows staff to access to HR information and enables managers to

take responsibility for various HR processes regarding their staff.

Staff can access and update their personal details stored in the personnel/payroll database including

home address, emergency contact details and next of kin. They can also access details on their

current job and view their leave balance and forecast leave. 

The system also allows staff to access and print payslips and holds payslip details as a permanent

record. 

The rollout of a managers’ kiosk also commenced in May 2002. It allows access to a range of HR

information such as the list of all team members, a team leave matrix, and a range of reports on

contract expiry dates, increments due and salary reports.

Indigenous Employment Strategy

The Human Resources directorate, in collaboration with Aboriginal Policy and Services directorate,

developed a draft Indigenous Employment Strategy to ensure that the Department of Justice is

seen as an employer of choice among indigenous people and that its products and services are

responsive to the needs of its diverse client groups.

The strategy aims to have indigenous employees evenly represented at all levels of the

Department, that the percentage of indigenous staff involved in service delivery reflects the

indigenous client ratio, that all non-indigenous staff involved in service delivery are competent 

to meet the needs of indigenous clients, and that indigenous staff report a decline in the levels 

of racism being experienced within the Department.

Implementation of the strategy will continue in 2002.

HR TEAM STREAMLINES
EMPLOYMENT
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Indigenous mentor program

The indigenous mentor program aims to provide culturally appropriate mentoring for 

indigenous staff within the Department of Justice and to assist in developing leadership potential,

communication skills, personal/professional standards, enhance people management skills and to

develop interdivisional networks. 

Implementation of the initial phase of the mentor program will be completed in September 2002,

training and matching 10 mentor/mentee pairs. Ongoing implementation of the program will

continue throughout the 2002/03.

Indigenous traineeship program 

The indigenous clerical traineeship program was established in 1999 with the aim of employing

more indigenous people within the Department. Since then, 21 trainees have completed the 

12-month program and 17 are now in permanent employment within the Department at levels

one and two.

Broome Regional Prison’s administration assistant, Tracey Freeman, was named ATSIC Indigenous

Trainee of the Year for 2001.

Information Security Group 

The Information Security Group, introduced in March 2002, operates as a high-level working

group to direct those responsible for information security and coordination within the Department.

The group:

• Formulates and manages the Department’s information security policy

• Approves information security initiatives

• Assigns security roles

• Coordinates the implementation of security initiatives across the Department, including 

the education of users.

Intellectual property policy 

An intellectual property policy that provides the basis for managing the range of intellectual 

assets produced by the Department by staff, or, by others under contract to the Department, 

was adopted.

Telephone system

During the year, a new PABX telephone system was installed in head office to cover the different

locations in the city and position the Department to take advantage of the efficiency presented by

developments in the telecommunications industry. The new system has improved customer service

and increased the number of switchboards from one to six. That has enabled Human Resources,

the Registry of Births, Death and Marriages, the Crown Solicitor’s Office and the Director of

Public Prosecutions to each have their own switchboards. 
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IT security review

A Departmental IT security review was undertaken as a result of issues raised by the Office of 

the Auditor General regarding the preparedness of Government agencies to cope with electronic

commerce. The project was undertaken using the Australian standards for information security

management and risk management as reference standards, which have been endorsed by

Government as best practice standards recognised by the Office of the Auditor General 

and adopted by the Department of Justice.

Establishment of an Extranet

An Extranet that provides infrastructure to support the Department’s current and future

requirements for secure, reliable and efficient delivery of electronic services was built during 

the year. The Department’s Internet site has now been relocated to the Extranet. The Extranet 

is also successfully supporting an industry pilot for the electronic lodgment of court documents 

(e-lodgment).

Electronic legal library

A pilot scheme that enabled all judicial officers in each jurisdiction access to legal publications 

on-line either via the Internet or Intranet was completed. A whole-of-Department contract 

has been negotiated and is in the final stages of completion.

Project reporting system

The second version of the project reporting system was launched in February 2002 to ensure 

more robust management of projects and further enhancements to decision making.

Compliance management system

To facilitate the monitoring and tracking of compliance obligations of more than 300 items 

of legislation the Department is responsible for complying and/or administering, a compliance

management system was trialed under a proof-of-concept arrangement. The Department will

continue to monitor the effectiveness of the system with a view to full implementation 

during 2002/03.
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THE SERVICE 

The Public Affairs branch reports directly to the Director General and supports the Department’s

business areas with strategic communication advice and a broad range of services to help develop

community, stakeholder and staff awareness of the Department’s operations and achievements.

The branch plays an important role, both internally and externally, in ensuring that release 

of information about the Department’s plans and programs is an inherent part of the

organisation’s operations.

The branch provides the following services:

• Public relations and communication strategies

• Media liaison

• Stakeholder consultations and briefings

• Community consultation

• Publication production

• Internet and intranet site management

• Staff communication

• Launches and event coordination

• Issues management

MAJOR ACHIEVEMENTS

Community justice in action

The Public Affairs branch has undertaken an unprecedented program of community and other

stakeholder briefings and consultation to not only communicate the Government’s new approach

to justice but to ensure maximum stakeholder involvement in major projects. 

In particular, during the year: 

• The strategy to reform adult justice and the new focus on reducing imprisonment and finding

practical alternatives to traditional imprisonment has meant increased communications.

Strategic communications plans, including a program of stakeholder consultation, have 

been prepared for some eight major projects. 

• The Casuarina and Hakea Gatehouse project was backed by stakeholder briefings, staff

briefings and a series of interviews and questionnaires surveying the opinions, behaviours 

and needs of prison visitors.

• Public Affairs has strategically guided consultations for the development of regional justice

plans starting with community research and consultation in the Kimberley. 

• The division worked with community-based offender groups and prisoners to establish

communication issues and ensure needs are met.

• Some 21 presentations detailing the Integrated Court Management System and court 

reform were provided for 200-250 staff across all jurisdictions in April and May 2002. 

The presentations were made at 10 locations and included a teleconference to regional 

clerks of court.
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• Integrated Prison Regime stakeholders were updated during a briefing in October 2001.

• Public Affairs has ensured all stakeholders, including the community, had a voice in the

planning of the Nyandi/Longmore redevelopment. It coordinated the formation of a

community advisory group and was involved in workshops for local residents and stakeholders.

Justice Online

The Department’s new Internet site, Justice Online, was launched in September 2001. The new

site is grouped by service, which makes access to information easier, and users can now subscribe

to a news section and select categories of information of particular interest to them.

The launch was supported by a low-key advertising program in print media at State, regional 

and local levels. A mail-out alerting libraries to the services available on the website was also

undertaken. 

Involving staff

In December 2001, a new Intranet site was launched to improve access to information for staff. 

As with the website, JustNet was reorganised by service rather than Departmental structure. 

The launch was supported by demonstrations and training in 10 centres in the metropolitan 

area with regional locations included by video link. 

In addition, Public Affairs continued its production of separate, tailored newsletters for

Community and Juvenile Justice and Prisons divisions (Inside Out), Court Services (In Session)

and for the Department as a whole (Just Us).

The media

The Department of Justice is committed to being open and transparent in all its activities. 

That means a very frank and honest relationship with the media – an important communication

avenue to all our stakeholders.

During the year Public Affairs continued to manage all of the Department’s media inquiries.

Our volunteers 

Public Affairs continued to help celebrate the International Year of Volunteers throughout 2001. 

The Department hosted an afternoon tea for more than 100 volunteers and prepared submissions

for five Department volunteers for the 2001 Seniors Awards. In October 2001, Banksia Hill

Detention Centre volunteer Don Tulloch was named runner-up in the community service category.

The other four nominees were all highly commended. 

Events

Public Affairs organised more than 13 launches and events during the year to celebrate and

communicate the Department’s achievements and initiatives. These included the opening of the

Bunbury Prison Visitors’ Centre; the Rangeview Remand Centre; the Bungarun Work Camp and

the Bell Spring Juvenile Bail Facility; and the launch of the Victim Notification Register.

Public Affairs also played a significant role in coordinating the International Corrections and

Prisons Association conference from 28 October to 2 November 2001. This major international

forum for criminal justice professionals attracted 150 delegates from more than 30 countries,

including many heads of corrections. 
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The Internal Audit branch provides audit advice and conducts internal audits as outlined in the

audit plan. The branch works in cooperation with the Risk Management and Audit Committee

made up of senior management of the Department and a representative from the Office of the

Auditor General. The Internal Audit branch reports directly to the Director General. 

The branch conducts comprehensive reviews that assist the maintenance of effective corporate

governance within the Department. Services provided by the branch also contribute towards the

improvement of business practices within the organisation, including management accountability,

compliance management and the effectiveness of internal control processes. 

Major achievements during 2001/02 included: 

• Establishing a comprehensive annual audit planning process to identify potential risk areas

• Taking part in the annual facilitated risk assessment workshop with the Risk Management 

and Audit Committee to assist in the prioritisation of audit resources and the preparation 

of a risk-based annual audit plan

• Continuing the introduction of progressive audit concepts and practices, assisted by the 

co-sourcing arrangement with accounting firm KPMG

• Participating on the Department’s newly-established Information Security Group.
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During the last 12 months the Department has maintained an ongoing commitment to its

Disability Services policy and guidelines, which was developed in 2000/01. Access to the

Department’s services by people with disabilities was also improved during the year.

• The Registry of Births, Deaths and Marriages incorporated public counter access at seated height.

• A portable wheelchair access ramp and the modification of counters at the Supreme Court

have improved access for wheelchair-bound customers.

• A Disability Services Coordinator based in Community and Juvenile Justice has worked with

staff to case manage juveniles in custody and train staff in the management of the special

needs of disabled clients.

• The Office of the Public Advocate continued to protect and promote the rights, dignity and

autonomy of adults with decision-making disabilities. Specialised training was provided to 

staff to expand their knowledge of guardianship and advocacy.

• A diversionary proposition was initiated in metropolitan courts to identify defendants with 

a disability to ascertain if their disability was central to their offending behaviour.

• Prison-based programs provided to assist prisoners with disabilities included:

• A legal and social awareness program for prisoners with intellectual disabilities who 

are assessed as unsuitable for treatment programs

• An adapted sex offender treatment program for offenders with intellectual disabilities 

and cognitive impairment; and

• The introduction of one-on-one counselling to identify and advise on a wide range of

interventions and issues, including specific services relevant to intellectual disabilities. 

• Training with regard to the needs of people with disabilities was provided to a wide range 

of staff and stakeholders, including justices of the peace, staff at Acacia and Hakea Prisons,

within Community and Juvenile Justice and Court Services.

• A referral checklist and an alert mechanism has been implemented to allow the Disability

Services unit to effectively monitor offenders electronically to allow for improved through-care

planning and the determination of the most appropriate level of imprisonment for people with

a disability. 

• Allocation of nurses at some court locations to assist in the assessment of whether clients

should be diverted from court proceedings for disability reasons. 

Working in partnership with the Disability Services Commission, expertise, staff support and

funding have been provided to a newly developed "Keep Cool" program, aimed at teenagers 

with intellectual disabilities and anger management problems. 
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The Department of Justice is committed to achieving the outcomes for youth as identified in the

State Government Plan for Youth. During 2001/02 the Department:

• Appointed permanent part-time Aboriginal Support Officers to each metropolitan Juvenile

Justice Team 

• Implemented the Court Conferencing Program at the Perth Children’s Court to enable a wider

range of offences to be referred to the Juvenile Justice Teams. The program, which began with

the involvement of the President of the Court, has now been expanded to involve all Children’s

Court magistrates

• Commenced the development of an actuarial juvenile intervention tool to provide structured

risk and needs assessments to assist decision making concerning supervision in the community,

more targeted interventions and better use of resources

• Conducted driver training for all eligible detainees prior to them leaving the Banksia Hill

Detention Centre. The training covers the written part of the learner process, with those 

who have poor literacy skills being able to sit an adapted test.

The Department continues to support the grievance officer network to facilitate the resolution of

staff grievances at the lowest level. Grievance resolution officers are trained in conflict resolution

and are delegated by the Director General to act on his behalf to resolve informal grievances.

There are currently 60 grievance resolution officers throughout the Department. A recent survey

identified that 85 grievances had been resolved in the previous 12 months and 80 per cent of

grievance resolution officers had resolved at least one grievance. 

LANGUAGE AND CULTURAL DIVERSITY 

As a part of the Government’s commitment to improving customer service and implementing the

Government’s language service strategy, the Department has implemented and maintained several

significant language initiatives during 2001/02:

• In delivering its services, the Department made significant use of the Translating and

Interpreting Service. Between 1 July 2001 and 31 December 2001, a total of 687 interpreting

services were provided, primarily in Court Services. Some 32 different languages were

requested. (Statistics on the usage of TIS services between 1 January 2002 and 30 June 2002

were unavailable.)

• The Department’s Language Services policy was applied in Magistrates’ Courts and Tribunals,

and in some locations bail information documents have been culturally adapted. Bail Act

forms, for example, have been translated into six languages.

• Funding for the Family Court to provide interpreter services has doubled over the last 

12 months, reinforcing the Department’s commitment to language services.

GRIEVANCE RESOLUTION

LANGUAGE AND CULTURAL DIVERSITY

STATE GOVERNMENT PLAN FOR YOUTH
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• Juvenile Custodial Services has implemented Vienna Convention procedures to assist in 

dealing with foreign nationals, eliminating the difficulty of obtaining interpreters.

• The Office of the Public Advocate has made translated documents available in both Polish 

and Italian for Enduring Power of Attorney information kits.

• The Registry of Births, Deaths and Marriages produces information brochures in 13 different

languages for people planning to marry, and birth registration forms with help contact

information in eight languages. A customer survey was conducted in 2001/02 to ascertain

whether clients’ special needs are being met.

• Since 1998, the Department of Justice has contracted Central TAFE to provide Diploma of

Interpreting Aboriginal Languages (Paraprofessional) courses at various locations throughout

the State. Participants who successfully complete the course are eligible for accreditation with

the National Accreditation Authority for Translators and Interpreters. A pool of Aboriginal

people is now available to provide interpreter services in 10 Aboriginal language groups

covering regions from Kununurra to Kalgoorlie.

The challenging and varied work of the Department of Justice attracts a diverse range of

employees with a broad skills base. With more than 4000 employees, maintaining a safe, flexible

and rewarding work environment was again an important task for the Department in 2001/02.

The Department invests in appropriate training to develop the professional and personal skills of its

employees as part of an overall effort to improve its operations, and to sharpen its customer focus.

During the year, the Department has built on and maintained the training foundations 

established over previous years. 

AWARDS AND AGREEMENTS

Prison officers received a two per cent salary increase in November 2001, which was available

under the terms of their enterprise bargaining agreement.

A three per cent salary increase was granted to public service officers in February 2002 following

the achievement of productivity improvements over the previous 12-month period. The increase

also applied to group workers in the juvenile custodial facilities.

The new Public Service General Agreement, aimed at restoring parity of pay and conditions

among like employees across the public sector, will apply to Department of Justice staff, effective

from 1 January 2003.

Consistent with the Government’s policy of restoring parity of pay and conditions across the

public sector, the Department has been progressing a proposal to finalise a new certified

agreement for nurses in the State’s prisons that would contain pay and conditions similar 

to nurses employed in the Government health industry.

LANGUAGE AND CULTURAL DIVERSITY continued

EMPLOYEE RELATIONS

AWARDS AND AGREEMENTS
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The Occupational Safety and Health (OSH) focus during the year was to raise the level of OSH

amongst Department managers and employees. This has been achieved through a comprehensive

systems audit program, which focussed on ensuring that the basic OSH management systems 

were in place and were being effectively managed, and through awareness sessions.

Audits were conducted at 80 of the Department’s regional and metropolitan workplaces and

included diverse workplaces such as prisons, courts and community justice offices. In addition, 

staff OSH awareness sessions were conducted at both regional and metropolitan workplaces. 

These sessions informed employees of basic OSH responsibilities, duties and accident/incident 

and hazard reporting mechanisms. A number of OSH training sessions were also conducted for

group workers and community justice officers as part of their initial training courses.

Within the Prisons division, the Department has continued to improve the efficiency of safety 

and health committees and, in particular, has streamlined the accident/incident investigation

procedures.

Equal Opportunity and Diversity

The Department’s Equal Opportunity and Diversity Plan 1998-2001 promotes workforce diversity

through programs designed to develop and support a workplace that reflects the Department’s

diverse client and staff population, as well as adding value to the delivery of services. 

The Equal Opportunity and Diversity Plan 1998-2001 had the following outcomes:

• Women hold one in four senior management positions (1999-2000) compared with one 

in five in the previous financial year

• 18 women have received scholarships to undertake a range of activities including;

undergraduate and postgraduate studies, attend conferences and undertake TAFE studies 

• Project Leader Mentoring Program was launched in June 2000. Evaluation of the first year 

has been undertaken and produced positive and measurable outcomes for both mentors 

and mentees.

• Equal opportunity course for managers have been developed to emphasise the obligations 

of the employer to make flexible modes of work available

• Courts have been proactive and successful in attracting women to relief clerk of courts

positions in regional areas.

• Equal employment opportunity awareness training provided to staff through the training

calendar approximately every six weeks 

• Selection panel training was introduced in 2000 and is ongoing 

• An indigenous employment coordinator was appointed in 1998 and a project leader

Indigenous Retention was appointed in February 2000.

• The Indigenous Employment Strategy developed and implemented in 1998 was evaluated 

in 2001 and a new five-year plan will be developed.

OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY AND HEALTH

EQUAL OPPORTUNITY AND DIVERSITY
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EMPLOYEE WELFARE

The number of lost-time claims decreased compared with previous years. There was a decrease in

the number of workers’ compensation claims lodged for the year. This is being monitored by the

Department to identify significant trends. 

Employee Profile

Aboriginal Visitor Scheme

Catering Employees and Tea Attendants 

Child Care Workers 

Cleaners and Caretakers 

Government School Teachers 

Goverment Officers on Salaries and Allowances (GOSAC) 

Group Workers 

Hospital Workers

Hostel Supervisors and Managers

Medical Officers

Nurses

Prison Officers

Public Service Employees 

Salaries and Allowances Tribunal 

Total 

2001/02 2000/01

55

11

2

56

141

100

192

18

1

1

74 

1392

2,338

38 

4,419 

56

11

3

61

129

97

186

16

1

-

78

1,477

2,304

31

4,450

Excludes 721 sessional workers (sessional plus "all award" classification) and 97 board and tribunal members. 
Of the board and tribunal members 50 (51per cent) are women.

Female Male

34 

10

2 

43 

65 

38

60 

10 

1 

-

67

223

1,458

9

2,020

21

1

-

13

76

62

132

8 

-

1 

7

1,169

880

29

2,399

2001/02 TOTAL

Details

Workers’ compensation claims 

Stress claims 

Lost time claims 

Lost time frequency rate 

Liability (Riskcover) assessed  

Employee Assistance Program usage rate - % of workforce  

1999/00 2000/01 2001/02

377

44

189

25.2

$2.49m

5.8 

399

41

170

22.5

$2.88m

5.4

346

38

167

26.4

$1.87m

5.2
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Senior Employees (Level 7 and above).

Workplace Change and Mobility

The Workplace Change and Mobility branch provides corporate redeployment, change

management and career transition support services.

During the reporting period, a total of 66 employees were registered for redeployment, with 52

redeployees achieving permanent placement during the year. Voluntary severance was approved 

for a total of 28 employees, 18 of whom left under the terms of the Government’s 2002 enhanced

voluntary severance scheme. 

Case management of surplus staff achieved savings of around $1.3 million through the temporary

placement of redeployees in funded positions across the Department and other Government agencies.

Contract Employment Unit

In January 2001, the Department of Justice established a contract employment unit to develop

and implement a compliance framework with the Government’s Modes of Employment Policy 

and other relevant legislation. Updated policy and procedures were written and distributed to

managers and all contract renewals were scrutinised for compliance with Government policy.

Between 21 January 2002 and 30 June 2002, 1005 compliant fixed-term contracts were issued. 

Appointment Pools

The Department of Justice has made extensive use of appointment pools as a means of filling

vacant positions. Eleven pools have been advertised since August 2001.

Pools provide several advantages for the Department and applicants alike. If a large number of

vacancies become available which require filling within a short period, pools provide a complement

of suitable employees. These employees are merit selected and can be used for permanent and

contract positions. Appointment pools are also a suitable means of recruiting for positions 

with a high turnover.

Group 3 

Class 3 

Class 1 

Level 9 

Level 8 

Level 7 

Total

Female Male

0

0

1

2

6

16

26

1

2

1

10

21

40

74

Female Male

0

0

2

4

10

27

43

1

3

2

16

35

66

123

Number Per cent

Details

2001/02

Female Male

0

0

1

2

4

15

23

1

2

2

9

22

41

77

Female Male

0

0

2

4

7

26

39

1

3

4

16

37

70

131

Number Per cent

2000/01
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During the year, the Department continued to implement and support programs with 

a positive impact on the environment.

One of the primary activities undertaken by prisoners at work camps was contributing to

environmental and recreational projects. For example, in the Millstream-Chichester National 

Park, prisoners cleared noxious weeds from the Chindawarriner Pool and have undertaken

considerable environmental work in partnership with the Department of Conservation and 

Land Management (CALM). 

The Department also works closely with local government authorities to provide people on

community work orders with the opportunity to make a contribution to the environment 

while repaying a debt to the community. Environmental initiatives undertaken by offenders 

on community work orders include sand dune restoration, bushland conservation, pruning, 

and rubbish collection.

Recycling

The Department engaged Specialised Security Shredding in September 2001 to collect and 

destroy confidential and other documents from its offices in the Perth metropolitan area.

All of the Department’s business areas in the metropolitan region use this service, with about 

42 240-litre bins used per month the contents are sent for recycling.

THE CONTRIBUTION OF VOLUNTEERS

Volunteers form an integral part of the Department of Justice’s delivery of justice services

throughout Western Australia. As well as more than 3000 justices of the peace who volunteer

their time to ensure a timely and efficient system of justice, a number of other people give

willingly of their time to support victims of crime and to offer support and counselling to 

people appearing in court. Others volunteer as visitors and help with educational programs 

in prisons. The Department acknowledges the enormous contribution made by volunteers. 

ENVIRONMENTAL PROGRAMS

THE CONTRIBUTION OF VOLUNTEERS



D E P A R T M E N T  O F  J U S T I C E  •  A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 1 / 2 0 0 2

STATEMENT OF CERTIFICATION

KEY PERFORMANCE
INDICATORS

Page 82

The following performance indicators of the Department of Justice provide measures of the

Department’s effectiveness and efficiency in achieving its outcomes. I hereby certify that the key

effectiveness and efficiency in performance indicators of the Department are based on proper

records and fairly represent the performance of the Department for the financial year ending 

30 June 2002.

Alan Piper

Director General

31 August 2002
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To the Parliament of Western Australia 

DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE 
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2002 

Matters Relating to the Electronic Presentation of the Audited Performance Indicators 

This audit opinion relates to the performance indicators of the Department of Justice for the year

ended June 30, 2002 included on the Department’s web site. The Director General is responsible

for the integrity of the Department’s web site. I have not been engaged to report on the integrity

of the Department’s web site. The audit opinion refers only to the performance indicators named

below. It does not provide an opinion on any other information which may have been hyperlinked

to or from these performance indicators. If users of this opinion are concerned with the inherent

risks arising from electronic data communications, they are advised to refer to the hard copy of the

audited performance indicators to confirm the information included in the audited performance

indicators presented on this web site. 

Scope

I have audited the key effectiveness and efficiency performance indicators of the Department 

of Justice for the year ended June 30, 2002 under the provisions of the Financial Administration

and Audit Act 1985. 

The Director General is responsible for developing and maintaining proper records and systems 

for preparing and presenting performance indicators. I have conducted an audit of the key

performance indicators in order to express an opinion on them to the Parliament as required by 

the Act. No opinion is expressed on the output measures of quantity, quality, timeliness and cost. 

My audit was performed in accordance with section 79 of the Act to form an opinion based on a

reasonable level of assurance. The audit procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence

supporting the amounts and other disclosures in the performance indicators, and assessing the

relevance and appropriateness of the performance indicators in assisting users to assess the

Department’s performance. These procedures have been undertaken to form an opinion as 

to whether, in all material respects, the performance indicators are relevant and appropriate 

having regard to their purpose and fairly represent the indicated performance. 

The audit opinion expressed below has been formed on the above basis. 

Audit Opinion 

In my opinion, the key effectiveness and efficiency performance indicators of the Department 

of Justice are relevant and appropriate for assisting users to assess the Department’s performance

and fairly represent the indicated performance for the year ended June 30, 2002. 

D D R Pearson 

AUDITOR GENERAL 

October 11, 2002 
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2001/02 PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Court Services plays a crucial role in the Department’s primary outcome of creating a safe and

orderly environment for the Western Australian community. Its role is to instill and maintain

community trust and confidence in the court system – to ensure access to justice, finalise disputes

in an effective and efficient manner, and ensure equality, equity and integrity in the court system.

Courts, Boards and Tribunals (referred to hereafter as courts) provide the community with a

method to resolve disputes. Simply put, courts provide:

• A registry where disputes/cases are lodged and managed through to finalisation;

• A courtroom where cases are heard; and

• An independent "judge" and rules that ensure parties’ rights are protected.

Additionally, once the dispute is resolved, courts also provide

• A method of enforcing the court’s decision.

There are two distinct entities involved in administering courts in Western Australia; the

independent judicial officers who preside over the various courts and the Court Services division

that provides the courts’ administrative services, support and infrastructure.

Court Services, in partnership with the judiciary, has the primary objective of instilling and

maintaining community trust and confidence in the court system. The following elements must

exist for community trust and confidence in courts to be maintained:

• Access to justice – the structure and machinery of courts must be accessible to the

community;

• Expedition and timeliness – disputes must be effectively and efficiently finalised; and

• Equality, equity and integrity – due process must be followed and be consistent with

established laws and procedures

The Court Services division has identified three key outputs. These reflect the services provided

and the framework in which the services are delivered:

Output one Judiciary and judicial support services

Output two Case processing

Output three Enforcement of criminal and civil court orders

The Court Services division also has responsibility for a fourth output, victim support and

counselling services. This output relates mainly to the services provided to victims of crime by the

Victim Support Service and counselling services provided by the Coroner’s Court. 
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KEY OUTPUT/SERVICE:
1. JUDICIARY AND JUDICIAL SUPPORT.

Description:

A key task of the justice system in serving the community is the adjudication of cases brought

before the court or tribunal. This output relates to financing the cost of judicial officers (including

their support staff), totalling $36.817M for 2001/02, thereby enabling them to undertake those

determinations.

Note:

The Department has not produced a performance indicator for this output, as an exemption has

been granted on the basis that the judiciary, by virtue of the doctrine of separation of powers, is

independent of the executive arm of Government.

KEY OUTPUT/SERVICE:
2. CASE PROCESSING

Description:

The case processing output relates to all resources and services provided by Court Services 

to advance cases from lodgement to finalisation. 

It includes operational support activities related to the effective and efficient management of cases,

claims and applications through the criminal and civil court process and through the various

tribunals and boards administered by Court Services across the State. These activities include:

• Providing infrastructure (e.g. courtrooms, furniture and equipment) to assist in the

proceedings of a trial or hearing;

• Providing registry services to accept and process legal documents and list cases for trial 

or hearing;

• Collecting (court) fees, as prescribed by legislation;

• Monitoring case-flow standards in the various jurisdictions; and

• Providing support services for non-judicial finalisations of matters.

Each jurisdiction provides separate performance information for this output. This is because

disputes are dealt with by different courts due to their seriousness, either in terms of the potential

penalty (eg imprisonment) or in the value of the matter in dispute. There are also specialist

jurisdictions, including the Family Court, Coroner’s Court, Children’s Court, the Guardianship

Board and many tribunals.

Each of the indicators are explained below:

EFFECTIVENESS

2.1 Case finalisation ratio.

This indicator is determined by calculating, from the total number of cases finalised, the

proportion of cases finalised prior to and by trial. It is a key indicator as it demonstrates the

effectiveness of the courts’ processes in resolving disputes between parties both before and by trial.
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Social and cost benefits may be achieved by the early finalisation of a case including:

• An improvement in the proportion of cases finalised prior to trial indicates that the courts’

case-management processes are effective in guiding parties to finalise cases in an expeditious

and timely manner;

• An improvement in the community’s capacity to access the court system. The sooner a case is

finalised, the earlier the court can deal with the next case; and

• A decrease in the cost of litigation for both the parties involved and the community.

2.2 Average length of trials.

This indicator measures the average length of trials that are finalised. It is calculated by dividing

the total length of actual trials by the number of trials finalised within each of the jurisdictions.

It is a key indicator because:

• It impacts on the community’s ability to access the justice system. For example, if the average

length of trials increases, the community may be subject to greater delays in cases coming to

trial, impacting on the whole-of-Government outcome of a "safe and orderly community";

• It demonstrates that pre-trial systems are effective in advancing matters to trial in accordance

with established laws and procedures and in reducing trial time to a minimum, thereby

ensuring trials are finalised in an expeditious and timely manner.

It also reflects that jurisdictions deal with matters of differing complexity (demonstrated by the

differing length of trials between the jurisdictions). 

2.3 Percentage of cases finalised within time standards.

This indicator relates to the percentage of cases finalised within time-frames set by the court, in

consultation with key stakeholders. It is a key indicator because it demonstrates that the systems,

procedures and resources are in place to:

• Provide the community with reasonable and acceptable standards by which the performance 

of the courts can be measured. This provides an indication of the community’s access to the

courts; and

• Provide an indication of the expeditious and timely finalisation of a case.

This is achieved within a legal framework that advances matters to finalisation in accordance with

established laws and procedures that are based on equality, fairness and integrity.

This indicator is calculated by comparing the period taken from lodgement of a case to its

finalisation and the elapsed period against the time standard set by the court. The result is

expressed as a percentage of the cases finalised for the year.

2.4 Backlog.

This indicator relates to the number of cases still to be finalised at year end that have not been

finalised within the time frames set by the court. It is a key indicator because it provides the

community with an indication of the courts’ capacity:

• to provide access to the community; and

• to deal with case workloads within time standards. (For this reason, some additional data has

been provided to demonstrate the backlog in context of the overall work of the court).
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There are numerous factors that have a bearing on a matter being finalised within the standards,

not all being within the control of the court. The fact that parties to cases are in dispute suggests

that, while one party may want the matter finalised at the earliest possible time, the other may

not. Extensions of time are granted to parties for good reason and subsequently the standards 

cannot always be met.

The backlog measure is calculated by counting the number of matters still to be finalised 

(on hand) that have exceeded the time frames for finalisation set by the court. 

It is important to note the relevant workload data also shown, so that the "backlog" is viewed 

in the context of each jurisdiction’s annual workload.

2.5 The extent to which clients are satisfied with case processing services.

This indicator measures the level of client satisfaction with case processing services.

The survey is conducted bi-annually, through telephone and face-to-face interviews. 

The survey includes randomly selected members of the judiciary, legal practitioners and both civil

and criminal litigants across mainstream court services.

EFFICIENCY

2.6 Cost of case finalised.

This indicator measures the average cost of finalising a case within each jurisdiction.

The indicator is calculated by dividing the total cost of case processing services by the total

number of cases finalised within each jurisdiction.

Definitions :

• Case (criminal) - A matter with one defendant with one or more charges all with the same first

date of registration.

• Case (civil) - A matter commenced upon original filing of an originating process.

• Trial - In the Supreme, Family, District, Children’s and Magistrate’s courts, a trial is defined as

a formal defended proceeding before a judicial officer/s. Note that in criminal cases specifically,

a plea of guilty by the accused does not constitute a defended proceeding.

• Trial - In the Coroners Court is an inquest.

• Trial - In the Assessor of Criminal Injuries and Boards and Tribunals, a trial is defined as a case

that proceeds to the tribunal resulting from contested proceedings that involve the taking of

evidence and results in an order rendering the matter finalised as it relates to that tribunal.

• Trial - In the Guardianship and Administration Board is actually a Board Hearing.

• Finalised – The date the case is finally determined. There are numerous methods by which 

a case may be finalised including sentence, withdrawal of the case, settlement of the case,

delivery of the judgement by the court etc.

• Note that where no figures are shown against an indicator, the indicator was either not

previously reported or available.
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Notes:

1 The apparent reduction in case lodgements and finalisations is statistically correct, but does not reflect the fact that
more than 500 administrative-type cases were included in the 2000/01 lodgement and finalisation figures. Unlike the
normal type of civil case coming before the court, administrative cases require far less resources to resolve them than
normal cases (they do not, for instance, have the potential to go to trial). This circumstance is unusual and the
performance indicators should be considered in light of that fact.

2 Less cases were finalised than anticipated due to a combination of factors including, the court finalising more long-
running criminal cases than is usual in the December and March quarters, and the reduced availability of legal counsel
to attend this jurisdiction over others.

3 The overall reduction in cases finalised, causes an increase in the average cost per case.

CIVIL

2.1 Case finalisation ratio    

• Finalised before trial  

• Finalised by trial 

2.2 Average length of trials     

• Civil 

• Single judge appeal 

• Full court appeal 

2.3 Percentage of cases finalised within the standard of 78 weeks 

2.4 Backlog 

Additional case analysis information

• Cases received

• Cases finalised

• Cases still to be dealt with

CRIMINAL

2.1 Case finalisation ratio

• Finalised before trial

• Finalised by trial

2.2 Average length of trials 

• Criminal  

• Criminal appeal 

2.3 Percentage of cases finalised within the standard of 32 weeks 

2.4 Backlog

Additional case analysis information

• Cases received

• Cases finalised

• Cases still to be dealt with

2.6 Average cost per case finalised (criminal and civil combined)

    

91%

8%

     

3 days

0.3 days

0.5 days

91%

665

3626

2865

2807

43%

57%

4.3 days

0.4 days

80%

67

449

477

301

$3921

    

93%

7%

     

3 days

0.4 days

0.5 days

91%

947

3339

2381

3559

47%

53%

4 days

0.3 days

70%

125

418

385

323

$6641

    

6%

4 days

0.4 days

0.6 days

87%

2798

63%

5 days

0.4 days

80%

477

$5012

    

     

1

1

2

3

SUPREME COURT Actual
2000/01

Actual
2001/02

Target
2001/02

Notes
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Notes:

1 The target figure was based on new case-management guidelines being introduced incorporating a timeframe of 
50 weeks. The new system has not been implemented and the actual figure represents the result against the original
timeframe of 70 weeks.

2 Less cases were finalised than anticipated due to:
Reduced administrative capacity to follow up inactive cases (civil);
Reduced available judicial resources due to sick leave (civil and criminal); and
Increased average trial length (civil and criminal).

A reduction in cases finalised, causes an increase in the cost per case.

CIVIL

2.1 Case finalisation ratio

• Finalised before trial

• Finalised by trial

2.2 Average length of trials

2.3 Percentage of cases finalised within the standard of 70 weeks 

2.4 Backlog

Additional case analysis information

• Cases received

• Cases finalised

• Cases still to be dealt with

CRIMINAL

2.1 Case finalisation ratio

• Finalised before trial

• Finalised by trial

2.2 Average length of trials

2.3 Percentage of cases finalised within the standard of 52 weeks

2.4 Backlog

Additional case analysis information

• Cases received

• Cases finalised

• Cases still to be dealt with

2.6 Average cost per case finalised (criminal and civil combined) 

97%

3%

2.7 days

59%

1246

3847

4926

4427

78%

22%

2.5 days

75%

448

2944

3019

1604

$2208

95%

5%

3 days

69%

1322

3997

3742

4720

82%

18%

3 days

74%

425

3016

2987

1693

$3463

3%

3 days

50%

4400

21%

3 days

80%

3200

$2875

1

2

2

2

DISTRICT COURT Actual
2000/01

Actual
2001/02

Target
2001/02

Notes
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Notes:

1 The results are co-dependent as they relate to the distribution of a finite level of judicial resources across the three
case types.

2 The cost per case has increased predominantly due to expenditure on new computing technology to comply with
national systems.

CIVIL

2.1 Case finalisation ratio

• Finalised before trial

• Finalised by trial 

2.2 Average length of trials

• Direct track 

• Standard track 

2.3 Percentage of cases finalised within time standards

• Dissolutions (10 weeks)

• Direct track (26 weeks)

• Standard track (44 weeks)

2.4 Backlog

Additional case analysis information

• Cases received

• Cases finalised

• Cases still to be dealt with

2.6 Average cost per case finalised

96%

4%

0.5 days

2.5 days

82%

68%

25%

200

12976

12764

877

$601

95%

5%

0.3 days

1.7 days

67%

51%

34%

247

14454

13098

2233

$879

6.5%

0.7 days

2.4 days

83%

57%

30%

12500

$769

 

 

1

1

1

2

FAMILY COURT Actual
2000/01

Actual
2001/02

Target
2001/02

Notes
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CIVIL/CARE AND PROTECTION

2.1 Case finalisation ratio

• Finalised before trial

• Finalised by trial

2.2 Average length of trials

2.3 Percentage of cases finalised within the standard of 52 weeks

2.4 Backlog

Additional case analysis information

• Cases received

• Cases finalised

• Cases still to be dealt with

CRIMINAL

2.1 Case finalisation ratio

• Finalised before trial

• Finalised by trial

2.2 Average length of trials

2.3 Percentage of cases finalised within the standard of 26 weeks

2.4 Backlog

• Additional case analysis information

• Cases received

• Cases finalised

• Cases still to be dealt with

2.6 Average cost per case finalised (criminal and civil combined)

51%

49%

1.8 days

55%

54

277

260

202

81%

19%

0.6 days

95%

236

7790

7925

2046

$333

52%

48%

1.1 days

83%

59

336

329

193

84%

16%

0.6 days

91%

168

7709

8639

1571

$364

15%

2 days

85%

200

15%

0.5 days

92%

7300

$375

CHILDREN'S COURT Actual
2000/01

Actual
2001/02

Target
2001/02

Notes
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Note:

Cases received and finalised are below that anticipated due predominantly to a reduction in cases lodged by the
Australian Taxation Office.

CIVIL

2.1 Case finalisation ratio

• Finalised before trial

• Finalised by trial 

2.2 Average length of trials 

2.3 Percentage of cases finalised within the standard of 52 weeks

2.4 Backlog

Additional case analysis information

• Cases received

• Cases finalised

• Cases still to be dealt with

CRIMINAL

2.1 Case finalisation ratio

• Finalised before trial

• Finalised by trial 

2.2 Average length of trials 

2.3 Percentage of cases finalised within the standard of 26 weeks

2.4 Backlog

Additional case analysis information

• Cases received

• Cases finalised

• Cases still to be dealt with

2.6 Average cost per case finalised (criminal and civil combined)

93%

7%

0.3 days

90%

8191

43091

19270

43912

79%

21%

0.16 days

94%

5966

78039

82028

36976

$296

93%

7%

0.3 days

94%

8460

42899

17960

43958

78%

22%

0.2 days

93%

6968

83164

83158

38507

$393

9%

0.5 days

92%

20000

20%

0.2 days

92%

75000

$401

MAGISTRATES' COURT Actual
2000/01

Actual
2001/02

Target
2001/02

Notes

 

1

1
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Notes:

1 Relates to Perth Coroners Office only.

2 The drop in the number of cases finalised is due to one particular case proceeding for an extra-ordinary period of time.
This reduced the coroners availability to sit on other cases.

Note:

The reduction in timeliness and number of cases finalised results from a combination of reduced availability of board
members, and more complex cases coming before the board. (More complex cases require three board members to sit
simultaneously)

2.1 Case finalisation ratio

• Finalised before trial

• Finalised by trial

2.2 Average length of trials 

2.3 Percentage of cases finalised within the standard of 52 weeks

2.4 Backlog

Additional case analysis information

• Cases received

• Cases finalised

• Cases still to be dealt with

2.6 Average cost per case finalised

97%

3%

3 days

90%

156

2187

2115

711

$2608

97%

3%

3.6 days

92%

140

2038

1958

570

$2747

3%

2.9 days

93%

2200

$3016

 

1

2

CORONER'S COURT Actual
2000/01

Actual
2001/02

Target
2001/02

Notes

2.1 Case finalisation ratio

• Finalised before trial

• Finalised by trial

2.3 Percentage of cases finalised within the standard of 8 weeks

2.4 Backlog

Additional case analysis information

• Cases received

• Cases finalised

• Cases still to be dealt with

2.6 Average cost per case finalised

11%

89%

69%

82

1583

1501

261

$1317

13%

87%

59%

83

1522

1490

226

$1409

88%

75%

1700

$1458

1

1

GUARDIANSHIP BOARD Actual
2000/01

Actual
2001/02

Target
2001/02

Notes



D E P A R T M E N T  O F  J U S T I C E  •  A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 1 / 2 0 0 2

COURT SERVICES continued

KEY PERFORMANCE
INDICATORS

Page 94

Note:

Variable case numbers make actual results against targets subject to wide variations.

Notes:

1 A reduction in overall case throughput by the criminal injury assessors has reduced case finalisations and case
timeliness from those estimated and increased the number of cases on hand.

2 The actual cost shown does not include the cost of awards made for criminal injury compensation. When these 
are included ($10.8 m), the cost per case rises to $11396.

3 The variance in actual cost per case between 2000/2001 and 2001/2002 is predominantly due to the introduction 
of accrual appropriations.

CIVIL

2.1 Case finalisation ratio 

• Finalised before trial

• Finalised by trial

2.2 Average length of trials 

2.3 Percentage of cases finalised within the standard of 35 weeks 

2.4 Backlog

Additional case analysis information

• Cases received

• Cases finalised 

• Cases still to be dealt with

2.6 Average cost per case finalised

 

41%

59%

2.7 days

98%

5

52

51

10

$3766

 

36%

64%

1.5 days

85%

2

46

33

23

$13886

 

96%

1.6 days

100%

20

$12043

 

1

1

1

1

LIQUOR LICENSING COURT Actual
2000/01

Actual
2001/02

Target
2001/02

Notes

2.1 Case finalisation ratio

• Finalised before trial

• Finalised by trial

2.3 Percentage of cases finalised within the standard of 39 weeks

2.4 Backlog

Additional case analysis information 

• Cases received 

• Cases finalised

• Cases still to be dealt with

2.6 Average cost per case finalised

97%

3%

32%

656

 

1003

1416

1272

$639

97%

3%

24%

443

 

1118

1098

1293

$1527

5%

32%

 

1300

$872

1

1

 

1

1

2,3

ASSESSOR CRIMINAL INJURIES Actual
2000/01

Actual
2001/02

Target
2001/02

Notes
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OTHER TRIBUNALS AND BOARDS

2.1 Case finalisation ratio

• Finalised before trial

• Finalised by trial

2.3 Percentage of cases finalised within the standard of 52 weeks

2.4 Backlog

Additional case analysis information

• Cases received

• Cases finalised

• Cases still to be dealt with

27%

73%

98%

100

1596

1496

611

30%

70%

98%

215

1377

1461

527

80%

92%

1550

1

SMALL CLAIMS TRIBUNAL Actual
2000/01

Actual
2001/02

Target
2001/02

Notes

 2.1 Case finalisation ratio

• Finalised before trial

• Finalised by trial

2.3 Percentage of cases finalised within the standard of 52 weeks

2.4 Backlog

Additional case analysis information

• Cases received

• Cases finalised

• Cases still to be dealt with

97%

3%

96%

12

1509

1552

156

99%

1%

91%

19

1485

1519

154

4%

91%

1500

COMMERCIAL TRIBUNAL Actual
2000/01

Actual
2001/02

Target
2001/02

Notes

2.1 Case finalisation ratio

• Finalised before trial

• Finalised by trial

2.3 Percentage of cases finalised within the standard of 52 weeks

2.4 Backlog

Additional case analysis information

• Cases received

• Cases finalised

• Cases still to be dealt with

78%

22%

70%

10

36

23

40

76%

24%

77%

15

72

45

66

39%

80%

30

1

EQUAL OPPORTUNITY TRIBUNAL Actual
2000/01

Actual
2001/02

Target
2001/02
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Notes:

1 The optimistic targets were not achieved, predominantly as a result in a drop in cases received

2 Average cost now inclusive within general tribunals.

2.1 Case finalisation ratio

• Finalised before trial

• Finalised by trial

2.3 Percentage of cases finalised within the standard of 14 weeks

2.4 Backlog

Additional case analysis information

• Cases received

• Cases finalised

• Cases still to be dealt with

2.6 Average cost per case finalised
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2.5 Client Satisfaction with Case Processing Services.

Note:

Customer surveys are undertaken bi-annually.

KEY OUTPUT/SERVICE:
3. ENFORCEMENT OF CRIMINAL AND CIVIL COURT ORDERS.

Description:

This output relates to all resources and services provided by the Court Services division to enforce

orders handed down by a court.

It includes operational and support activities related to the effective and efficient enforcement 

of both criminal and civil court orders. These activities include the:

• Provision of infrastructure (eg accommodation, furniture and equipment) to enable

enforcement of orders;

• Provision of services to prepare, process, execute and monitor enforcement orders; and

• Monitoring and auditing of bailiff and sheriff activities.

This information shows how effectively and efficiently Court Services enforce court orders. The

output demonstrates, to the community and the judiciary, the practical application of enforcing

court orders so that both can have confidence in the enforcement process. 

There are differences between criminal and civil enforcement. Criminal enforcement is

administered and controlled by the courts by virtue of statute law. Civil enforcement is regulated

by the courts, but is otherwise a matter between litigants ie, the creditor determines how

vigorously they pursue the matter.

EFFECTIVENESS

3.1 Extent to which clients are satisfied with enforcement services.

This is a key indicator because it provides the community with an overall measurement of the

effectiveness of enforcement services. With effective enforcement services, a safe and orderly

community can be expected.

The survey is conducted bi-annually, through telephone and face-to-face interviews.

Survey clients are randomly selected Fines Enforcement Registry corporate clients, legal

practitioners and civil and criminal litigants.

Note:

Customer surveys are undertaken bi-annually.
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3.2 Percentage of fines satisfied by Fines Enforcement Registry (FER):

• Fines and costs (satisfied within 12 months and 24 months)

• Infringements (satisfied within 12 months and 24 months) 

This indicator measures the percentage of satisfied fines costs and infringements referred to 

FER by the courts and prosecuting authorities for enforcement within a timeframe. The Fines

Enforcement Registry is the courts’ major enforcement arm for the recovery of unpaid fines and

infringement notices. Satisfaction of the penalty can be by various methods including payment 

in full, sale of goods, community work and/or the serving of default penalties. 

This is a key indicator because it demonstrates to the community and judiciary that the

appropriate systems, procedures and resources are in place to enforce fines, costs and infringement

penalties in an expeditious and timely manner; and

It also demonstrates to the community that a court fine is a viable sentencing option.

The indicator is derived by measuring the rate, in percentage terms, for fines, costs and

infringements recovered within 0 and 12, and 0 and 24 months of lodgment with the Fines

Enforcement Registry.

EFFICIENCY

3.3 Average cost per order (criminal and civil).

This indicator measures the average cost associated with producing/actioning civil and criminal

orders in the various responsible jurisdictions, in the graph to the left.

This indicator is determined by dividing the cost of providing enforcement services within each

discrete jurisdiction by the number of orders produced/actioned for the financial year.

Note:

An incorrect allocation of expenditure between the enforcement and case processing outputs in the 2000/01 year 
(that also applied to the setting of cost targets) artificially deflated the 2000/01 actual and target costs.

Note:

Magistrates Courts order numbers did not reach target due to a reduction in case numbers. The reduction in numbers 
is a result of a change in the business practices of the Australian Taxation Office.
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KEY OUTPUT/SERVICE:

4. ADMINISTRATION OF VICTIM SUPPORT AND COUNSELLING
SERVICES.

Description:

The Victim Support Service and Coroner’s Office counselling service contribute to the outcome of

a safe and orderly community by supporting rights of victims of crime and bereaved people and

helping them to restore their well-being.

EFFECTIVENESS

4.1 The percentage of clients satisfied with victim support and counselling
services.

This indicator measures the level of client satisfaction with the range of services provided by the

Victim Support Service (VSS).

This is a key indicator because it provides a measure of satisfaction with the different levels of

service provided by the VSS. These services include counselling, court support, information and

assistance with victim impact statements and claims for criminal injury compensation. Although

expressed in quantitative terms (percentage of satisfaction) the survey is based on qualitative

information collected by independent consultants. 

The indicator is derived from a customer survey, administered by telephone, to victims of crime

who had received information, support or counselling from VSS during the financial year.

Note:

Customer surveys are undertaken bi-annually

4.2 The percentage of victims of crime responded to within 72 hours.

This indicator provides the community with a reasonable and acceptable time period/standard for

a response to a referral to the Victim Support Service and to demonstrate actual performance level.

This indicator is calculated by comparing the elapsed time between receipt of the referral and the

case officer’s first contact with the client, against the standard.
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EFFICIENCY

4.3 Cost per case to provide victim support and other counselling services.

This indicator measures the average cost of providing counselling services. 

This indicator is calculated by dividing the total cost of victim support and counselling services by

the total number of referrals received.

Note:

New police procedures requiring the consent of the victim before referrals can be made to VSS has had an impact on
referral numbers. Legislative amendments are planned to provide for the exchange of victim information between the
Police Service and VSS

Note:

New police procedures requiring the consent of the victim before referrals can be made to VSS has had an impact on
referral numbers. Legislative amendments are planned to provide for the exchange of victim information between the
Police Service and VSS.
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KEY OUTPUT/SERVICE:  
5 . LEGAL SERVICES

Inherent in a safe and orderly community is the integrity of the Government’s legal dealings, 

and provision of first-class legal advice to all Government agencies.

Description: 

The Crown Solicitor's Office provides a broad-based legal service to Government, its departments,

instrumentalities and agencies. This includes the conduct of litigation, the provision of legal

advice, representation as counsel in courts and tribunals and preparation of legal documents.

EFFECTIVENESS

5.1. The extent to which Government departments and agencies are
satisfied with the legal services provided, categorised by:

• Major clients; and
• Significant clients.

This indicator measures client satisfaction with the quality of legal services provided. 

It is measured by a client survey targeting chief executive officers (CEO) from Government

departments and agencies. Survey questions are forwarded in advance to CEOs and are followed 

by an interview conducted by the Crown Solicitor.

In 2001/2002, a total of 26 client agencies were surveyed. This consisted of: 

• Twenty (20) major client agencies. Major clients are those agencies which represent

approximately 77% of the chargeable work of the office over the year; 

• Six (6) client agencies of significance to Government. Signficance to Government is defined as

those agencies that did not qualify as "major clients" and includes "central agencies" and those

with important regulatory and commercial activities in Government; and

The total number of agencies surveyed represents approximately 82% of the chargeable work 

of the Crown Solicitor's Office.

The criteria used to assess satisfaction with service included:

• Technical quality of work;

• Relevance of information provided to client's needs; and

• Timeliness of information provided.

The results show the percentage of clients giving a rating of greater than 80% (ie ratings 

of good to excellent) and a rating of greater than 60% (ie ratings of satisfactory to excellent).
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TABLE 1: EXTENT TO WHICH MAJOR CLIENTS ARE SATISFIED WITH THE LEGAL SERVICES PROVIDED.

Note:

Survey results for 2001/02 were based on a total population size of 20 of which 20 client agencies were interviewed; in
2000/01 total population size = 20, of which 20 client agencies were interviewed; in 1999/00 total population size =
20, of which 20 client agencies were interviewed. 

TABLE 2: EXTENT TO WHICH SIGNIFICANT CLIENTS ARE SATISFIED WITH THE LEGAL SERVICES PROVIDED.

Note:

Survey results for 2001/02 were based on a total population size of 6, of which 6 clients were interviewed; results for
2000/01 were based on a total population size of 7, of which 7 client agencies were interviewed; results for 1999/00
were based on a total population size of 6, from which 6 client agencies were interviewed.

EFFICIENCY

5.2 Cost per matter.

This indicator measures the average cost of a legal matter. A matter is defined as an initiating

instruction from a client to provide legal services and includes work in progress. The services

include: the provision of legal advice, the conduct of litigation, representation as counsel in 

courts and tribunals and, the preparation of legal documents.

The cost of the matter is calculated by dividing the total cost of providing legal services by the

number of matters dealt with during the financial year. 

Note: 

The responsibility for the payment of awards of criminal injuries compensation and follow-up recovery was transferred 
to the Assessor’s Office from 1 January 2000, which caused a reduction in the number of matters for the subsequent
years including 2001/2002, which in turn caused an increase in the cost per matter.

Note: 

The responsibility for the payment of awards of criminal injuries compensation and follow-up recovery was transferred 
to the Assessor’s Office from 1 January 2000, which caused a reduction in the number of matters for subsequent years
including 2001/2002, which in turn caused a reduction in the number of matters dealt with.
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UNAUDITED PERFORMANCE INFORMATION FOR THE CROWN
SOLICITOR

Other Clients

The Crown Solicitor also surveys other clients for his own internal management purposes.

Five agencies from the balance of client agencies were randomly selected and chosen in the

presence of an independent auditor.

The results of this survey are as follows.

EXTENT TO WHICH ‘OTHER CLIENTS’ WERE SATISFIED WITH THE LEGAL SERVICES PROVIDED.
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KEY OUTPUT/SERVICE:
6. PREPARATION OF LEGISLATION

The Parliamentary Counsel is responsible for ensuring Government policies are put into
appropriate legislation in a timely manner, thereby contributing to a safe and orderly community.

As well as the preparation of legislation, the Parliamentary Counsel is also required to ensure the
public is given access to and information about existing legislation.

Description:

To prepare legislation for the Government of Western Australia and its departments and agencies
in order to give effect to the Government’s legislative program.

EFFECTIVENESS

6.1 Extent to which legislation was drafted in a timely manner to give
effect to Government’s legislative program.

To put Government policies into legislative form, the Government’s legislative program must be
met. This key indicator measures whether the program has been met by determining the extent to
which Cabinet authorities, for the preparation of legislation, have been completed according to the
priorities set out in the program.

The indicator represents the total number of Cabinet authorities of various priorities, for which
legislation was completed by the relevant cut-off dates in a parliamentary year, expressed as a
percentage of the total number of Cabinet authorities to which the legislative program relates.

This calculation excludes matters which were not completed on time due to circumstances 
beyond the control of the Parliamentary Counsel’s Office, such as:

• lack of action on the part of the instructing agency to progress a Bill; or

• deferral of a Bill by the instructing agency.

Note:

This indicator is reported on a calendar year basis to directly align performance to the parliamentary year, ie the
2001/02 figure represents the 2001 parliamentary year. A precise method of assessment is used under which the history
of each piece of priority legislation is analysed.

EFFICIENCY

6.2 Average cost per drafting service provided.

The average cost per drafting service is calculated by dividing the total cost of the office by 
the number of pages of bills, subsidiary legislation and reprinted texts produced by the office, 
on a financial year basis.

These results will vary from target and from one reporting period to another because of
fluctuations in demand for the preparation of legislation. These variations may obscure changes 
in efficiency.
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UNAUDITED PERFORMANCE INFORMATION

Extent to which clients are satisfied with drafting service.

It is currently not possible to measure the quality of the actual output of the office i.e. the

legislation it produces. In one sense, the quality of legislation in terms of its expression, style 

and presentation would depend on the particular likes and dislikes of different readers. In another

sense, its quality in terms of its effectiveness might not be able to be judged for many years to

come depending on how long it takes for all the various situations, that a piece of legislation 

is designed to deal with, to arise. 

Accordingly, the Parliamentary Counsel’s Office surveys a random selection of instructing agencies

for its own internal management purposes and uses this survey to measure quality in terms of 

the effectiveness of the interactive relationship it has with instructing agencies. This indicator is

derived from a customer target survey sent to all instructing officers involved in drafting tasks 

over a two-week period.

Note:

The period selected for the year 2001 was 6 to 10 August 2001 and 10 to 14 September 2001. 43 clients were surveyed
and 36 clients responded (83.72%).
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KEY OUTPUT/SERVICE:
7. ADULT OFFENDERS MANAGED

The custody, containment, care, well-being and rehabilitation of offenders, and their reintegration

into the community, is a critical element affecting the community’s sense of safety and security.

The quality and effectiveness of Western Australia’s prison system, and the rehabilitation programs

it offers, has a direct bearing on the perception of a safe and orderly community.

Description:

The custody, containment, care, well-being and rehabilitation of adult offenders and their

reintegration into and reparation to the community. This includes the provision of remedial

programs, further education and employment skills, sentencing reports, assessment reports

outlining an offender's suitability for release or their progress in the community to releasing

authorities such as the parole board, providing policy and advice and collaborating with other

agencies.

EFFECTIVENESS

7.1 Rate of re-offending.

The rate of re-offending is defined as the rate of return to the offender management system, 

by distinct1 adult offenders within two years following release from custody or termination 

of a community-based order. Changes in the rate of re-offending provide some indication of the

effectiveness of personal development activities and rehabilitation programs, but is also dependent

upon other factors such as sentencing legislation, changes in the nature of offences committed and

the rate at which community orders are breached for non-compliance.

Research has shown that offenders are most likely to re-offend within two years of their release

from corrective services. The two-year cut-off period is consistent with standards developed by 

all national correctional jurisdictions and the Industry Commission.

To be consistent with the national standards, the rate of re-offending excludes fine default

sentences, exits to and commencements of post-prison community-based orders, home

detention/community bail orders and work and development orders. 

Note:

Distinct offender means an offender is counted only once, even if the offender re-enters the system several times.
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7.2 Escape rate, by security rating:

• maximum

• medium (including low medium)

• minimum

This indicator measures the escape rate from custody, by security rating and transport vehicles. It

is a measure of the protection provided for the community through the provision of safe and secure

custodial systems. It is also indicative of the application of effective management and assessment

policies and practices.

The indicator is derived by calculating the number of escapes by security rating as a percentage of

the daily average population.

Note:

Significant decrease in the escape rate during this period reflects the successful implementation of strategies to address
security and care and well being issues (e.g. Christmas period: Security improvements together with prisoner visitation
program and Christmas period activities).

7.3 Successful releases from custody at their earliest possible release date.

This indicator measures the proportion of adult offenders released from custody at their earliest

possible release date. This provides an indication that, within custody, offenders are adopting a 

law-abiding lifestyle and is also indicative of the application of effective management policies

and practices.

The indicator is derived by calculating the proportion of adult offenders released at their earliest

possible release date and incurring no additional sentences due to behaviour while in custody 

or no loss of remission, as a proportion of all total exits of sentenced offenders.

7.4 Successful completion of community corrections orders.

Orders having run their full course without breach action finalised or pending. 

Types of community corrections orders include:

• Intensive supervision;

• community-based;

• Parole;

• Work release;

• Home detention prison;

• Home detention bail; and

• Work and development orders.
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This provides an indication of the completion rate of community corrections orders and 

an offender’s responsible and law-abiding behaviour. 

The indicator is derived by calculating the number of orders completed as a proportion 

of all orders validly terminated, completed or expired.

Intensive Supervision and Community-Based Orders were established as a result of the Sentencing

Act in 1996 to replace Probation and Community Service Orders. The completion rates are

dependent upon the rate at which offenders are breached for non-compliance to the conditions 

of their orders. 

EFFICIENCY

7.5 Cost per day of keeping an offender in custody.

This indicator measures the unit cost of managing adult offenders in custody. It is calculated 

by dividing the total cost of managing adults in custody by the daily average population.

Note: 

Increase in gross cost generally due to capital user charge being introduced, Acacia Prison operating for a full year on
contract and a material fall in prisoner numbers during the year.

Note:

In line with decreasing rates of imprisonment and the reduction in imprisonment strategies, the daily average prisoner
population decreased 6% from 3,117 to 2,923 in 2001/02. In contrast, the average total number of people serving
community corrections orders increased 10.6%, reflecting the shift occurring within WA’s justice system from sanctions
of imprisonment to sanctions of community-based orders.
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7.6 Cost per day of managing an offender through community supervision.

This indicator measures the unit cost of managing an adult offender through community

supervision. It is calculated by dividing the total cost of managing an adult offender through

community supervision by the daily average number of offenders supervised.

Note:

The actual cost per day of managing an adult offender through community supervision for 1999/00 and thereafter does
not include the costs for the Release Planning Unit, Central Law Courts and Victim Mediation Unit as their functions do
not relate to the supervision of adult offenders.

The operational costs have increased due to the employment of additional 22 community corrections staff (full-time
equivalents) and the introduction of the capital used charge.

Operational costs have not changed other than an increase in additional staff of 22 FTEs. Changes

in the accrual accounting practice across the Department resulted in a significant increase in the

cost of managing adult offenders.

Note:

The increased number of adult offenders on community corrections orders has been due to decisions of sentencing and
releasing authorities. There have been no relevant changes to legislation or policy pertaining to these offenders.

1999/00 2001/022000/01 Target
2001/02

$0

$3

$6

$9

$12

$15

$1
1.

76

$1
2.

03

$1
3.

90

$1
1

COST PER DAY OF MANAGING 
AN OFFENDER THROUGH 

COMMUNITY SUPERVISION

1999/00 Target
2001/02

2000/01 2001/02
0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

6,000

4,
21

5

4,
85

2

5,
35

8

5,
80

0

AVERAGE TOTAL NUMBER 
OF PERSONS ON 

COMMUNITY-BASED ORDERS



D E P A R T M E N T  O F  J U S T I C E  •  A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 1 / 2 0 0 2

JUVENILE OFFENDERS MANAGED

KEY PERFORMANCE
INDICATORS

Page 110

KEY OUTPUT/SERVICE:
8. JUVENILE OFFENDERS MANAGED

Description:

Juvenile offenders are managed in detention and in the community to fulfil the orders of the

courts and through diversion from court programs. Juveniles participate in remedial, educational

and rehabilitation programs that address their offending behaviour.

EFFECTIVENESS

8.1 Rate of return to detention.

The rate of return to detention is defined as the percentage of distinct1 juvenile offenders 

returning to sentenced detention within two years following release from sentenced custody 

during the financial year two years ago. 

This is a key indicator because changes in the rate of return to detention can reflect the

effectiveness of personal development activities and rehabilitation programs. The rate of return 

to detention is also dependent upon other factors such as sentencing legislation, changes in the

nature of offences committed and the rate at which offenders on community orders are breached

for non-compliance.

Note:

Distinct offender means that an offender is counted only once, even if the offender re-enters the system several times.

8.2 Escape rate.

This indicator measures the escape rate from all juvenile detention centres. It is a measure of the

protection provided for the community through the provision of safe and secure custodial systems.

It is also indicative of the application of effective management and assessment policies and

practices.

This indicator is derived by calculating the number of escapes as a percentage of the daily 

average population. 

Note:

Total escapes as a percentage of daily average population reported according to adult correctional national standards.

8.3 Successful releases from detention.

This indicator measures the proportion of juvenile offenders released from detention at their

earliest possible release date. This provides an indication that offenders are adopting a law-abiding

lifestyle and is also indicative of the application of effective management policies, practices and

programs.

It is derived by calculating the number of juvenile offenders released at their earliest possible

release date and incurring no additional sentences due to behaviour while in custody, as a

proportion of all releases from custody.
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8.4 Successful completion of community corrections orders. 

Orders having run their full course without breach action finalised or pending. 

Types of community corrections orders include:

• Youth community-based;

• Intensive youth supervision;

• Intensive youth supervision (with detention); and

• Supervised release orders.

This provides an indication of the completion rate of community corrections orders and an

offender’s responsible and law-abiding behaviour. 

The indicator is derived by calculating the number of orders successfully completed as a proportion

of all orders validly terminated, completed or expired. The rate is also dependent upon the rate at

which offenders are breached for non-compliance to the conditions of their orders.

8.5 Juvenile Justice Team - action plans completed. 

An action plan is a contract established by a Juvenile Justice Team and requires a young person to

do certain things to make up for an offence. For example, a young person who has graffitied a wall

may be on an action plan that requires them to repaint the wall. The action plan has a due date on

it, which specifies when the plan needs to be finalised.

The co-ordinator of the Juvenile Justice Team is required to record the outcomes of each referral.

The referring authority (i.e. the court or police) is advised in writing when an action plan is either

successfully completed or not completed. Juvenile Justice Teams attempt to encourage and support

young people to complete their action plan, the matter only becoming a "failed action plan" when

the young person fails to comply.

The Juvenile Justice Teams are a pre-court diversionary program aimed at ensuring minor offences

are dealt with in a manner commensurate with the offence and in a way that ensures young people

are not drawn into the formal justice system unnecessarily. 
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EFFICIENCY

8.6 Cost per day of keeping a juvenile offender in detention.

This indicator measures the unit cost of managing a juvenile offender in detention. It is calculated

by dividing the total cost of managing a juvenile offender in detention by the daily average

population.

Note:

The increase in the cost per day is primarily due to the introduction of Capital User Charge.

Note:

An increased focus on diversion has maintained the level of the juvenile daily average population over the 
past two years.

8.7 Cost per day of managing a juvenile offender through community
supervision.

This indicator measures the unit cost of managing a juvenile offender through community

supervision. It is calculated by dividing the total cost of managing a juvenile offender through

community supervision by the daily average number of offenders supervised.

Note:

Changes in the accrual accounting practice across the Department have resulted in a significant increase in the cost 
of managing juvenile offenders.

The increase in the cost per day is primarily due to the introduction of capital user charge.

Note:

Excludes action plans
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KEY OUTPUT/SERVICE:

9. ADVOCACY AND GUARDIANSHIP SERVICES

The Office of the Public Advocate contributes to maintaining a safe and orderly community by

protecting the rights of adults with reduced decision-making abilities, and reducing the incidence

of risk, neglect, and exploitation. The Public Advocate also represents and advances the best

interests of people with decision-making disabilities both at hearings for the appointment 

of a Guardian and in the community. 

Description:

To advocate for the best interests of people with decision-making disabilities, both at hearings 

of the Guardianship and Administration Board to decide the need for a Guardian and/or

Administrator and in the community and to investigate complaints of allegations of abuse,

exploitation or neglect. To act as Guardian when appointed by the Guardianship and

Administration Board.

EFFECTIVENESS

9.1 The proportion of customers provided with advocacy relative to the
number of people in need of service.

This indicator measures the ability to service clients requiring advocacy and is a key indicator

because it shows the extent to which the Office protects the rights of adults with decision-making

disabilities and reduces the risk of neglect, exploitation or abuse. This measure demonstrates the

extent to which the Office upholds the rights and dignity of those most vulnerable. The more

customers provided with advocacy services the more the customers are protected.

The Deputy Public Advocate and the Senior Investigator identify and prioritise applications

requiring advocacy. The highest priority cases are then allocated to guardians and investigators 

and the rest are placed on a waitlist.

The indicator is derived by dividing the number of cases provided with advocacy, by the number 

of cases identified as requiring advocacy. The identification for the need for advocacy is undertaken

by the Office of the Public Advocate. All applications that are provided to the Office of the Public

Advocate have been assessed for the need for advocacy.

Note:

With the trend of increasing demand for both advocacy and guardianship services, the office gives priority 
to guardianship services. This results in a decreased ability to provide advocacy services.
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9.2 The extent to which advocacy service recommendations are accepted
by the Guardianship and Administration Board.

This indicator measures the extent to which the advocacy service meets the needs of people with

decision-making disabilities in determining their best interests. 

Guardians and investigators advocate on behalf of proposed represented people or represented

people, by providing comprehensive information and recommendations to the Guardianship and

Administration Board. This enables the board to make an informed decision in the proposed

represented person’s best interests. 

A key measure of the success of advocacy is the acceptance of the office's recommendations because

recommendations are based on "best interest" principles enshrined in the Guardianship and

Administration Act.

The proportion of advocacy recommendations accepted by the Guardianship and Administration

Board in 2001/02 is higher than previous years. The office has exceeded the target set for 2001/02.

Effectiveness

9.3 The extent to which the problem precipitating the need for the Public
Advocate to be appointed as Guardian of Last Resort has been
resolved.

This measures the extent to which the Office provided appropriate guardianship services when

appointed to do so.

The Public Advocate is appointed by the Guardianship and Administration Board as Guardian of

Last Resort when it is considered necessary and where no one else is suitable or available to take 

on the role of substitute decision-maker on behalf of a person with a decision-making disability.

The outcome of cases, for which the Public Advocate is appointed Guardian of Last Resort (GLR),

is measured by the success in ensuring as much autonomy and respect for the wishes of the

proposed represented person as possible. Resolutions of problems range from protecting the

represented person from neglect, abuse or exploitation, resolving conflict over major lifestyle

decisions and providing legal consent.

This is derived by dividing the number of resolved Guardian of Last Resort cases resolved by the

total number of GLR cases, excluding those cases where the person died during the review period.

Resolution occurs when the Public Advocate’s guardianship services helped to resolve the problem

prompting the initial application.
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9.4 Guardian of Last Resort appointments allocated within 1 working day.

This indicator measures how quickly the office is in allocating a guardian to a represented person

in order to make decisions on their behalf and protect them from neglect, abuse or exploitation. 

A guardian is appointed only when considered necessary, and when there is no one else suitable 

or available to take on this role.

This indicator is based on the office’s best practice to ensure the needs of the represented person 

is met immediately.

This indicator is derived by dividing the number of guardianship cases allocated within one day 

by the total number of guardianship cases allocated to guardians.

EFFICIENCY

9.5 Average cost per case of providing advocacy and guardianship services.

This indicator measures the cost per case of providing advocacy and guardianship services 

on behalf of people with decision-making disabilities.

This indicator is calculated by dividing the total number of advocacy and guardianship output

units by the total accrual cost of providing the service.
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UNAUDITED PERFORMANCE INDICATOR

9.6 Percentage of Advocacy cases completed within eight weeks.

This indicator measures the ability to complete advocacy cases within eight weeks of being

allocated. It measures the promptness that a guardian or investigator can represent and advance

the best interest of people with a decision-making disability who cannot represent or advocate 

for themselves to assure their own best interests. 

This measure is based in the Guardianship and Administration Board’s best practice of finalising 

a matter within eight weeks from receipt of the application to the hearing.

This indicator is derived by dividing the number of advocacy cases completed within eight weeks 

by the total number of advocacy cases allocated.

The office uses the Guardianship and Administration Board’s benchmark of eight weeks; however,

there has been an increasing number of cases of high complexity and delays in the Guardianship

and Administration Board’s scheduling of hearings, which are beyond this office’s control. These

factors have contributed to the low result, against the target of 78%.

Note:

Please note that the result of 61% is based on quarter 3 results due to unavailability of data as a result of database
changeover. 

This PI is unauditable for 2001/02.
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OUTCOME: 

EQUITABLE ACCESS TO TRUSTEE SERVICES FOR ALL WESTERN
AUSTRALIANS

Equitable access to trustee services for all Western Australians is a crucial element in maintaining

an orderly environment, and is the responsibility of the Public Trust Office.

The Public Trustee is a statutory authority within the provisions of the Financial Administration 

and Audit Act. The Public Trustee provides a funds management and investment service through

the operations of the Common Fund, an at-call investment facility that is backed by the State, 

and acts as trustee or financial administrator pursuant to the orders of courts or tribunals. It also

administers the estates of people who die with or without a will, in accordance with the terms of

the will or the relevant law and under the authority of the Supreme Court.

The Public Trustee offers a high quality, personalised trustee services to meet the needs 

of all sectors of the Western Australian community.

"Trustee Services" includes:

• Administering estates of people who die with or without a will (Estate Administration);

• Managing the financial affairs of people who are unable to manage their financial affairs 

or for people seeking assistance (Trust Management); and

• Preparing wills and powers of attorney for people who wish to appoint the Public Trustee 

as their executor or agent (Wills).

These services are available to all Western Australians irrespective of profitability or complexity.

Key Performance Indicators have been selected to measure the office’s effectiveness and efficiency

in fulfilling the duties of the Public Trustee Act.
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KEY OUTPUT/SERVICE:
10. TRUSTEE SERVICES

Description:

• Administering estates of people who die with or without a will (Estate Administration);

• Managing the financial affairs of people who are unable to manage their financial affairs 

or for people seeking assistance (Trust Management); and

• Preparing wills and powers of attorney for people who wish to appoint the Public Trustee 

as their executor or agent (Wills).

EFFECTIVENESS

10.1 Extent to which trustee services meets the needs of clients.

This indicator measures the level of client satisfaction with the quality of trustee services provided.

This year Patterson Market Research was engaged again to conduct a telephone survey among 

a random sample of the Public Trustee client base. The sample client base parameters consisted 

of (a) clients who were aged between 18 and 80 years; (b) clients who had an account that was

current during the 2001/02 financial year; and (c) clients who were capable of making meaningful

comment - ie. those who were known not to be suffering from dementia or in a comatose state etc.

Based on the above definition, a random sample of 981 clients was generated. These represented 

a cross-section of clients who use the various trustee services provided by the Public Trustee.

Notes:

1. The survey covered several criteria of customer satisfaction, including aspects of reliability and customer service
attributes. Of these a decline was experienced in both measures to the previous financial year.

2. External consultants once again conducted the survey for 2001/02. A total of 401 clients responded to the survey,
yielding a sampling error of +/-4.9% at 95% confidence. This is comparable with previous year’s market research
accuracy figures. The response rate in 2001/02 was 40.9%, which is an improvement of 11.4% from 2000/01. 
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10.2 Number of estates relative to the number of adult (18 years and over)
deaths in Western Australia.

This indicator measures the Public Trust Office's performance in the market in order to monitor 

its success in providing an estate administration service for all Western Australians.

The Public Trustee administers estates regardless of whether it is appointed executor or not. Some

estates may not require formal administration but still require work to be undertaken so that

assets are registered in the survivor or beneficiaries names, eg joint assets, nominal bank accounts.

The indicator represents the number of estates/deaths reported as a percentage of the number 

of adult deaths in Western Australia . 

In 2001/02, 1,642 estates were referred to the office. 15% of all estates of people who died in

2001/02 were referred to the Public Trustee either as executor of the estate or the beneficiaries 

of the estate sought the assistance of the office. The office aimed to reach a target of 19%.

Note:

The reduction in deceased estates referred can be attributed to the increasing number of solicitors or private persons
being appointed executor of an estate. 

10.3 Extent to which the Public Trustee maintains a market share in
drawing wills naming the Public Trustee as executor.

This indicator measures the Public Trust Office's performance in the market in order to monitor 

its success in providing a will preparation service for all Western Australians. 

The Public Trustee operates in a commercial environment offering services which can be provided

by any number of professional service providers.

This indicator represents the number of people who died during the year who had a will prepared

naming the Public Trustee as executor and is shown as a percentage of the total number of adult

deaths in Western Australia. 

In 2001/02, the Public Trustee administered 1432 estates naming the Public Trustee as executor.

The Public Trustee’s market share for this period is 13%.

Note:

The reduction in market share is directly attributable to the increasing numbers of estates being administered by
solicitors and private people. It has become an increasing trend for clients to select alternative forms of executorship
thereby reducing the numbers of referred estates for administration.
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10.4 Percentage of estates finalised within 12 months of being reported.

This indicator provides a measure of success, from a client's perspective, of the average time taken

to administer an estate.

In contrast to previous years, this year has seen a change in methodology as a result of the

introduction of the new corporate application software. For the first six months, the methodology

remained unchanged. This indicator now measures the actual file closure date rather that the final

payment date. 

Issues such as life interests, taxation, family disputes and testator family maintenance actions

contribute to the time taken to close an estate and these are outside the control of the Public 

Trust Office. 

The average time taken to complete an estate, if completed within 12 months, was 7.97 months,

based on the date of final completion.

EFFICIENCY

10.5 Cost per trust managed.

This indicator measures the cost of managing a trust. It is calculated by dividing the total cost 

of providing trust management services by the number of trusts under management.

This indicator is presented in an index format. The base year of 1994/95 was set at 100.
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10.6 Cost per deceased estate administered and cost per will prepared.

The deceased estate administration service comprises two main cost areas. The indicator has been

separated to provide a clear indication of the costs involved. 

This indicator is presented in an index format. The base index of 100 was set in 1994/95.

Note:

The lower than expected result is attributed to the carryover relating to the Efficiency and Service Improvement
program.
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KEY OUTPUT/SERVICE:
11. REGISTRATION SERVICES

The security, integrity and preservation of birth, death and marriage records is an essential

component of an orderly community.

Description:

Creates and ensures permanent storage of birth, death and marriage records enabling members of

the public to obtain documentary proof of these key life events for legal, personal and historical

purposes and for approved organisations to obtain authorised information for research and records.

EFFECTIVENESS 

11.1 Extent to which source birth, death and marriage information is
recorded error-free.

This indicator measures the percentage of new births, deaths and marriages that were accurately

recorded by the registry but does not include incorrect source information provided by customers.

This is a key performance indicator because the registry is the creator and custodian of vital

records and the public must have confidence that records are accurate and reliable. 

There is immediate feedback on whether an error has been made on death registrations, as a

certificate is always needed for estate settlement. However, errors made on birth or marriage

certificates may not be immediately detected, as these certificates may not be requested for many

years after registration. As the processes for recording births, deaths and marriages are identical;

the number of errors in death registrations is considered representative of all three registration

types. 

On 26 November 2001, the registry replaced its old computer system with one known as

WARS2000. Prior to then, data for this indicator was collected manually. Subsequently, data 

has been collected electronically.

In the manual system when an error was detected, the Registrar gave written authorisation to

correct it. The indicator was calculated by totalling the number of accurate death registrations 

for the year, dividing by the total number of deaths registered for the year, and expressing the

result as a percentage. 

WARS2000 counts the number of death registrations corrected as a result of staff data entry 

errors and divides this count by the total number of deaths registered for the year. The result 

(i.e. erroneous registrations) is expressed as a percentage. The percentage of death registrations 

for the year that were not corrected is displayed to the left. 

The data in the table is an aggregate of the performance information collected under both the

manual system and WARS2000.
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EFFICIENCY

11.2 Average cost of creating, maintaining, issuing information from and
storing each record.

The registry has maintained a database of birth, death and marriage records since its establishment

in 1841. These are either in paper registers, on microfilm or on computer. This indicator measures

the unit cost of creating, amending, issuing information from and storing records indefinitely.

To obtain this measure, the total cost of providing registration services is divided by the total

number of registration services provided plus the number of records in the database.

Since the implementation of WARS2000, the total number of registration services has been

collected electronically as work is processed, rather than manually, and after the event, as was 

the case pre WARS2000.

The data in the accompanying graph is an aggregate of the performance information collected

under both the manual system and the new computer system.

Notes:

1. The reason for the increase from 1999/00 to 2000/01 is that significant expenditure was incurred in development 
of a replacement birth death & marriage registration system, known as WARS2000.

2. Actual result for 2001/02 was 5% under target cost due to the delay in implementation of the next phase of WARS2000.
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KEY OUTPUT/SERVICE:
12. CIVIL MARRIAGES

This output contributes to an orderly community by offering marriage services performed 

in accordance with the Marriage Act 1961 (Commonwealth).

Description:

The provision of facilities for the conduct of marriage in a registry office as an alternative 

to marriage by other celebrants.

EFFECTIVENESS 

12.1 The extent to which the registry is providing an alternative to marriage
by a minister of religion or other civil celebrant.

This indicator identifies the percentage of couples married in Western Australia who prefer their

ceremony to be performed in a registry office rather than a church or private venue.

It is a key performance indicator because it measures the extent to which the registry is providing

an alternative ceremony and venue. The registry’s objective is not to generate market share or to

be competing with other marriage arrangements. It exists only to provide an alternative marriage

ceremony.

It is calculated by dividing the number of marriages performed in all district registrar's offices 

by the total number of marriages performed by all types of celebrants and expressing the result 

as a percentage.

Data for the calculation of this indicator has been collected electronically in both the old and new

computer systems used by the registry.

Notes:

Actual numbers:

1999/00 Marriages registered 10741 Registry ceremonies 826 

2000/01 Marriages registered 10256 Registry ceremonies 811

2001/02 Marriages registered 9708 Registry ceremonies 824
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EFFICIENCY 

12.2 Average cost per marriage performed.

This indicator provides a unit cost of performing each marriage in the Perth registry. Regional

registrars rarely perform marriages and the office does not bear any costs associated with registry

work in outstations. 

The total cost of providing civil marriage services is divided by the number of marriages

performed. The number of marriages performed has been extracted from the Registry’s computer

database in both systems used during the year. Costs vary from year-to-year mainly as a result 

of demand.

Notes:

1. Cost per marriage can vary considerably from year to year simply because of the relatively small number of marriages
performed (i.e. small variation in the numbers can have a disproportionate effect on the P.I. figure). Corporate service
& other accrual costs changes which are not within the control of the registry can similarly affect the P.I. outcome. 
A reduction in the number of marriages performed in the registry and an increase in corporate service costs account 
for the increase in unit cost in 1999/00

2. Actual result for 2001/02 was 16% under target costs due to lower than anticipated corporate service costs.
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UNAUDITED PERFORMANCE INFORMATION: 

REGISTRY OF BIRTHS, DEATHS & MARRIAGES

Output11: Registration Services

Extent to which registration services meet the needs of customers.

This indicator measures the percentage of registration services customers who believe their needs

are being met. The vision of the Registry of Births, Deaths and Marriages is to be a progressive,

customer-focussed organisation that provides value-for-money products and services. The registry

assesses its performance through a customer survey, conducted annually by randomly selecting

clients.

Clients are requested to provide feedback on the quality of the registry’s services, as measured

through the timeliness, accuracy, security and accessibility of staff, facilities, products and services,

and to indicate the extent to which these factors are important to them.

During 2001/02, 1823 randomly selected customers, out of approximately 121,500 customers,

were surveyed by mail. The response rate was 15%.

The survey methodology is consistent with that used in previous years.

Note:

2001/02 performance was affected whilst the registry adapted to the implementation of a new computerised
registration system (WARS2000).

Extent to which registration and certificate services are provided within time standards.

This indicator measures the percentage of births, deaths and marriages registered within a specific

time from receipt of the relevant notification form, as well as the percentage of certificates issued

within a specific time from receipt of an application form. These performance indicators provide an

insight into the registry’s capacity to satisfy the public's need for official and timely evidence of

personally important events. 

For registration services, the time standards for registering new births, deaths and marriages are

four days, three days and six days respectively.

For certificate services, the indicator measures the percentage of documents issued from the Perth

registry within two days of request.

Pre WARS2000, the indicator for registration services was derived manually from a random

sample of source information forms taken on specified days of the month and by comparing the

receipt and registration dates. The sample taken was: 100 of approx. 2,000 births per month; 

50 of approx. 1,000 deaths per month; and 50 of approx. 1,000 marriages per month. 

For certificate services, the indicator was also obtained manually by sampling application-in and

certificate-out data over six days in a month for mail applications, and by recording results every

day for faxed and in-person applications.

Since 26 November 2001, the indicator has been derived from the Registry’s new computer

system, which keeps track of the date a customer’s service request was received and the date the

service to be provided was completed. It then calculates the percentage of services that were

provided within the abovementioned time standards.
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The data in the accompanying graph is an aggregate of the performance information collected

under both the manual system and the new computer system.

Notes:

1. Time standards include:
• Births registered – four days
• Deaths registered – three days
• Marriages registered – six days
• Perth issued certificates – two days

2. Death registrations are always given first priority with staff resources and work scheduling.

3. 2001/02 performance was affected whilst the registry adapted to the implementation of a new births, deaths 
& marriages registration system.

Extent to which confidentiality (privacy) of the records is preserved.

This indicator records the extent to which the registry keeps the personal records of individuals

private, that is, the extent to which proper discretion is exercised in the release of information.

This is a key performance indicator because it allows the public to assess the degree of risk

involved in the registry improperly releasing private information.

The ratio of complaints about such improper (mistaken or unauthorised) release of information 

to the total number of documents issued is expressed as a percentage.

On 26 November 2001, the registry replaced its old computer system with one known as

WARS2000. Prior to this date, data was collected manually. Subsequently, data has been collected

electronically.

In the manual system all complaints were recorded and tallied. The number of documents issued

was ascertained from daily cash register receipts and a record of interfax applications received from

outstations.

Since 26 November 2001, customer complaints have been recorded in the registry’s computer

system and compared to the total number of electronically counted information issues to give a

percentage of incorrectly issued documents. The table below shows the opposite of that number,

i.e. the percentage of correctly issued documents.

The data is an aggregate of the performance information collected under both the manual system

and WARS2000 computer system.
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Output 12: Civil Marriages

Extent to which marriage services meet the needs of customers.

This indicator measures the percentage of customers who believe their needs are being met by 

the range of marriage services provided. As feedback is essential to ensure that quality marriage

services are being provided, the registry assesses its performance through a customer survey.

Clients are requested to provide feedback on the quality of the registry’s services as measured

through the timeliness, accuracy, security and accessibility of staff, facilities, products and services

and to indicate the extent to which these factors are important to them.

In 2001/02, some 817 Perth registry marriages were registered, all couples were surveyed and

10% responded. 

The survey methodology is consistent with that used in previous years.

u n a u d i t e d  p e r f o r m a n c e  i n f o r m a t i o n
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KEY OUTPUT/SERVICE:
13. SUPPORT TO OTHER GOVERNMENT AGENCIES

The Department’s total costs in 2001/02 were $560 million. This included 5.01 million (2000/01

2.66 million ) for services provided to other public agencies and payments made on behalf of the

State (e.g. the payment of copyright fees on behalf of all public sector agencies). These costs do not

relate to the outputs of the Department. Therefore in calculating the efficiency indicators for each

output, these costs have been excluded in order to fairly represent the cost of providing justice

services.
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KEY OUTPUT/SERVICE:
14. LEGAL AID ASSISTANCE

The hallmark of a safe and orderly community is that every community member should have

access to legal representation.

This contributes to an orderly community by ensuring that the community and target groups 

are provided with quality legal services. Legal advice, duty lawyer services and community legal

education helps the wider community access fair solutions to legal problems at the earliest

opportunity.

Services are provided through Legal Aid to ensure:

"The community and target groups have access to, and are provided quality legal services."

This outcome is achieved through the provision of a range of services designed to meet the

different needs of the community and specific target groups.

Services include:

• general information and advice to the community, for example, via a telephone information

service, or where necessary, via a duty lawyer service

• legal assistance, for example, offering self-help advice to clients to help them resolve a legal

problem, or providing an out-reach preliminary consultation service, and

• legal representation, where in special circumstances and when no other solution is considered

appropriate, a person may be recognised as in need of assistance.

The form and extent of assistance provided through Legal Aid is regulated by policies and

procedures relating to client’s means, the nature and seriousness of their legal problem and 

the availability of resources.

The following performance indicators have been provided by Legal Aid and are reported within

the Commission’s separate report to Parliament. The two key aspects of the outcome sought by

Legal Aid as a result of the services provided are "access to legal services" and "service quality".

The purpose of reporting the following performance indicators is to enable Government and the

community to monitor the effectiveness and efficiency of Legal Aid WA in achieving its agreed

outcomes.

14.1 The extent to which legal services are accessible to the general
community and target groups.

Access to legal services is measured by Legal Aid in terms of:

• the extent to which legal services are made available to the general community and 

to target groups

• the extent to which the general community and target groups us the available services.
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The outcome of services provided through Legal Aid is to ensure the community and target groups

have access to, and are provided, quality legal services.

* Figures based on population estimates at December 2001, 2000, 1999 and 1998 respectively (source:ABS)

Explanatory notes for effectiveness indicators

1. Services where no eligibility criteria apply to regulate access include telephone information
services, community education services, and duty lawyer services.

2. Applicants for a grant of aid must satisfy certain criteria. 

3. In areas of family law only, some applicants are assisted via a grant of aid to pursue 
a resolution through nonlitigation options.

4. Telephone information and community education services include telephone information
service both in Perth metropolitan and regional areas, policy advicesessions, community legal
education and training, face-to-face consultation, and Family Court information services.

5. Legal advice services include minor assistance where a solicitor or paralegal (under the supervision
of a solicitor) provides personal assistance of up to three hours in drafting negotiation letters, applications and
court documentation in most areas of law for non complex matters.

6. Figures for legal representation services represent the number of cases where legal representation
is supplied. A case is defined as an application for aid where a grant has been made.

TO INDICATE THE EXTENT TO WHICH LEGAL SERVICES ARE
ACCESSIBLE TO THE GENERAL COMMUNITY AND TARGET
GROUPS

The extent to which legal services are made available to the
general community and to target groups (based on occasions 
of service)

Community Services

percentage of all services where no eligibility restrictions apply
to regulate access1

Target Group Services

applications approved for a grant of aid as a percentage of all
applications received2

applications approved for a grant of aid to pursue non litigation
resolution as a percentage of all grants of aid approved (family
law only)3

The extent to which the general community and target groups
use the available services (based on occasions of service/1000
pop.*)

Community Services

usage rate for telephone information and community education
services4

usage rate for duty lawyer services

Target Group Services

usage rate for legal advice services5

usage rate for legal representation services6
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14.2 Percentage of clients satisfied with service provided

The quality of legal services is measured by Legal Aid in terms of client satisfaction with particular

aspects of service delivery, for example the effect the assistance had in helping them understand

their legal situation, and how well they believed the lawyer represented them in court.

TECHNICAL NOTES FOR EFFECTIVENESS INDICATORS

Survey methodology

Where possible, the surveys were designed to allow meaningful comparisons to be made to the

most recent family law customer satisfaction surveys, which were conducted for inclusion in the

1999 2000 Annual Report.

Questionnaire

The questionnaires were designed to balance the conflicting needs of maintaining compatibility

with previous years’ surveys and improving the questionnaire structure. This year’s surveys were

heavily based on those used in previous years. One area in which the questionnaires were changed

substantially was replacing four-point scales of satisfaction with five-point scales (with 1 being very

negative responses, and 5 being very positive). This is more in line with the requirements and is

the recommended approach. This was the first year that the website users survey was run.

Therefore there is no issue of maintaining comparability with previous surveys. This survey was

targeting agencies rather than individuals, so the questions were developed to reflect this target.

Legal Aid WA drafted a questionnaire which was modified where appropriate by Data Analysis

Australia with the agreement of Legal Aid WA.

Survey population

The target population for the Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR) Family Conferencing

Program survey is those clients who entered the ADR Family Conferencing Program between 

1 July 2001 and 30 April 2002, and who have attended a conference. It is possible that a small

number of clients have been accepted into the ADR program but have not yet had their

conference. These clients are out of scope of the survey. There were 167 clients who were in-scope

of the ADR program survey. The target populations for the legal advice and grants of aid surveys

were those clients who received these respective types of assistance from Legal Aid between 1

October 2001 and 30 April 2002. The target population sizes were 2,128 for legal advice and 757

for grants of aid.

To indicate a quality legal service
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The website users survey was conducted as a census of all Community Legal Centres in Western

Australia. The list of the Community Legal Centres was provided by Legal Aid WA. For each

centre, Legal Aid WA also provided a contact name of the most appropriate person to answer the

questionnaire on the centre’s behalf.

Sample sizes

The sample sizes for the three family law client groups’ satisfaction surveys were designed to

balance the requirements of obtaining accuracy to within about 5% and having sufficient sample

sizes for each survey group to allow valid statistical analysis at the individual survey level and to

make comparisons between the surveys. 

The requirements of surveying a target of 400 clients in total also had to be satisfied.

The following table shows the breakdown of the sample into the three survey areas.

TABLE 1. SAMPLE SIZES AND RESULTING LEVELS OF ACCURACY.

The overall level of accuracy obtained from this design is 4.57%. The accuracy levels for the

individual surveys are higher, but still within acceptable error bounds. The sample of 400 was

allocated proportionally between legal advice and grants of aid, after 50 clients were allocated to

the ADR survey (proportional allocation would have given too small a sample to the ADR survey,

which would not allow statistically valid conclusions to be made about this service area). 

Each of the samples was selected randomly. The in-scope clients for each survey were randomly

ordered, and given an index of 1,….,N.. The first n clients in the list were then selected to be

included in the survey.

There were 25 Community Legal Centres to be surveyed in the website users survey.

Survey implementation

To sustain comparability in methodology to past client satisfaction surveys, telephone interviewing

was used. Computer Aided Telephone Interviewing (CATI) was used to conduct the surveys. The

CATI system is scripted to guide the interviewer through the interview so that interviewer bias is

minimised and data quality is improved over paper-based alternatives. The interviewers were

instructed to make three attempts to contact each client selected in the survey before deeming

that client non-contactable and replacing them with the next client in the sampling list. 

Legal Advice

Alternative Dispute Resolution

Grants of Aid

Total

Standard error Response rate

+/-5.72%

+/-11.6%

+/-9.58%

+/-4.57%

31%

48%

29%

Population size
(N)

Sample size
(n)

2,128

167

757

3,052

258

50

92

400

Client group 
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Since the website users questionnaire was targeted at agencies instead of individual respondents,

pre-contact was made in the form of an email which had an explanatory letter and a copy of the

questionnaire. Nominated representatives from each of the surveyed Community Legal Centres

were asked to corroborate with other staff at the centre to obtain appropriate responses to the

questions. Staff were asked not to fill in the questionnaires and return them, but to have the

answers ready for when a fieldworker contacted them to conduct a telephone interview. Centres

which had not heard of the Legal Aid website were screened out of the survey. The CATI system

was used to conduct this survey as well.

Estimation methodology

In the previous survey, satisfaction levels were calculated as the sum of responses on the positive

side of neutral (that is, agree and strongly agree), expressed as a percentage of the total number of

responses including not applicable. This year, satisfaction levels were calculated as the sum of the

non-missing responses on the positive side of neutral (that is, agree and strongly agree), expressed

as a percentage of the total number of responses excluding not applicable. It was decided to

exclude those not applicable from the denominator because their inclusion can artificially deflate 

the observed satisfaction levels.

Where multiple responses were allowed, percentages were calculated as the number of clients who

gave that response divided by the total number of respondents for that question. Thus, the sum of

the percentages could sum to greater than 100%.

The denominator in the percentage is not always equal to the sample size. This is because the

denominator is calculated as the number of responses to that particular question, and each

question could have different numbers of responses due to clients refusing to answer a particular

question, or being skipped past the question due to an earlier response.

14.2 Cost per advice

The efficiency of Legal Aid in providing services is measured in terms of the cost per occasion of

service for each of the following business service outputs. 

Business service outputs provided to the general community

1. Telephone advice line services

2. Face-to-face legal advisory services

3. Duty lawyer services 

Business service outputs provided to specific target groups

1. Legal advice and minor assistance services

2. Assessment services for a grant of aid

3. Legal representation 
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THE COST PER OCCASION OF SERVICE FOR EACH BUSINESS SERVICE OUTPUT OF LEGAL AID

Explanatory notes for efficiency indicators

1. Total expenditure for 2001/02 is $26,494,816. Of this, $2,206,461 could not be reliably attributed to specific service
outputs (see table 'Community service expenditure not attributed to specific outputs')

2. Prior to 2000/01 indicator represents Perth Infoline only.

3. Representing 2001/02 legal advice expenditure of $1,404,527 for 20,881 occasions of service (cost per occasion of
service $67.26), and 2001/02 minor assistance expenditure of $908,608 for 4,149 occasions of service (cost per
occasion of service $218.99)

TO INDICATE THE EXTENT TO WHICH LEGAL SERVICES ARE
PROVIDED IN A COST EFFICIENT MANNER1

Cost ($) per occasion of service for service outputs to the
general community

Telephone information line

2001/02 expenditure of $1,208,979 for 68,930 occasions 
of service

Face to face advisory services2

2001/02 expenditure of $202,335 for 7,205 occasions of service

Duty lawyer

2001/02 expenditure of $1,812,272 for 29,661 occasions 
of service

Cost ($) per occasion of service for service outputs to the
general community

Legal advice and minor assistance services3

2001/02 expenditure of $2,313,135 for 25,030 occasions 
of service

ASSESSMENT AND FILE MANAGEMENT COSTS IN TERMS OF 
THE NUMBER OF APPLICATIONS FOR A GRANT OF AID

2001/02 expenditure of $2,821,821 for 13,070 occasions 
of service

ASSESSMENT AND FILE MANAGEMENT COSTS IN TERMS OF 
THE NUMBER OF GRANTS OF AID

2001/02 expenditure of $2,821,821 for 8,463 occasions of service

Legal representation

2001/02 expenditure of $15,188,306 for 9,294 occasions 
of service

Expensive cases

2001/02 expenditure of $347,842 for 17 occasions of service

Finance brokers

2001/02 expenditure of $386,461 for 387 occasions of service

14.41

46.15

61.89

75.30

185.57

258.67

1,500.12

-

-

19.33

57.41

54.23

81.72

195.82

289.83

1,793.81

-

-

18.95

36.30

56.67

78.19

191.60

280.82

1,779.32

-

-

17.54

28.22

61.10

92.41

215.90

333.43

1,634.20

20,461.29

998.61

1998/991999/002000/012001/02
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1. Total expenditure for 2001/02 is $26,494,816. Of this, $2,206,461 could not be reliably attributed to specific service
outputs (see table 'Community service expenditure not attributed to specific outputs')

2. State law matters representing 2001/02 legal advice expenditure of $757,099 for 8,426 occasions of service (unit cost
$89.85), and 2000/01 minor assistance expenditure of $393,455 for 1,553 occasions of service (unit cost $253.35).

Commonwealth law matters representing 2001/02 legal advice expenditure of $647,428 for 12,455 occasions of service
(unit cost $51.98), and 2000/01 minor assistance expenditure of $515,154 for 2,596 occasions of service (unit cost
$198.44)

Total cost Occasions Cost per Total cost Occasions Cost per
$ of service occasion $ of service occasion

of service of service
$ $

Service outputs to the general 
community

Telephone information 601,897 36,238 16.61 607,082 32,692 18.57

Line services

Face to face advisory services 111,623 3,552 31.43 91,712 3,653 25.11

Duty lawyer services 1,772,820 29,080 60.96 39,452 581 67.90

Service outputs to specific target 
groups

Legal advice and minor 
assistance services2 1,150,554 9,979 115.30 1,162,582 15,051 77.25

Assessment and file management 1,563,757 9,305 168.06 1,258,065 3,765 334.15
costs in terms of applications for 
a grant of legal aid

Assessment and file management 1,563,757 6,642 235.43 1,258,065 1,821 690.86
Costs in terms of grants of aid

Legal representation 9,179,215 6,642 1,381.99 6,009,092 2,652 2,265.87

Expensive cases 347,842 17 20,461.29 - - -

Finance brokers 386,461 387 998.61 - - -

Service costs according to state 2001/02 2001/02
and Commonwealth law matters1 State law matters C'Wealth law matters
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Survey Data used to access the quality of legal services were collected and analysed by Data

Analysis Australia.

Community service expenditure not State C'Wealth Total
attributed to specific service outputs law law

matters matters
$909,873 $1,267,587 $2,175,460

Alternative dispute resolution 2,254 6,577 8,831

Community legal education 116,837 122,521 239,358

Policy advice 70,145 33,332 103,477

Publications 167,477 90,303 257,780

Community development 141,898 122,146 264,044

Services to Indian Ocean territories - 151,990 151,990

Refugee tenders 10,874 88,654 99,528

Community legal centres 32,211 125,071 157,282

Prison visiting 106,789 18,091 124,880

ADR program - 358,492 358,492

Other inhouse practice 21,059 - 21,059

PDR casework - 148,400 148,400

Drug court casework 269,330 2,010 271,340
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STATEMENT OF CERTIFICATION

The accompanying financial statements of the Department of Justice have been prepared in compliance with the

provisions of the Financial Administration and Audit Act 1985 from proper accounts and records to fairly present 

the financial transactions for the financial year ending 30 June 2002 and the financial position as at 30 June 2002.

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstance which would render the particulars included in the

financial statements misleading or inaccurate.

Peter King

Director Financial Management

Principal Accounting Officer

14 August 2002 

Alan Piper

Director General

Accountable Officer

14 August 2002
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To the Parliament of Western Australia 

DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30,  2002 

Matters Relating to the Electronic Presentation of the Audited Financial Statements 

This audit opinion relates to the financial statements of the Department of Justice for the year ended June 30, 2002
included on the Department’s web site. The Director General is responsible for the integrity of the Department’s 
web site. I have not been engaged to report on the integrity of the Department’s web site. The audit opinion refers
only to the statements named below. It does not provide an opinion on any other information which may have been
hyperlinked to or from these statements. If users of this opinion are concerned with the inherent risks arising from
electronic data communications, they are advised to refer to the hard copy of the audited financial statements 
to confirm the information included in the audited financial statements presented on this web site. 

Scope 

I have audited the accounts and financial statements of the Department of Justice for the year ended June 30, 2002
under the provisions of the Financial Administration and Audit Act 1985. 

The Director General is responsible for keeping proper accounts and maintaining adequate systems of internal control,
preparing and presenting the financial statements, and complying with the Act and other relevant written law. The
primary responsibility for the detection, investigation and prevention of irregularities rests with the Director General. 

My audit was performed in accordance with section 79 of the Act to form an opinion based on a reasonable level 
of assurance. The audit procedures included examining, on a test basis, the controls exercised by the Department to
ensure financial regularity in accordance with legislative provisions, evidence to provide reasonable assurance that the
amounts and other disclosures in the financial statements are free of material misstatement and the evaluation of
accounting policies and significant accounting estimates. These procedures have been undertaken to form an opinion
as to whether, in all material respects, the financial statements are presented fairly in accordance with Accounting
Standards and other mandatory professional reporting requirements in Australia and the Treasurer’s Instructions so 
as to present a view which is consistent with my understanding of the Department’s financial position, its financial
performance and its cash flows. 

The audit opinion expressed below has been formed on the above basis. 

Audit Opinion 

In my opinion, 

(i) the controls exercised by the Department of Justice provide reasonable assurance that the receipt and
expenditure of moneys and the acquisition and disposal of property and the incurring of liabilities have been
in accordance with legislative provisions; and 

(ii) the Statement of Financial Performance, Statement of Financial Position, Statement of Cash Flows, Output
Schedule of Expenses and Revenues and Summary of Consolidated Fund Appropriations and Revenue
Estimates and the Notes to and forming part of the financial statements are based on proper accounts 
and present fairly in accordance with applicable Accounting Standards and other mandatory professional
reporting requirements in Australia and the Treasurer’s Instructions, the financial position of the
Department at June 30, 2002 and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended. 

D D R Pearson
AUDITOR GENERAL 
October 11, 2002 
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2002

Notes 2001/02 2000/01

$’000 $’000

COST OF SERVICES

Expenses from ordinary activities

Employee expenses 4 268,213 262,205

Supplies and services 5 122,578 103,452

Depreciation and amortisation expense 6 23,475 21,815

Borrowing costs expense 7 1,435 475

Accommodation expenses 8 16,916 17,622

Grants and subsidies 9 36,354 39,073

Capital user charge 10 45,898 - 

Net loss on disposal of non-current assets 11 8 1,655

Other expenses from ordinary activities 12 45,172 41,314

Total cost of services 560,049 487,611

Revenues from ordinary activities

User charges and fees 13 34,130 29,772

Commonwealth grants and contributions 14 11,194 10,358

Other revenues from ordinary activities 15 20,835 14,336

Total revenues from ordinary activities 66,159 54,466

Net cost of services 493,890 433,145

REVENUES FROM GOVERNMENT 16 

Output Appropriations (1) 489,393 399,585

Liabilities assumed by the Treasurer 7,139 26,187

Resources received free of charge 3,114 3,294

Total revenues from Government 499,646 429,066

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS BEFORE RESTRUCTURING 5,756 (4,079)

Net revenues from restructuring 17 - 102,631

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS AFTER RESTRUCTURING 5,756 98,552

Net increase in asset revaluation reserve 10,566 3,270

TOTAL CHANGES IN EQUITY OTHER THAN THOSE RESULTING FROM 
TRANSACTIONS WITH WA STATE GOVERNMENT AS OWNERS 16,322 101,822

(1) Appropriation included capital appropriation in 2000/01.

The Statement of Financial Performance should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2002

Note 2001/02 2000/01 

$'000 $'000 

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash assets 28 20,006 5,537 

Restricted cash assets 18 82 116 

Receivables 19 8,896 4,815 

Amounts receivable for outputs 20 14,304 - 

Other assets 21 594 4,167 

Total current assets 43,882 14,635 

Non-current assets

Restricted cash assets 18 6,185 5,129 

Amounts receivable for outputs 20 13,888 - 

Property, plant and equipment 22 627,407 618,741 

Total non-current assets 647,480 623,870 

TOTAL ASSETS 691,362 638,505 

Current liabilities

Payables 23 19,521 12,454 

Interest bearing liabilities 24 139 125 

Provisions 25 40,475 36,108 

Other liabilities 26 6,418 4,725 

Total current liabilities 66,553 53,412 

Non-current liabilities

Interest bearing liabilities 24 13,324 13,463 

Provisions 25 23,110 21,430 

Total non-current liabilities 36,434 34,893 

Total liabilities 102,987 88,305 

Equity 27 

Contributed equity 21,853 - 

Reserves 453,646 443,080 

Accumulated surplus 112,876 107,120 

Total equity 588,375 550,200 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 691,362 638,505 

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2002

Note 2001/02 2000/01 

$'000 $'000 

Inflows Inflows 

(Outflows) (Outflows) 

CASH FLOWS FROM GOVERNMENT

Output appropriations 461,201 356,421 

Capital contributions (2000/01 capital appropriation) 21,853 43,164 

Net cash provided by Government 483,054 399,585 

Utilised as follows:

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Payments

Payments to suppliers and employees (460,599) (423,469)

Borrowing costs (1,436) (361)

Capital user charge (45,898) - 

GST payments (20,937) (22,239)

Receipts

Receipts from services 60,818 50,338 

GST receipts 22,197 18,674 

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 28 (c) (445,855) (377,057)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of non-current physical assets (21,620) (60,827)

Proceeds from sale of non-current physical assets 37 254 

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities (21,583) (60,573)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Repayment of borrowings (Treasurer's Advance) - (350)

Finance lease payments (125) (292)

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities (125) (642)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held 15,491 (38,687)

Cash assets at the beginning of the financial year 10,782 49,469 

Cash at the end of the reporting period 28 (a) 26,273 10,782 

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Output 1 Output 2 Output 3 Output 4 
Judiciary & Case processing Enforcement of criminal Admin of victim

judicial support & civil court orders support & counselling services
2001/02 2000/01 2001/02 2000/01 2001/02 2000/01 2001/02 2000/01

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

COST OF SERVICES

Expenses from ordinary activities
Employee expenses 32,898 35,758 29,734 28,224 3,023 1,939 1,029 1,095 
Depreciation and amortisation expense 4 4 6,537 6,310 3 4 4 5 
Borrowing costs expense - - 1,321 475 114 - - - 
Net loss on disposal of non-current assets - - 14 853 - - - - 
Capital user charge - - 11,305 - 58 - - - 
Other expenses from ordinary activities 3,869 4,301 58,814 50,789 4,142 3,512 1,015 990 
Corporate overheads reallocated to outputs 46 576 11,624 8,766 690 922 335 243 

Total cost of services 36,817 40,639 119,349 95,417 8,030 6,377 2,383 2,333 

Revenue from ordinary activities
Revenues 105 4 24,712 20,494 9,025 7,984 8 32 
Corporate overheads reallocated to outputs 6 4 1,483 59 88 6 43 2 

Total revenues from ordinary activities 111 8 26,195 20,553 9,113 7,990 51 34 

NET COST OF SERVICES 36,706 40,631 93,154 74,864 (1,083) (1,613) 2,332 2,299 

Revenues from Government
Appropriations 32,853 27,529 100,061 56,961 (1,432) 1,014 1,787 2,012 
Liabilities assumed by the Treasurer 5,220 9,691 290 2,920 20 224 11 121 
Resources received free of charge - - 1,765 1,810 - - - - 
Corporate overheads reallocated to outputs - 12 30 175 1 18 1 5 

Total revenues from government 38,073 37,232 102,146 61,866 (1,411) 1,256 1,799 2,138 

Change in net assets before restructuring
1,367 (3,399) 8,992 (12,998) (328) 2,869 (533) (161)

Net revenues from restructuring - 102,631 - - - - - - 

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS AFTER RESTRUCTURING
1,367 99,232 8,992 (12,998) (328) 2,869 (533) (161)
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The Output Schedule of Expenses and Revenues should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Output 5 Output 6 Output 7 Output 8 
Legal services Preparation of Adult offenders Juvenille offenders

legislation managed managed
2001/02 2000/01 2001/02 2000/01 2001/02 2000/01 2001/02 2000/01

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

COST OF SERVICES

Expenses from ordinary activities
Employee expenses 12,833 11,710 2,569 2,307 131,060 130,771 26,841 22,585
Depreciation and amortisation expense 27 80 13 110 13,764 12,174 789 1,032
Borrowing costs expense - - - - - - - -
Net loss on disposal of non-current assets - 12 - - (22) 534 1 129
Capital user charge 52 - 26 - 27,573 - 3,315 -
Other expenses from ordinary activities 5,826 6,358 775 775 90,466 78,913 8,207 11,748 
Corporate overheads reallocated to outputs 1,985 1,638 594 543 23,263 19,503 6,665 5,490

Total cost of services 20,723 19,798 3,977 3,735 286,104 241,895 45,818 40,984 

Revenue from ordinary activities
Revenues 3,874 3,273 - 2 9,758 9,639 878 905 
Corporate overheads reallocated to outputs 266 11 47 3 2,900 166 684 61

Total revenues from ordinary activities 4,140 3,284 47 5 12,658 9,805 1,562 966

NET COST OF SERVICES 16,583 16,514 3,930 3,730 273,446 232,090 44,256 40,018

Revenues from Government
Appropriations 19,653 16,033 3,840 3,125 268,648 234,815 44,907 38,870
Liabilities assumed by the Treasurer 102 836 20 170 1,095 10,327 212 429
Resources received free of charge 11 13 2 3 1,276 1,423 31 7
Corporate overheads reallocated to outputs 6 32 1 7 95 666 20 134

Total revenues from government 19,772 16,914 3,863 3,305 271,114 247,231 45,170 39,440

Change in net assets before restructuring
3,189 400 (67) (425) (2,332) 15,141 914 (578)

Net revenues from restructuring - - - - - - - -

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS AFTER RESTRUCTURING
3,189 400 (67) (425) (2,332) 15,141 914 (578)
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The Output Schedule of Expenses and Revenues should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Output 9 Output 10 Output 11 Output 12 
Advocacy and Trustee services Registration services Civil marriages

guardianship services
2001/02 2000/01 2001/02 2000/01 2001/02 2000/01 2001/02 2000/01

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

COST OF SERVICES

Expenses from ordinary activities
Employee expenses 1,295 1,275 7,487 7,606 1,848 1,630 82 77 
Depreciation and amortisation expense 30 28 147 49 187 40 8 1  
Borrowing costs expense - - - - - - - - 
Net loss on disposal of non-current assets - - - - - 1 - - 
Capital user charge 56 - 84 - 47 - 2 - 
Other expenses from ordinary activities 299 326 3,124 2,883 942 1,411 28 26 
Corporate overheads reallocated to outputs 229 199 751 511 674 631 33 30  

Total cost of services 1,909 1,828 11,593 11,049 3,698 3,713 153 134  

Revenue from ordinary activities
Revenues 27 58 8,378 7,635 3,458 3,216 171 163 
Corporate overheads reallocated to outputs 24 2 159 5 51 4 2 - 

Total revenues from ordinary activities 51 60 8,537 7,640 3,509 3,220 173 163 

NET COST OF SERVICES 1,858 1,768 3,056 3,409 189 493 (20) (29)

Revenues from Government
Appropriations 1,831 1,579 2,714 2,959 675 245 25 29 
Liabilities assumed by the Treasurer 11 92 - - 15 126 1 -  
Resources received free of charge 1 1 4 5 2 3 - - 
Corporate overheads reallocated to outputs 1 8 5 34 1 10 - 1 

Total revenues from government 1,844 1,680 2,723 2,998 693 384 26 30 

Change in net assets before restructuring
(14) (88) (333) (411) 504 (109) 46 59 

Net revenues from restructuring - - - - - - - - 

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS AFTER RESTRUCTURING
(14) (88) (333) (411) 504 (109) 46 59 
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The Output Schedule of Expenses and Revenues should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Output 13 Output 14 Output 15 Overheads
Support services Legal Aid Strategic policy information Corporate overheads Total

other Govt Agencies and legislative services
2001/02 2000/01 2001/02 2000/01 2001/02 2000/01 2001/02 2000/01 2001/02 2000/01

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

COST OF SERVICES

Expenses from ordinary activities
Employee expenses 1,709 1,209 - - - 2,085 15,805 13,934 268,213 262,205  
Depreciation and amortisation expense 88 85 - - - 3 1,874 1,890 23,475 21,815  
Borrowing costs expense - - - - - - - - 1,435 475
Net loss on disposal of non-current assets 1 5 - - - - 14 121 8  1,655
Capital user charge 148 - - - - - 3,232 - 45,898 - 
Other expenses from ordinary activities 3,061 1,361 14,488 12,814 - 1,779 25,964 23,475  221,020  201,461
Corporate overheads reallocated to outputs - - - 368 (46,889) (39,420) - -  

Total cost of services 5,007 2,660 14,488 12,814 - 4,235 - - 560,049 487,611 

Revenue from ordinary activities
Revenues 12 38 - - - 698 5,753 325 66,159 54,466 
Corporate overheads reallocated to outputs - - - 2 (5,753) (325) - -  

Total revenues from ordinary activities 12 38 - - - 700 - - 66,159 54,466 

NET COST OF SERVICES 4,995 2,622 14,488 12,814 - 3,535 - - 493,890 433,145 

Revenues from Government
Appropriations - 229 13,831 11,885 - 2,300 - - 489,393 399,585  
Liabilities assumed by the Treasurer 3 19 - - - 152 139 1,080 7,139 26,187 
Resources received free of charge - 1 - - - 2 22 26 3,114 3,294
Corporate overheads reallocated to outputs - - - - - 4 (161) (1,106) - -

Total revenues from government 3 249 13,831 11,885 - 2,458 - - 499,646 429,066 

Change in net assets before restructuring
(4,992) (2,373) (657) (929) - (1,077) - - 5,756 (4,079) 

Net revenues from restructuring - - - - - - - - - 102,631

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS AFTER RESTRUCTURING
(4,992) (2,373) (657) (929) - (1,077) - - 5,756 98,552 
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The Output Schedule of Expenses and Revenues should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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2001/02 2001/02 2000/01

Estimate Actual Variation Actual Actual Variation 
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

PURCHASE OF OUTPUTS

Item 57 Net amount appropraited to purchase outputs 441,743 454,506 12,763 454,506 321,399 (133,107)

Amount Authorised by other Statutes

Salaries and Allowances Act 1975 12,157 13,019 862 13,019 11,842 (1,177)

Children's Court of Western Australia Act 1988 218 206 (12) 206 220 14 

Criminal Injuries (Compensation) Act of 1985 15,220 11,070 (4,150) 11,070 13,265 2,195

District Court of WA Act 1969 5,300 5,534 234 5,534 5,237 (297) 

Judges Salaries and Pensions Act 1950 4,600 4,815 215 4,815 4,219 (596)

Solicitor General Act 1969 228 228 - 228 229 1 

Suitors Fund Act 1964 30 15 (15) 15 10 (5)

Total appropriations provided to purchase outputs 479,496 489,393 9,897 489,393 356,421 (132,972)

Details of Expenditure by Outputs

Output 1 - Judiciary and judicial support 37,517 36,817 (700) 36,817 40,639 3,822 

Output 2 - Case processing 117,715 119,349 1,634 119,349 95,417 (23,932) 

Output 3 - Enforcement of criminal and civil court orders 5,969 8,030 2,061 8,030 6,377 (1,653)

Output 4 - Administration of victim support and 2,289 2,383 94 2,383 2,333 (50) 
counselling services

Output 5 - Legal services 21,367 20,723 (644) 20,723 19,798 (925) 

Output 6 - Preparation of legislation 4,083 3,977 (106) 3,977 3,735 (242)

Output 7 - Adult offenders managed 272,280 286,104 13,824 286,104 241,895 (44,209) 

Output 8 - Juvenile offenders managed 42,370 45,818 3,448 45,818 40,984 (4,834)

Output 9 - Advocacy and guardianship services 1,875 1,909 34 1,909 1,828 (81)

Output 10 - Trustee services 10,875 11,593 718 11,593 11,049 (544) 

Output 11 - Registration services 3,874 3,698 (176) 3,698 3,713 15

Output 12 - Civil marriages 182 153 (29) 153 134 (19)

Output 13 - Support services to other Government agencies 2,848 5,007 2,159 5,007 2,660 (2,347)

Output 14 - Legal aid assistance 13,484 14,488 1,004 14,488 12,814 (1,674) 

Output 15 - Strategic policy information & legislative - - - - 4,235 4,235
services 

Total cost of outputs 536,728 560,049 23,321 560,049 487,611 (72,438) 

Less retained revenue 46,986 66,159 19,173 66,159 54,466 (11,693) 

Net cost of outputs 489,742 493,890 493,890 493,890 433,145 (60,745) 
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2001/02 2001/02 2000/01

Estimate Actual Variation Actual Actual Variation 
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Adjustment for movement in cash balances and accrual items (10,246) (4,497) 5,749 (4,497) (76,724) (72,227)

Total appropriations provided to purchase outputs 479,496 489,393 9,897 489,393 356,421 (132,972)

Capital 

Item 147 capital contribution 31,340 21,853 (9,487) 21,853 43,164 (21,311)

Total cost of capital works program 49,853 47,141 (2,712) 47,141 69,417 22,276

Adjustment for movement in cash balances 
and other funding sources (18,513) (25,288) (6,775) (25,288) (26,253) (965)

Total capital contribution 31,340 21,853 (9,487) 21,853 43,164 21,311 

GRAND TOTAL OF APPROPRIATIONS 510,836 511,246 410 511,246 399,585 (111,661)

DETAILS OF REVENUE ESTIMATES

FINES

Judicial fines and penalties 16,206 19,112 2,906 19,365 14,848 4,517

Infringement penalties 200 253 53 253 249 4 

Total Administered Revenue Estimates 16,406 19,365 2,959 19,618 15,221 (4,521)

Explanations of variations between the current year estimates and actual results, and the 
actual results compared with the immediately preceding year, are set out in Note 41.

The summary of Consolidated Fund Appropriations and Revenue Estimates should be read 
in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

The comparative figures for 2000/01 have been revised to report accrual information rather 
than the cash information so as to provide more meaningful comparative information with 
the figures presented for the current financial year, for the purposes of the Explanatory 
Statement required by Treasurer's Instruction 945.  The financial effect in the current 
year of this change in reporting is that the net cost of outputs for 2000-01 is reported 
as $433,145 (thousand) whereas in last year's summary for 2000-01 the net cost of 
outputs was $368,828 (thousand).
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1 Department of Justice mission and funding
The mission of the Department of Justice is to provide quality, coordinated and accessible justice services which
contribute to a safe and orderly community.

The Department is responsible for the provision of a diverse range of justice services, including:

• Providing administrative and support services, technical facilities and accommodation to State courts and tribunals.
• Providing support, assistance, advice and counselling to victims of crime.
• Managing adult and juvenile offenders in custody and in the community.
• Providing legal services to Government and its agencies.
• Translating Government policy into laws that are easily understood.
• Providing services to ensure that the best interests of people with decision-making disabilities are represented 

at hearings and to promote and protect their rights in the community.
• Making trustee services available.
• Registering births, deaths and marriages.
• Providing information and support to the Parole Board and Supervised Release Review Board.
• Regulating State-based corporate bodies such as Friendly Societies.

The Department is predominantly funded by Parliamentary Appropriations. 

The Department's Financial Statements encompass all funds through which the Department controls resources to carry 
on its functions.

2 Significant accounting policies
The following accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation of the financial statements. Unless otherwise
stated these polices are consistent with those adopted in the previous year.

(a) General statement

The financial statements constitute a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with
Australian Accounting Standards, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the
Australian Accounting Standards Board, and Urgent Issues Group (UIG) Consensus Views as applied by the Treasurer's
Instructions. Several of these are modified by the Treasurer's Instructions to vary application, disclosure, format and
wording. The Financial Administration and Audit Act and the Treasurer's Instructions are legislative provisions governing
the preparation of financial statements and take precedence over Australian Accounting Standards, Statements of
Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board, and UIG
Consensus Views. The modifications are intended to fulfil the requirements of general application to the public sector,
together with the need for greater disclosure and also to satisfy accountability requirements.

If any such modification has a material or significant financial effect upon the reported results, details of that
modification and where practicable, the resulting financial effect is disclosed in individual notes to these financial
statements.

(b) Basis of accounting

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standard AAS 29.

The statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting using the historical cost convention, except 
for certain assets and liabilities which, as noted, are measured at fair value.

(c) Administered transactions

Administered assets, liabilities, expenses and revenues are not integral to the Department in carrying out its functions 
and are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements, forming part of the general purpose financial report of the
Department. The administered items are disclosed on the same basis as is described above for the financial statements of
the Department. The administered assets, liabilities, expenses and revenues are those which the Government requires the
Department to administer on its behalf. The assets do not render any service potential or future economic benefits to the
Department, the liabilities do not require any future sacrifice of service potential or future economic benefits of the
Department, and the expenses and revenues are not attributable to the Department.
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As the administered assets, liabilities, expenses and revenues are not recognised in the principal financial statements of
the Department, the disclosure requirements of Accounting Standard AAS 33, Presentation and Disclosure of Financial
Instruments, are not applied to administered transactions.

Administered assets

Administered assets are not controlled by the Department but are administered on behalf of the Government.

These assets include receivables in relation to:

- Supreme and District Court fines and forfeitures

- Petty Sessions fines

Outstanding fines and costs include: 

(a) District and Supreme Court and those which are referred to the Fines Enforcement Registry (FER) for action and 
are outstanding as at 30 June; and

(b) Petty Sessional fines which are outstanding in each Court and have not been referred to FER as at 30 June.

Infringement penalty details are not included as the Crown Solicitor provided an opinion that infringements form no
liability or obligation to pay until a Court has ordered the offender to pay the penalty. 

Provision for unrecoverable debts - administered transactions

The provision in respect of Court fees and fines outstanding and referred to the Fines Enforcement Registry, is based 
on the recovery history of Court Fees and Fines managed by the Fines Enforcement Registry.

(d) Output appropriations

Output appropriations are recognised as revenues in the period in which the Department gains control of the appropriated
funds. The Department gains control of appropriated funds at the time those funds are deposited into the Department's
bank account or credited to the holding account held at the Department of Treasury and Finance.

(e) Contributed equity

Under UIG 38 “Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities” transfers in the nature of equity
contributions must be designated by the Government (owners) as contributions by owners (at the time of, or prior to
transfer) before such transfers can be recognised as equity contributions in the financial statements. Capital contributions
(appropriations) have been designated as contributions by owners and have been credited directly to Contributed Equity in
the Statement of Financial Position. All other transfers have been recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance.
Prior to the current reporting period, capital appropriations were recognised as revenue in the Statement of Financial
Performance. Capital appropriations which are repayable to the Treasurer are recognised as liabilities.

(f) Net appropriation determination

Pursuant to section 23A of the Financial Administration and Audit Act, the Department has entered into a net
appropriation arrangement with the Treasurer, where the proceeds from services are retained by the Department. Items
covered by the agreement include commonwealth recoups, court fees, births deaths and marriage registration fees, sale of
personal prisoner services, sale of prison produce surplus to requirements, proceeds from Public Trustee fees, Public Trust
common fund interest revenues, legal services, workers compensation recoups, criminal injuries awards and other
miscellaneous revenues. The monies received and retained are applied to the Department's outputs.

(g) Grants and other contributions revenue

Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions are recognised as revenue when the Department obtains
control over the assets comprising the contributions. Control is normally obtained upon their receipt. Contributions are
recognised at fair value.
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(h) Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised where it can be reliably measured, in the period to which it relates. However, where there is not an
established pattern of income flow, revenue is recognised on a cash receipts basis. Criminal injuries revenue is recognised
at the time payment is received.

Outstanding criminal injuries are not recognised as the future economic benefits are minimal and cannot be reliably
measured. Criminal Injuries recoveries include awards pursuant to the Criminal Injuries Compensation Acts of 1970 and
1982 together with amounts recorded under the Criminal Injuries Compensation Act 1985. Recoveries pursued as at 30
June 2002 were $36.4 million (2001 - $31 million).

(g) Depreciation of non-current assets

All non-current assets with a value of more than $5,000 and a useful life of more than 2 years are systematically
depreciated over their useful lives in a manner which reflects the consumption of their future economic benefits.
Furniture items are mostly under this limit and are expensed in the year of purchase. Library and livestock purchases 
are also expensed in the year of purchase.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight line basis, using rates which are reviewed annually. Useful lives for each class 
of depreciable assets are:

- Buildings 50 years 

- Leasehold improvements 10 years 

- Information technology systems 5 years 

- plant, equipment and vehicles 4 - 15 years 

Building and information technology projects are reported as 'Works In Progress' until commissioned.

(h) Revaluation of land, buildings and infrastructure

The Department has a policy of valuing land and buildings at fair value. The annual revaluations of the Department's land
and buildings undertaken by the Valuer General's Office are recognised in the financial statements. Building infrastructure
assets are being progressively revalued to fair value under the transitional provisions in AASB 1041 (8.12)(b).

(i) Leases

The Department's rights and obligations under finance leases, which are leases that effectively transfer to the Department
substantially all of the risks and benefits incident to ownership of the leased items, are initially recognised as assets and
liabilities equal to the present value of the minimum lease payments. The assets are disclosed as leased buildings and are
depreciated to the Statement of Financial Performance over the period during which the Department is expected to
benefit from the use of the leased assets. Minimum lease payments are allocated between interest expense and reduction
of the lease liability, according to the interest rate implicit in the lease.

Finance lease liabilities are allocated between current and non-current components. The principal component of lease
payments due on or before the end of the succeeding year is disclosed as a current liability, and the remainder of the
lease liability is disclosed as a non-current liability.

The Department has entered into a number of operating lease arrangements, for buildings through the Treasury
Department, for passenger and light commercial motor vehicles through the State Supply Commission and for office
equipment where the lessors effectively retain all of the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the items held under
the operating leases. Equal instalments of the lease payments are charged to the Statement of Financial Performance over
the lease term as this is representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased property.

Refer to note 30 (b).
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(j) Cash

For the purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash includes cash assets and restricted cash assets.

(k) Accrued salaries

The accrued salaries suspense account (refer note 18) consists of amounts paid annually into a suspense account over a
period of 10 financial years to largely meet the additional cash outflow in each eleventh year when 27 pays occur in that
year instead of the normal 26. No interest is received on this account.

Accrued salaries (refer note 26) represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the financial year, as the end
of the last pay period for that financial year does not coincide with the end of the financial year. Accrued salaries are
settled within a few days of the financial year end. The Department considers the carrying amount of accrued salaries 
to be equivalent to the net fair value.

(l) Receivables

Receivable are recognised at the amounts receivable as they are due for settlement no more than 30 days from the date
of recognition.

Collectability of receivables are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts which are known to be uncollectible are written 
off. A provision for doubtful debts is raised where some doubt as to collection exists.

(m) Expenditure carried forward

Software - Significant costs associated with the acquisition or development of computer software are capitalised and
amortised on a straight line basis over the periods of the expected benefit, which is usually five years.

Web site costs - Costs in relation to web sites controlled by the Department are charged as expenses in the period 
in which they are incurred.

(n) Payables

Payables, including accruals not yet billed, are recognised when the Department becomes obliged to make future
payments as a result of a purchase of assets or services. Payables are generally settled within 30 days.

(o) Employee entitlements

Annual leave

This entitlement is recognised at current remuneration rates and is measured at the amount unpaid at the reporting date
in respect to employees' service up to that date.

Long service leave

A liability for long service leave is recognised, and is measured as the present value of expected future payments to be
made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date. Consideration is given, when assessing
expected future payments, to expected future wage and salary levels including relevant on costs, experience of employee
departures and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using interest rates to obtain the estimated
future cash outflows. The long service leave liability is based on a shorthand method provided by PricewaterhouseCoopers
Actuaries in 2002.

The method of measurement of the liability is consistent with the requirements of Australian Accounting Standard AAS 30
"Accounting for Employee Entitlements".
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(p) Superannuation

Staff may contribute to the Superannuation and Family Benefits Act scheme, a defined benefits pension scheme now
closed to new members, or to the Gold State Superannuation Scheme, a defined benefit and lump sum scheme now also
closed to new members. All staff who do not contribute to either of these schemes become non-contributory members 
of the West State Superannuation Scheme, an accumulation fund complying with the Commonwealth Government's
Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992. All of these schemes are administered by the Government
Employees Superannuation Board (GESB).

The superannuation expense is comprised of the following elements:

(i) change in the unfunded employer's liability in respect of current employees who are members of the
Superannuation and Family Benefits Act Scheme and current employees who accrued a benefit on transfer from
that Scheme to the Gold State Superannuation Scheme; and

(ii) employer contributions paid to the Gold State Superannuation Scheme and West State Superannuation Scheme.

The superannuation expense does not include payment of pensions to retirees as this does not constitute part of the cost
of services provided by the Department in the current year.

A revenue “Liabilities assumed by the Treasurer” equivalent to (i) is recognised under Revenues from Government in the
Statement of Financial Performance as the unfunded liability is assumed by the Treasurer. The GESB makes the benefit
payments and is recouped by the Treasurer.

From 1 July 2001 employer contributions were paid to the GESB in respect of the Gold State Superannuation Scheme 
and the West State Superannuation Scheme. Prior to 1 July 2001, the unfunded liability in respect of these Schemes 
was assumed by the Treasurer. An amount equivalent to the employer contributions which would have been paid to the
Gold State Superannuation Scheme and the West State Superannuation Scheme if the Department had made concurrent
employer contributions to those Schemes, was included in superannuation expense. This amount was also included in 
the revenue item “Liabilities assumed by the Treasurer”.

(q) Judges' pensions

All Judges' pension benefits are met by the Treasurer. Judges are entitled to pensions of 60% of their final salary after 
10 years service and proportionate pensions for lesser service. Spouses of Judges are entitled to pensions of five-eighths
of the Judges pension entitlement on the Judges death. The liability for Judge's pensions as at 30 June 2002 was
calculated by PricewaterhouseCoopers Actuaries.

The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) have responsibility for the administration of the Judges' 
Pension Scheme. GESB initially incur the cost of the pensions and then recoup the amount from the Consolidated Fund
(Department of Treasury and Finance). The expense for Judges' pensions is included as an employee expense of the
Department with a corresponding liability assumed by the Treasurer.

The expense reflects the increase in the liability at the Department of Treasury and Finance.

(r) Resources received free of charge or for nominal value

Resources received free of charge or for nominal value that can be reliably measured are recognised as revenues and as
assets or expenses as appropriate at fair value.

(s) Comparative figures

Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified so as to be comparable with the figures presented in the current
financial year. 
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3 Outputs of the Department
Information about the Department's outputs and, the expenses and revenues which are reliably attributable to those
outputs is set out in the Output Schedule. Information about expenses, revenues, assets and liabilities administered 
by the Department are given in notes 38 to 40.

The outputs of the Department are:

(1) Judiciary and judicial support

Output relates to financing the cost of judicial officers (including their support staff) to serve the community in the
determination of cases brought before courts and tribunals. 

(2) Case processing

Case processing refers to all resources and services provided by the Court Services Division (the administrative arm 
of courts) to advance cases from lodgement to the point of finalisation. This includes up to the point of trial before 
a judicial officer.

(3) Enforcement of criminal and civil court orders

The enforcement of criminal and civil orders demonstrates to the community and the judiciary, the practical application 
of enforcing orders of the court. This allows clients and the community in general to have confidence in Court Services 
to effectively and efficiently enforce orders made in criminal and civil jurisdictions. This includes the services of the Fines
Enforcement Registry, the Sheriff's Office and also other jurisdictional enforcement officers.

(4) Administration of victim support and counselling services

The Court Services Division has responsibility to the wider community for providing support and counselling services
through the Victim Support Service and the Coroner's Office. Counselling information and support is provided to victims
of crime who are traumatised by a criminal event that they have experienced and to people who have experienced an
unexpected loss of a loved one due to a sudden death.

(5) Legal services

The Crown Solicitor's Office provides a broad-based legal service to the Government, its departments, instrumentalities
and agencies. This includes the conduct of litigation, the provision of legal advice, representation as counsel in courts 
and tribunals and preparation of legal documents.

(6) Preparation of legislation

This output contributes to an orderly community through the preparation of legislation for the Government of Western
Australia and its departments and agencies in order to give effect to the Government's legislative program. 

(7) Adult offenders managed

The custody, containment, care, well being and rehabilitation of adult offenders and their reintegration into and
reparation to the community, managed through prisons and the supervision of offenders in the community. This includes
the provision of remedial programs, further education and employment skills, sentencing reports, assessment reports
outlining offender's suitability for release or their progress in the community to releasing authorities such as the parole
board, providing policy advice, infrastructure management and planning and collaborating with other agencies.

(8) Juvenile offenders managed

Juvenile offenders are managed in custody, and in the community to fulfil the orders of the courts and through diversion
from court programs. Juveniles participate in remedial, educational and rehabilitation programs that address their
offending behaviour.
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(9) Advocacy and guardianship services

To advocate for the best interests of people with decision-making disabilities both at hearings of the Guardianship and
Administration Board to decide the need for a Guardian and/or Administrator and in the community and to investigate
complaints or allegations of abuse, exploitation or neglect. To act as Guardian, when appointed by the Guardianship and
Administration Board.

(10) Trustee services

The Public Trustee provides a fund management and investment service through the operations of the Common Fund, an
at call investment facility which is backed by the State Government, and acts as financial administrator pursuant to the
orders of courts and tribunals. It also administers the estates of people who die with or without a will, in accordance with
the terms of the will or the relevant law and under the authority of the Supreme Court.

(11) Registration services

This involves the creation and permanent storage of birth, death and marriage records, which enables members of the
public to obtain documentary proof of these events for legal, personal and historical records. Approved organisations are
also able to obtain authorised information for research and records.

(12) Civil marriages

The provision of facilities for the conduct of civil marriages as an alternative to marriage by other celebrants. 

(13) Support services to other Government agencies

This output specifies those services directly provided by the Department of Justice which support outcomes and outputs of
other Government Agencies.

(14) Legal aid assistance

The Community and target groups require access to and the provision of quality legal services. This output contributes to
an orderly community by regulating demand for legal assistance through the application of priority guidelines, eligibility
and merit tests to enable legal representation to be provided to legally aided clients by grants of aid and assignment of
cases to in-house or private practitioners. Legal advice, duty lawyer services and community education is provided to
assist the wider community to access fair solutions to legal problems at the earliest opportunity. 

CORPORATE SERVICES

Corporate services costs have been allocated on a proportional basis for services provided to Outputs. Unallocated
Corporate Services costs relate to services provided to other agencies (i.e. Office of the Director of Public Prosecutions,
Commissioner for Equal Opportunity, Office of the Information Commissioner and the Law Reform Commission) and other
operating costs incurred by the Department not directly related to outputs.

2001/02 2000/01 

$'000 $'000 

4 Employee expenses

Salaries and wages 197,303 189,773 

Annual and long service leave 27,347 27,923 

Superannuation 21,392 19,161 

Judges pensions - liability assumed by the Treasurer 5,039 8,900 

Other related staff expenses (1) 17,132 16,448 

268,213 262,205 

(I) These employee expenses include superannuation WorkCover premiums and other employment on-costs associated
with the recognition of annual and long service leave liability. The related on-costs liability is included in employee
entitlement liabilities at note 25.
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2001/02 2000/01 

$'000 $'000 

5 Supplies and services

Services and contracts 93,732 70,502 

Resources free of charge 3,114 3,294 

Goods and supplies purchased 25,732 29,656 

122,578 103,452 

6 Depreciation and amortisation

Depreciation

Buildings 15,816 14,566 

IT systems 4,182 3,824 

Plant, equipment and vehicles 2,277 2,416 

Total depreciation 22,275 20,806 

Amortisation

Leased buildings 214 8 

Leasehold improvements 986 1,001 

Total amortisation 1,200 1,009 

23,475 21,815 

7 Borrowing costs expense

Finance lease finance charges 1,435 475 

8 Accommodation expenses

Building rental operating lease expenses 16,916 17,622 

9 Grants and subsidies

Criminal injuries 10,836 12,581 

Offenders gratuities 4,034 4,468 

Government organisations 14,603 13,007 

Other grants and subsidies 6,881 9,017 

36,354 39,073 
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10 Capital user charge

Capital user charge expense for year 45,898 - 

A capital user charge rate of 8% has been set by the Government for 2001/02 and 
represents the opportunity cost of capital invested in the net assets of the Department 
used in the provision of outputs. Payments are made to the Department of Treasury 
and Finance on a quarterly basis.

11 Net loss on disposal of non-current assets

Profit on sale of assets

Plant, equipment and vehicles - 19 

Gross proceeds on disposal of non-current assets 37 254 

Losses on sale of assets

Land - (588)

Buildings - (1,086)

Plant, equipment and vehicles (8) - 

(8) (1,674)

Net loss (8) (1,655)

12 Other expenses from ordinary activities

Building repairs and maintenance 8,587 8,017 

Electricity and water 5,073 5,117 

Communication expenses 7,356 7,052 

Plant, equipment and vehicle operating lease expenses 3,862 3,814 

Plant, equipment and vehicle repairs and maintenance 1,599 1,838 

Vehicle hire, fuel, registration and management fees 2,126 2,419 

Insurance 3,697 2,088 

Other expenses 12,872 10,969 

45,172 41,314 
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13 User charges and fees

Legal services Crown Solicitors Office 2,726 2,904 

Public Trust Office fees 6,029 5,208 

Births, deaths and marriage fees 3,614 3,363 

Licenses 150 148 

Court fees 21,461 18,127 

Miscellaneous fees and charges 150 22 

34,130 29,772 

14 Commonwealth grants and contributions

Commonwealth recoup for Family Court and court fees 9,331 8,178 

Commonwealth recoup other 1,863 2,180 

11,194 10,358 

The Department received contributions from various sources for specific purposes. 
As at 30 June 2002, contributions of $766,000 recognised as revenues in the operating 
statement have yet to be spent in the manner specified by the contributor.

15 Other revenues from ordinary activities

Sale of produce and goods 1,921 1,738 

Canteen sales 3,376 3,712 

Public Trust Office - common fund surplus 2,322 2,335 

Recoup of salaries and workers compensation 3,372 2,818 

Residential recoveries 1,004 639 

Recoup of telephones, postage and other reimbursements 1,129 1,311 

Criminal injuries - recoups 584 725 

Recoup - Department of Housing and Works 3,410 - 

Detainee recoups 1,274 - 

Other miscellaneous revenue 2,443 1,058 

20,835 14,336 

16 Revenues from Government

Appropriation revenue received during the year:

Output appropriations (1) 489,393 356,421 

Capital appropriations (2) - 43,164 

489,393 399,585 
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Liabilities assumed by the Treasurer during the financial year (3)
Superannuation - employees 2,100 17,287 
Judges pensions 5,039 8,900 

7,139 26,187 

Resources received free of charge (4)

Determined on the basis of the following estimates provided by agencies.

Office of the Auditor General 
- notional audit fee 111 160 
Treasury / Housing & Works (Commercial Property Branch)
- notional management fee 59 54 
Department of Land Administration - (Includes Valuer
General's Office)
- services for valuation services, land registration 128 209 
and information
Health Department of Western Australia
- provision of medical, health, dental services
and forensic services for post mortems. 2,816 2,871 

3,114 3,294 

(1) Output appropriations are accrual amounts as from 1 July 2001, reflecting the full price paid for outputs purchased
by the Government. The appropriation revenue comprises a cash component and a receivable (asset). The receivable
(holding account) comprises the depreciation expense for the year and any agreed increase in leave liability during
the year.

(2) Capital appropriations were revenue in 2001 (year ended 30 June 2001). From 1 July 2001, capital appropriations,
termed Capital Contributions, have been designated as contributions by owners and are credited straight to equity
in the Statement of Financial Position.

(3) Where a liability has been assumed by the Treasurer or other entity, the department recognises revenues equivalent
to the amount of the liability assumed and an expense relating to the nature of the event or events that initially
gave rise to the liability.

(4) Where assets or services have been received free of charge or for nominal consideration, the department recognises
revenues equivalent to the fair value of the assets and/or the fair value of those services that can be reliably
determined and which would have been purchased if not donated, and those fair values shall be recognised as
assets or expenses, as applicable.

(5) The transfers referred to in (3) to (4) above and below under Net revenues/(expenses) from restructuring (Note 17)
cannot be treated as contributions by owners (equity) as no formal designation has been made and the other
requirements specified in UIG 38(7) have not been met.
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17 Net revenues from restructuring

Judges pensions - 102,631 

From 1 July 2000 the GESB took over the administrative responsibility for the Judges' 
Pension Scheme. The liability was therefore extinguished from the Department's 
accounts.

18 Restricted cash assets

Current
Trust accounts (1)
- Sheriff's assurance account 81 76 
Receipts in advance account - 7 
- Juvenile justice trust account 1 33 

82 116 
Non-current
Accrued salaries suspense (2) 6,185 5,129 

6,267 5,245 

(1) The details and purpose of each trust account is disclosed within Department's 
receipts and payments statements. Refer to note 42.

(2) Amount held in the salaries account is to be used only for the purpose of 
meeting the 27th pay in a financial year that occurs every 11 years. 

19 Receivables

Trade debtors 6,591 1,250 
GST Receivable 2,305 3,565 

8,896 4,815 
The Department does not have any significant exposure to any individual customer 
or counterparty.

20 Amounts receivable for outputs

Current 14,304 - 
Non-current 13,888 - 

28,192 - 

This asset represents the non-cash component of output appropriations. It is restricted
in that it can only be used for asset replacement or payment of leave liability.

21 Other assets

Prepayments 594 4,167 
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22 Property, plant and equipment

Land 
At cost - 4,080 
At fair value (1) 83,131 77,514 

83,131 81,594 
Buildings
At cost 17,042 117,367 
Accumulated depreciation (170) (1,174)
At fair value (1) 784,062 695,062 
Accumulated depreciation (300,393) (320,969)

500,541 490,286 
Leased buildings
At cost 10,739 10,739 
Accumulated depreciation (222) (8)

10,517 10,731 
Leasehold improvements
At cost 9,950 9,950 
Accumulated amortisation (4,303) (3,317)

5,647 6,633 
IT systems
At cost 28,054 18,463 
Accumulated amortisation (11,330) (7,348)

16,724 11,115 
Plant, equipment and vehicles
At cost 25,570 23,945 
Accumulated amortisation (16,939) (15,708)

8,631 8,237 
Work in progress
Buildings 770 5,601 
It systems 1,446 4,544 

2,216 10,145 

Total property, plant and equipment 627,407 618,741 

(1) The revaluation of land and buildings was performed in June 2001 in accordance with an independent valuation by
the Valuer General's Office. Fair value of land has been determined on the basis of current market buying values. 
The fair value of buildings has been determined by reference to the current replacement cost as the buildings are
specialised and no market evidence is available. The valuations were made in accordance with a regular policy of
annual revaluation.

Reconciliations

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant, equipment and vehicles 
at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial year are set out below.

Land
Carrying amount at beginning of year 81,594 66,326 
Additions - 4,080 
Disposals - (588)
Revaluation increments 1,537 11,776 
Carrying amount at end of year 83,131 81,594 
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Buildings
Carrying amount at beginning of year 490,286 397,077 
Additions 17,042 117,367 
Disposals - (1,086)
Revaluation increments 9,029 (8,506)
Depreciation (15,816) (14,566)
Carrying amount at end of year 500,541 490,286 

Leased buildings
Carrying amount at beginning of year 10,731 - 
Additions - 10,739 
Depreciation (214) (8)
Carrying amount at end of year 10,517 10,731 

Leasehold improvements
Carrying amount at beginning of year 6,633 7,634 
Additions - - 
Depreciation (986) (1,001)
Carrying amount at end of year 5,647 6,633 

IT systems
Carrying amount at beginning of year 11,115 3,610 
Additions 9,791 11,329 
Disposals - - 
Depreciation (4,182) (3,824)
Carrying amount at end of year 16,724 11,115 

Plant, equipment and vehicles
Carrying amount at beginning of year 8,237 8,015 
Additions 2,716 2,873 
Disposals (45) (235)
Depreciation (2,277) (2,416)
Carrying amount at end of year 8,631 8,237 

Work in progress

Carrying amount at beginning of year 10,145 81,826 
Additions 19,571 56,235 
Transfers to property plant and equipment (27,500) (127,916)
Carrying amount at end of year 2,216 10,145 

23 Payables

Trade and other creditors 19,521 12,454 
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24 Interest bearing liabilities

Finance lease liabilities
Current 139 125 
Non current 13,324 13,463 

13,463 13,588 
Lease liabilities are effectively secured as the rights to the leased assets revert 
to the lessor in the event of default.

25 Provisions

Employee entitlements

Current

Annual leave 18,449 17,853 
Long service leave 22,026 18,255 

40,475 36,108 
Non-current
Long service leave 23,110 21,430 

63,585 57,538 
Employee entitlements

The aggregate employee entitlement liability is recognised and included in 
the financial statements as a provision is as follows:

Current 40,475 36,108 
Non-current 23,110 21,430 
Total 63,585 57,538 

26 Other liabilities

Current

Accrued salaries and wages 6,305 4,611 
Accrued interest 113 114 

6,418 4,725 

Amount owing for salaries and wages the 6 working days from 21 June to 
30 June 2002, (2001, 6 working days).

Accrued salaries and wages are settled within a few days of the financial year end. 
The carrying amount is equivalent to the net fair value.

27 Equity

Equity represents the residual interest in the net assets of the Department. 
The Government holds the equity interest in the Department on behalf of the 
community. The asset revaluation reserve represents that portion of equity from 
the revaluation of non-current assets.
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Contributed equity

Opening balance - - 
Capital contributions 21,853 - 
Closing balance 21,853 - 

From 1 July 2001, capital appropriations, termed Capital Contributions, have been 
designated as contributions by owners and are credited straight to equity in the 
Statement of Financial Position.

Asset revaluation reserve

Land

Opening balance 76,869 65,093 
Net revaluation increment/(decrement) 1,537 11,776 
Closing balance 78,406 76,869 

Buildings

Opening balance 366,211 374,717 
Net revaluation increment/(decrement) 9,029 (8,506)
Closing balance 375,240 366,211 

The asset revaluation reserve is used to record increments and decrements on the 
revaluation on non-current assets, as described in accounting policy note 2 (h).

Accumulated surplus/(deficiency)

Opening balance 107,120 8,568 
Change in net assets after restructuring 5,756 98,552 
Closing balance 112,876 107,120 

Total asset revaluation reserve 453,646 443,080 

Total equity 588,375 550,200 

28 Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows

(a) Reconciliation of cash

Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows 
is reconciled to the related items in the Statement of Financial Position as follows:

Cash assets - operating account 19,592 5,034 
Cash assets - permanent and temporary advances 414 503 
Restricted cash assets (note 18) 6,267 5,245 

26,273 10,782 
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(b) Non-cash financing and investing activities

During the financial year, there were no assets/liabilities transferred/assumed from 
other government agencies not reflected in the Statement of Cash Flows.

In the prior year, the Department acquired property (Fremantle Justice Centre) with 
an aggregate fair value of $13,880,000 by means of a finance lease. This acquisition 
was not reflected in the Statement of Cash Flows.

In addition, from 1 July 2000 the Government Employees Superannuation Board 
(GESB) assumed responsibility for the administration of the Judges' Pension Scheme. 
Under the new arrangement, the GESB initially incur the cost of the pensions 
and then recoup the amount from the Consolidated Fund (Treasury). The liability 
transferred to Treasury of $102,631 was not reflected in the Statement of Cash Flows.

(c) Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows provided by/(used in) 
operating activities

Net cost of services (Statement of Financial Performance) (493,890) (433,145)

Non-cash items:
Depreciation expense 23,475 21,815 
Superannuation and judges pensions expense 7,139 26,187 
Resources received free of charge 3,114 3,294 
(Profit)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 8 1,655 

(Increase)/decrease in assets:
Receivables (5,341) (563)
Other current assets 3,573 (3,748)

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:
Payables 7,067 5,274 
Provisions 6,047 5,436 
Other liabilities 1,693 303 

Change in GST in receivables/payables 1,260 (3,565)
Net cash used in operating activities (445,855) (377,057)

(d) At the reporting date, the Department had fully drawn on all financing 
facilities, details of which are disclosed in the financial statements.

29 Resources provided free of charge

During the year the following resources were provided to other agencies free of 
charge for functions outside the normal operations of the Department.

Corporate support provided by the Department to:

Law Reform Commission 197 204 
Office of the Director of Public Prosecutions 695 717 
Equal Opportunity Commissioner 67 75 
Office of the Information Commissioner 31 35 
Legal services provided by the Crown Solicitor's Office to:
Other Government Agencies 12,236 12,985 

13,226 14,016 
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30 Commitments for expenditure

(a) Capital expenditure commitments

Capital expenditure commitments, being contracted capital expenditure additional 
to the amounts reported in the financial statements, are payable as follows:

Within 1 year 5,671 11,836 
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years - 1,185 

5,671 13,021 
The capital commitments include amounts for:
Land and buildings 5,671 13,019 
Other - 2 

5,671 13,021 
(b) Lease commitments
Commitments in relation to leases contracted for at the reporting date but not 
recognised as liabilities, payable.

Within 1 year 19,905 17,533 
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 63,540 55,064 
Later than 5 years 32,619 44,874 

116,064 117,471 
Representing:
Operating leases 79,375 79,221 
Finance leases 36,689 38,250 

116,064 117,471 

(i) Finance leases

The Department of Justice entered into a 25 year lease agreement for the 
development of the Fremantle Justice Centre. At the reporting date the Department 
had the following obligations for the financial lease.

Within 1 year 1,561 1,561 
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 6,245 6,245 
Later than 5 years 28,883 30,444 
Minimum finance lease payments 36,689 38,250 
Less future finance charges 23,226 24,662 
Finance lease liability 13,463 13,588 

Included in the financial statements as:

Current 139 125 
Non-current 13,324 13,463 

13,463 13,588 

(ii) Non cancellable operating leases 

The Department leases certain premises, motor vehicles and items of plant and office 
equipment. The lease expenditure is expensed as it is incurred. At the reporting date 
the Department had the following obligations under operating leases.
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Within 1 year 18,344 15,972 
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 57,295 48,819 
Later than 5 years 3,736 14,430 

79,375 79,221 

31 Contingent liabilities

In addition to the liabilities incorporated into the financial statements the 
Department has the following contingent liabilities.

(i) Litigation in progress

Claims against the Department of Justice from the general public and offenders. 685 900 

None of the claims are covered by an insurance policy and any claims settled will 
have to be met from the Department's recurrent funds. 

(ii) Disclosure regarding criminal injuries compensation.

Claims yet to be assessed 12,636 12,763 

32 Remuneration and retirement benefits of senior officers

The number of senior officers whose total of fees, salaries superannuation and other 
benefits received, or due and receivable, for the financial year, falls within the 
following bands:

$ 90,001 - $ 100,000 - 1 
$ 100,001 - $ 110,000 1 2 
$ 110,001 - $ 120,000 - 3 
$ 120,001 - $ 130,000 4 1 
$ 140,001 - $ 150,000 2 -
$ 180,001 - $ 190,000 - 1 
$ 220,001 - $ 230,000 1 - 
$ 230,001 - $ 240,000 - 2 
$ 240,001 - $ 250,000 - 1 
$ 250,001 - $ 260,000 - 1 
$ 270,001 - $ 280,000 1 - 
$ 280,001 - $ 290,000 1 - 

10 12 

The total remuneration of senior officers is: 1,681 2,106 

Senior officers are those who take part in the management of the organisation. 
Deemed to be Director General, executive directors and other divisional heads.

The superannuation included here represents the superannuation expense incurred 
by the Department in respect of senior officers.

No senior officers are members of the Superannuation and Family Benefits 
Act Scheme (Pension Scheme).
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33 Related bodies

The Department had no related bodies during the financial year.

34 Affiliated bodies

The Department provided more than 50% of the total operational funds to the 
Legal Aid Commission of Western Australia during the 2001/02 financial year. 
The Commission is not subject to operational control by the Department and 
is therefore considered to be an affiliated body under the Financial Administration 
and Audit Act.

35 Supplementary financial information

Write-Offs

Public and other property, revenue and debts to the State. Written off in accordance 
with Section 45 of the Financial Administration and Audit Act.

- Accountable Officer 6,469 7,059 

- Minister - 3,429 

Total losses and write offs 6,469 10,488 

Losses through theft, defaults and other causes

Losses of public moneys and property through theft, default or otherwise not 
covered by insurance. 1 1 

Gifts of public property provided by the Department. - - 

36 Remuneration of Auditor

It is not a requirement for the Department to pay audit fees to the Auditor General. 
However, the notional value of audit services by the Office of the Auditor General 
was estimated at $111,500 (2000-2001; $160,000). This amount is included in the 
Statement of Financial Performance.
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37 Financial Instruments

(a) Interest rate risk exposure

The Department's exposure to interest rate risk, repricing maturities and the weighted average interest rates on financial
instruments at balance date are as follows:

Weighted Floating Fixed interest rate maturities Non Total
average interest 1 year 1 to 5 Over 5 interest
interest rate or less years years bearing
rate 

2002 % $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Financial assets

Cash assets 20,006 20,006 
Restricted cash assets 6,267 6,267 
Receivables 8,896 8,896 
Other assets 28,786 28,786 

Total financial assets - - - - 63,955 63,955 

Liabilities
Payables 19,521 19,521 
Finance lease liabilities 10.6 139 654 12,670 13,463 
Provisions 63,585 63,585 
Other liabilities 6,418 6,418 

Total financial liabilities - 139 654 12,670 89,524 102,987 

Net financial asset (liabilities) - (139) (654) (12,670) (25,569) (39,032)

2001
Financial assets 19,764 19,764 
Financial liabilities 125 654 12,809 74,717 88,305 
Net financial asset (liabilities) - (125) (654) (12,809) (54,953) (68,541)

(b) Credit risk exposure

All financial assets are unsecured.

Amounts owing by other government agencies are guaranteed and therefore no 
credit risk exists in respect of those amounts. In respect of other financial assets 
the carrying amounts represents the Department's maximum exposure to credit 
risk in relation to those assets.

(c) Net fair values

The carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the
financial statements are not materially different from their net fair values, 
determined in accordance with the accounting policies disclosed in note 2 to 
the financial statements.
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38 Administered and expenses revenues

Expenses
Transfer payments - Family court 9,320 10,311 
Transfer payments - other government agencies 33,625 29,153 
Doubtful debts 2,342 2,528 
Other 201 25 
Total administered expenses 45,488 42,017 

Revenues
Judicial fines and penalties 19,112 14,848 
Infringement penalties 253 249 
Revenue for transfer - Family court 9,524 9,704 
Revenue for transfer - other government agencies 33,068 29,273 
Other 116 8 
Total administered revenues 62,073 54,082 

39 Administered assets and liabilities

Current assets

Administered assets are not controlled by the Department but are administered 
by it on behalf of the Government.

Cash and restricted cash assets
- Operating account (130) 339 
- Suitors Fund 15 - 
- Departmental receipts in suspense 420 741 
- Family Court 211 7 

516 1,087 
Receivables
- Petty Sessions - fines and costs 8,161 8,870 
- Supreme and District Court fines & forfeitures 1,877 1,705 
- Fines Enforcement Registry 73,716 69,354 
- Children's Court 41 146 

83,795 80,075 
Less: provision for doubtful debts
- Unrecoverable fees & fines - note 2 (c) (51,056) (48,714)

32,739 31,361 

Total administered current assets 33,255 32,448 

Current liabilities
- Payables 264 389 
- Amounts due to the Treasurer (Appeals Cost Board) 850 850 

1,114 1,239 

Net administered assets 32,141 31,209 
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40 Cashflows from administered transactions

Cash inflows from administered transactions
Administered revenues received 60,695 56,734 

Cash outflows from administered transactions
Transfer and other payments (45,251) (41,991)
Administered revenues credited to Consolidated Fund (16,015) (15,262)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from administered transactions (571) (519)

41 Explanatory statement

The Summary of Consolidated Fund Appropriations and Revenue Estimates discloses 
appropriations and other statutes expenditure estimates, the actual expenditure and 
revenue estimates and payments into the Consolidated Fund, all on a accrual basis.

The following explanations are provided in accordance with Treasurer's Instruction 945. 
Significant variations are considered to be those greater than 5% and $300,000.

A Details of authorisation to expend in advance of appropriation $'000 

To meet initiatives approved during the financial year and other unavoidable costs, 
supplementary appropriation requests were approved.

Purchase of Outputs 14,631 
Capital contribution (9,487)

5,144 
Purchase of output appropriation limits were increased for:

Capital Works projects expensed during the financial either as a result of reprioritisation 
or reclassification of projects. The Capital Contribution appropriation was reduced by an equal amount. 9,887 

Ex-gratia payments made on behalf of the State for mesothelioma settlements and other matters. 2,037 

Legal Aid Commission – State funding components passed on to the Commission for:

(a) additional funding to cover wages parity adjustments. 428 

(a) legal representation costs – expensive cases. 576 

Police Royal Commission legal representation costs of police officers appearing as witnesses before 
the Royal Commission. 225 

Replacement of a leased facility for Community Justice at Maddington following the abandonment 
of another site following a roof collapse. 442 

Warrant execution costs for increased operating costs of a contractor to execute warrants for 
outstanding court fees and fines, which are fully offset by increased revenue collections. 908 

Capital User Charge - revised capital balances resulted in additional capital user charge payments. 220 

Voluntary severance scheme - endorsed costs met by Government. 1,127 

Savings for management initiated retirement and lower than expected costs of superannuation and 
other expenses. (1,219)
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$'000

Increase in appropriation for the purchase of outputs 14,631 

Capital Contribution

Supplementary approval to fit out a new Community Justice facility at Maddington. 400 

Approval to reduce the Capital Contribution appropriation following reprioritisation and reclassification 
of Capital works projects. (9,887)

(9,487)

B Significant variations between actual outputs and budget estimates for 2001-2002

RECURRENT

Output 2 - Case Processing Excess 1,634 
Increased expenditure is largely due to increased salary and wages costs.

Output 3 - Enforcement of Criminal and Civil Court Orders Excess 2,061 
Increased expenditure is due to extra debt collection fees paid to the 
contractor for warrant execution services. This expenditure is offset by 
additional revenue collected by the contractor. Higher salary and wages 
costs also contributed to the increased expenditure.

Output 7 - Adult offenders managed Excess 13,824 
The increased expenditure is due to:

(a) higher prisoner services and prison industry activity. Resulted in 
corresponding increases in revenue from sales and recoups;

(b) higher than forecast workers compensation payments which are 
recouped from the Department’s insurer;

(c) increased costs of prisoner transport and security provided through 
the Court Security and Custodial Services contract following contract 
arbitration;

(d) increased building maintenance costs; and

(e) higher prisoner load in the public prison system than budget position. 
In addition, slower than expected labour and other cost savings from 
a reduction in the prisoner population.

Output 8 - Juvenile offender managed Excess 3,448 
Increased expenditure is largely due to extra salary and wages costs due 
to the transfer of Education Services from Prisons, additional Community 
Corrections Officers and the reclassification of Juvenile Justice Officers 
during the year. A further variation in expenditure is for workers compensation 
costs which were not previously allocated against this output.
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$'000

Output 10 - Trustee Services Excess 718 
Increased expenditure is largely due to funding carry-overs from 2000/01 
for the Business Process Re-engineering project and increased salary and 
wages costs. 

Output 13 - Support services to other Government Agencies Excess 2,159 
The increased expenditure is due to ex-gratia payments made on behalf 
of the State for meeting the cost of settlements in common law and for 
other compensation arrangements.

Output 14 - Legal Aid Assistance Excess 1,004 
Increased expenditure is largely due to increased funding for salary and 
wages costs and additional expenditure on expensive cases represented 
by Legal Aid.

Retained revenue Additional 19,173 

A variety of reasons account for the additional revenue in 2001/02. 
These include:

(a) Prison services sale of industry goods were above budget by 42% due 
to increased activity.

(b) Public Trust Fees were above budget by 5% due to increased collections

(c) Registration services were 8% above budget due to increased demand 
for certificates and extracts for drivers license purposes.

(d) Court Fees were above the original budget due to court fee increases 
and increased collections by the contracted warrant execution service.

(e) Family Court Grants were 18% higher than budget reflecting activity 
and cost increases.

(f) Recoups of Prisoner telephones (Arunta), salaries & wages, workers 
compensation, legal costs and residential recovery were above budget.

(g) Other revenue including a refund of capital works paid to the WA 
Building Management Authority (Now Department of Housing and 
Works) to meet planned infrastructure additions and claims by the 
builder at Acacia Prison. Due to changes to scope of works, these 
funds were not required.

(h) Recoup of prior year’s costs from the Commonwealth for detainees. 
This was not included in original budget settings.

CAPITAL Under Spending 9,487 

The Capital Works Program budget was $49.9 million and was financed from:

Appropriation for outputs 19,160 
Capital contribution 31,340 
Internal funds and balances (647)

49,853 
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$'000

Supplementary appropriation approvals were provided to:

(a) apply $9.887 million from capital contribution appropriation to appropriation 
provided to purchase outputs to reflect reprioritisation and reclassification 
of the Capital works program and projects with higher expenditure against 
projects which were expensed in the period; and

(b) additional appropriation authorisation of $0.4 million for Capital contribution 
appropriation for fitout costs of a replacement leased facility for Community 
Justice at Maddington. This was funded by recoupment of the sale of Justice's 
Bentley property.

Total payments for 2001/02 were $47.1 million and this was financed from:

Appropriation for outputs 21,853 
Capital Contribution 25,288 

47,141 
Integrated Courts Management System (Under spending $1.3 million)
The underspending was due to revisions to the strategies of the system development 
with the underspending applied to accelerate the roll out of the court’s hardware 
financed through the infrastructure upgrade project.

Community Based Information System (CBIS) – (Under spending $0.6 million)
The under spending was due to revised project schedules and to fund maintenance 
and enhancements to the offender management system.

Nyandi/Longmore upgrade (Under spending $0.9 million)
The bulk of development costs of the proposal were met from funding provided for 
planning of the prison. The project funding will be carried over to 2002-03 for design 
specification.

Acacia Prison construction (Under spending $0.5 million)
Construction completed but final billing for work not received by 30 June 2002.

Financial Management Information System (Under spending $0.2 million)
Project implementation delayed, with project completion rescheduled
to September 2002.

Bandyup Prison upgrade – (Excess $1.8 million)
The second stage of the Bandyup women’s prison redevelopment was accelerated 
from the original project plan.

Previously finalised projects (Excess $0.2 million)
Four projects completed in the previous year and for which original project budgets 
for 2001/02 were not provided, were subject to funding claims in 2001/02.

Busselton Justice Centre ($21,000)
Fremantle Justice Centre – infrastructure ($14,000)
Wooroloo Minimum Security Prison ($29,000)
Rockingham Justice Centre complex ($151,000)

These costs were met within the capital program.



D E P A R T M E N T  O F  J U S T I C E  •  A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 1 / 2 0 0 2

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Page 175

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2002

$'000

Projects expensed
Rangeview transition costs (Under spending $0.9 million)
TOMS enhancement project (Excess $0.7 million)
Kimberley regional project (Under spending $0.1 million)

Funding for Rangeview was not required and the bulk of the budget was transferred 
to TOMS ($0.8 million) and the Kimberley ($0.1 million) projects.

Hardware Upgrade (Excess $1.5 million)
This project incorporated the acceleration of the courts hardware and related services upgrade.

Establish intra messaging capability (Excess $0.4 million)
The over expenditure was due to the acceleration of the project in 2001/02.

Regional and metropolitan land acquisitions (Under spending $1.1 million)
The under spending was due to delays in site identification and acquisition processes

Additional prisoner accommodation (Under spending $0.3 million)
Additional prisoner accommodation project which was deferred due to lower 
prisoner numbers, which resulted in under spending of $0.3 million.

Prison Refurbishment – Various (Under spending $0.8 million)
Late client approvals led to insufficient time to spend the allocated budget funds 
with the amounts to be spent in 2002/03.

ADMINISTERED REVENUE Increase 2,906

Judicial fines and penalties - Additional revenue reflects the increase in the receivables 
for administered transactions.

C Significant variations between actual outputs for the financial year and outputs for the 
immediately preceding financial year 

RECURRENT

Output 1 - Judiciary and Judicial Support Decrease 3,822 
The major decrease is attributable to the reduction in judicial pensions 
expenses in 2001/02 compared with 2000/01.

Output 2 - Case Processing Increase 23,932 
The major expenditure increase was the Capital User Charge (This was not 
incurred in the 2000/01 financial year). Other significant increases included, 
Integrated Courts Management System (ICMS) costs, depreciation of computer 
equipment and interest expenditure for the Fremantle Justice Complex. Services 
costs for the court security and custodial services contract increased due to a 
growth in volume and an arbitration adjustment was made during the year. 
Salaries and wages costs also increased.

Output 3 - Enforcement of criminal and civil court orders Increase 1,653 
Increased expenditure is due to extra debt collection fees paid to the contractor for 
warrant execution services. This expenditure is offset by additional revenue collected 
by the contractor. Higher salary and wages costs also contributed to the increased 
expenditure.
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$'000

Output 5 - Legal Services Increase 925 
Increased expenditure is due to increases in salary and wages costs.

Output 7 - Adult offenders managed Increase 44,209 
The major increase was the Capital User Charge, which was not incurred in the 
2000/01 financial year. Other significant increases included, depreciation costs as 
a result of the completion of Acacia Prison, full year operating costs for the private 
prison (Acacia), costs increases for the Court Security and Custodial Services contract 
following a growth in volume of services as well as an adjustment from an arbitration 
decision. Salaries and wages costs also increased.

Output 8 - Juvenile offender managed Increase 4,834 
Increased expenditure is mainly due to the Capital User Charges that were not
incurred in 2000/01. Increased salary and wages costs due to the transfer of 
Education Services from Prisons, plus the reclassification of Juvenile Justice Officers 
during the year also accounted for the variation. A further cost adjustment was for 
workers compensation costs which were not previously allocated against this output.

Output 10 - Trustee Services Increase 544 
Increased expenditure is largely due to funding carry-overs from 2000/01 for the 
Business Process Re-engineering project and increased salary and wages costs. 

Output 13 - Support services to other Government Agencies Increase 2,347 
The increased expenditure is due to ex-gratia payments made on behalf of the 
State for meeting the cost of settlements in common law. Salaries and wages costs 
also increased.

Output 14 - Legal Aid Increase 1,674 
Increased expenditure is largely due to the provision in 2001/02 of services provided 
to clients of mortgage brokers who suffered losses of investments and increased 
salary and wages costs.

Output 15 - Strategic Policy Information and Legislative Services Decrease 4,235 
This output was abolished and financial year costs reallocated to other Departmental 
outputs.

CAPITAL

Variations between actual expenditure for the current financial year and previous 
year is due to the nature of the capital works program in that allocations and project 
scope vary from year to year. An explanation on variations does not provide 
information that is useful for decision making and has therefore not been provided.

ADMINISTERED REVENUES Increase 4,517

Judicial fines and penalties - Additional revenue reflects the increase in the 
receivables for administered transactions. 
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42 Trust and Treasurer's Advance Accounts

2001/02 2000/01

Opening Receipts Payments Closing Opening Receipts Payments Closing

Account balance balance balance balance

$'000s $'000s $'000s $'000s $'000s $'000s $'000s $'000s

1 Insurance - sheriff's assurance 76 3 - 79 72 4 76
account 

2 Department of Justice - receipts 7 18 25 - 8 78 79 7
in advance 

3 Research and special projects - - - - 391 - 391 - 
trust account

4 Juvenile justice trust account 33 5 37 1 89 7 63 33 

5 Civil court judgement - 6 220 226 - 6 67 67 6 
Government account

6 Land acquisition account 953 64,212 60,651 4,514 2,561 70,086 71,694 953 

7 Suitor's fund account - 119 104 15 17 8 25 - 

8 Clerk of Courts trust account 2,572 33,953 33,718 2,807 2,183 32,406 32,017 2,572 

9 Departmental receipts in suspense 714 34,734 35,291 157 594 29,273 29,153 714 

10 Sheriff's and District Court 60 1,873 1,638 295 205 712 857 60
bailiff's trust account 

11 Civil action - Supreme and 2,266 2,190 2,028 2,428 3,466 3,702 4,902 2,266 
District Courts account

12 Companies liquidation account 725 - - 725 725 - - 725 

13 Prisoners private cash trust fund 152 2,157 2,272 37 285 2,436 2,569 152 

14 Department of Justice - 9 13 13 9 6 49 46 9 
settlement payments account

15 Family Court - Commonwealth 7 9,524 9,320 211 614 9,704 10,311 7 
advance account

16 Appeal costs board - treasurer's (725) - 100 (825) (725) - - (725)
advance account
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1 Insurance - sheriff's assurance account
To hold moneys to finance public and professional indemnity insurance for the Sheriff of Western Australia while on
official duties.

2 Department of Justice - receipts in advance
To hold monies lodged as a prepayment by clients upon satisfactory completion of a service or supply of goods.

3 Research and special projects fund
To hold funds for the purpose of conducting research projects or programs in accordance with an agreement between the
Department of Justice and the funding body. Account is no longer used.

4 Juvenile justice trust account
To hold monies in trust for children under the care of the juvenile justice program and such other monies as are received
from any person or organisation for the provision of amenities in program facilities which house children, and for such
other specific purposes as directed by the donors.

5 Civil court judgements - Government account
To hold moneys arising from Civil Court judgements made in favour of Government departments and authorities.

6 Land acquisition account
To hold moneys for and on behalf of Government departments and authorities pending settlement of land acquisition.

7 Suitor's fund account
To Hold Funds, in Accordance with section 4 of the suitors' fund Act (The Act), to meet the liability for costs of certain
litigation and for incidental and other purposes pursuant to the Act.

8 Clerk of Courts trust account
To hold moneys, collected in the course of court activities at courts of petty sessions and local courts throughout the
state, for the disbursement to other parties.

9 Departmental receipts in suspense
To hold funds pending identification of the purpose for which those monies were received pursuant to section 9 (2) (c) (iv)
of the Financial Administration and Audit Act.

10 Sheriff and District Court bailiff's trust account

To hold monies collected or realised from the Execution by the Sheriff, Supreme Court or Bailiff District Court of Writs of
fieri facias against Judgement Debtors in Civil Actions in the Supreme or District Courts of Western Australia. 

11 Civil Action - Supreme and District Courts account
To hold monies paid into the Supreme and District Courts in civil actions as ordered by the Supreme Court of Western
Australia or District Court.

12 Companies liquidation account
To hold funds received by the Director General, Department of Justice from the Commissioner for Corporate Affairs
pending payment pursuant to section 427 of the Companies (Western Australia) Code. 

13 Prisoners private cash fund
To hold monies for and on behalf of prisoners.

14 Department of Justice - settlement payments account
To hold monies received by the Department of Justice and Small Claims Tribunal as a consequence of actions to resolve
disputes.

15 Family Court - Commonwealth advance account
To hold funds received from the commonwealth for the Establishment and Administration of the family court of Western
Australia, in accordance with an agreement pursuant to section 41 (1) of the Family Law Act, pending transfer to the
consolidated Revenue Fund. 

16 Appeal Costs Board - treasurer's advance account
A maximum expenditure advance of $850,000 was approved by the Treasurer to provide a temporary advance for funding
of the Suitor's Fund Act. The expenditures are subject to reimbursement from the consolidated fund via the Suitor's Fund
Account.



D E P A R T M E N T  O F  J U S T I C E  •  A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 1 / 2 0 0 2

OTHER STATEMENT OF RECEIPTS AND PAYMENTS

FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Page 179

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2002

43 Commonwealth Grant - Christmas and Cocos Island

2001/02 2000/01 

$'000 $'000 

Balance as at 1st July 62,192 104,523 

Adjustment to opening balance 233,192 - 

Adjusted opening balance 1st July 295,384 104,523 

RECEIPTS

Commonwealth reimbursements 192,598 405,463 

Court fees - 1,724 

Total receipts 192,598 407,187 

PAYMENTS

Operating costs 209,800 449,518 

Additional Services for Prisoner Costs - - 

Total payments 209,800 449,518 

Balance as at 30th June 278,182 62,192 

Operating costs are based on both actuals plus identified estimated services 
provided as agreed in the Standard Delivery Service Agreement signed by the 
Commonwealth and the State.

The opening balance was adjusted as revised financial information for 2000/01 
was submitted and accepted by the Commonwealth.
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Contracts awarded between 1 July 2001 and 30 June 2002:

$0 - $19,999

$20,000 - $49,999

$50,000 - $99,999

$100,000 - $499,999

$500,000 - $999,999

$1,000,000 +

Value Number of Contracts

32

27

8

22

4

2

RFT82201A Supply of material, sheeting Stewart and Heaton Clothing $1,867,000
RFT82201B and towelling and Sheridan Australia

RFT30801A Provision of fruit and GA Zimbulis $1,000,000
RFT30801B vegetables for prisons Ellectrolley
RFT30801C Merver Mooney
RFT30801D Sunlong Fresh Products
RFT30801E G & B Bendotti
RFT30801G
RFT30801F

RFT60301A Supply of materials for Cockburn Cement $936,000
concrete slabs

1569 2001 Provision of visiting general Dr Anthony Stephen Balint $820,000
medical practitioner services Dr Foster & Associates

1668 2001 Domestic violence perpetrator Anglicare WA $720,000
support services for Albany, Centacare Bunbury
Geraldton, Kalgoorlie Geraldton Regional Community 

Education Centre
Goldfields Centacare

1460 2001 Provision of employee Prime Employee Assistance $540,000
Maintenance assistance Services
program For DOJ

RFT53001 Provision of employee Prime Employee Assistance $327,172
assistance program

1451 2001 Supply of property maintenance Haden FM P/L $249,999
services to The Public Trust Transfield Services
Office

1599 2001 Legislative drafting services Anthony James Dowling $76,025

1708 2001 Gas supply agreement for Alinta Gas $249,000
Greenough Regional Prison

1477 2001 Project manager for public Auburna Consulting $249,000
Trust Office

1530 2001 Upgrade of Oracle Financials Oracle Corporation $248,314
to Version 11i

RFT100601 Providers Domestic Violence Relationships Australia $244,200
Intervention

RFT34201 Provision of Flat Screen Monitors JH Computers $240,561

No Yr Contract Description Vendor/s Recommended Contract Value
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1667 2001 Provision of domestic service Relationships Australia $240,000
programs

1637 2001 Project leader/analyst for Penrod P/L $237,600
support of Unix/Oracle

1666 2001 Domestic violence perpetrator Relationships Australia $210,000
support – Rockingham/Mandurah

1547 2001 Provision of a training Murdoch University $203,610
course for justices

1427 2001 Building services – reception Drake Personnel $187,857 *
and switchboard

1642 2001 Purchase of trend software Computercorp P/L $157,897

1387 2001 Victim support and services Karen Fisher $156,000
for the Karratha Region

1404 2001 Provision of optical services OPSM $150,000
to offenders in custody 

1539 2001 Provision of assessment services Cherie Forster $150,000
for the Perth metropolitan area Cinzia Zuin

Clair Lynn
Darryl Menaglio
David Charles Summerton
Dr Sophie Henshaw
Helen Fowler & Assoc
Mercurio Cicchini
Narelle Steer
Peter J Dunlop
Peter Prisgrove
Psychological Assessment
Counselling & Treatment
Robyn Marschner
Victim & Offender Assessment 
& Treatment Services

1601 2001 Victim support services Centacare Marriage and Family $123,246
Esperance Service – Kalgoorlie

RFT60301B Concrete sand, blue metal, CSR Readymix $120,000
quarry sand and limestone

1600 2001 Victim support services Centacare Family Services $110,862

1591 2001 Provision of market research Colmar Brunton WA P/L $110,000
in the Kimberley Region

1556 2001 Provision of child witness Christine Larke $105,300
services for Bunbury region

* Cost of the contract over the full term of 3 years

No Yr Contract Description Vendor/s Recommended Contract Value
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Legislation administered and
complied with: 

Administration Act 1903

Bail Act 1982

Births Deaths And Marriages Registration
Act 1998

Children’s Court of Western Australia 
Act 1988

Companies (Acquisition of Shares)
(Application of Laws) Act 1981 *

Companies Act 1961 *

Companies (Application of Laws) Act 1981 *

Coroners Act 1996

Corporations (Western Australia) Act 1990

Court Security and Custodial Services 
Act 1999

Criminal Law (Mentally Impaired Defendants)
Act 1996

Crown Suits Act 1947

Declarations and Attestations Act 1913

District Court of Western Australia Act 1969

Family Court Act 1997

Fines, Penalties and Infringement Notices
Enforcement Act 1994

Guardianship and Administration Act 1990

Interpretation Act 1984

Juries Act 1957

Justices Act 1902 Liquor Licensing Act
1988 (Div 2 of Part 2 s. 8-11, s. 14, 
s. 175(1)(c) only)

Local Courts Act 1904

Magisterial Districts Act 1886

Married Women’s Property Act 1892

Prisoners (Release For Deportation) Act 1989

Prisons Act 1981

Professional Standards Act 1997

Prostitution Act 2000 (s. 62 and Part 5 only)

Public Trustee Act 1941

Recording of Evidence Act 1975

Recording of Proceedings Act 1980

Reprints Act 1984

Restraining Orders Act 1997

Restraint of Debtors Act 1984

Sentence Administration Act 1995

Small Claims Tribunals Act 1974

Spent Convictions Act 1988

Suitors Fund Act 1964

Young Offenders Act 1994

Legislation administered:

Age of Majority Act 1972

Anglican Church of Australia Act 1976

Anglican Church of Australia Constitution
Act 1960

Anglican Church of Australia (Diocesan
Trustees) Act 1888

Anglican Church of Australia Lands Act 1914

Anglican Church of Australia (Northern
Diocese) Act 1961

Anglican Church of Australia (Swanleigh
Land and Endowments) Act 1979

Artificial Conception Act 1985

Australia Acts (Request) Act 1985

Charitable Trusts Act 1962

Choice of Law (Limitation Periods) Act 1994

Censorship Act 1996

Commercial Arbitration Act 1985

Commonwealth Places (Administration 
of Laws) Act 1970

Companies (Acquisition of Shares) (Western
Australia) Code *

Companies (Administration) Act 1982 *

Companies (Western Australia) Code *

Companies and Securities (Interpretation and
Miscellaneous Provisions) (Application 
of Laws) Act 1981 *

Companies and Securities (Interpretation and
Miscellaneous Provisions) (Western
Australia) Code *

Confederation of Western Australia Industry
(Inc.) Act 1976

Constitutional Powers (Coastal Waters) 
Act 1979

Co-operative and Provident Societies 
Act 1903
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Corporations (Taxing) Act 1990

Crime (Serious & Repeat Offenders)
Sentencing Act 1992

Crimes at Sea Act 2000

Crimes (Confiscation of Profits) Act 1988

Criminal Code

Criminal Code Amendment Act (No. 2)

Criminal Injuries Compensation Act 1985

Criminal Investigation (Extra-Territorial
Offences) Act 1987

Criminal Property Confiscation Act 2000

Criminal Property Confiscation
(Consequential Provisions) Act 2000

Debtors Act 1871

Domicile Act 1981

Equal Opportunity Act 1984 (Part VIII)

Escheat (Procedure) Act 1940

Evidence Act 1906

Fatal Accidents Act 1959

Federal Courts (State Jurisdiction) Act 1999

Financial Transaction Reports Act 1995
Freedom of Information Act 1992

Foreign Judgments Act 1963

Futures Industry (Application of Laws) 
Act 1986

Gender Reassignment Act 2000

Goldfields Tattersalls Club (Inc.) Act 1986

Highways (Liability for Straying Animals) 
Act 1983

Inheritance (Family and Dependents
Provision) Act 1972

Judges Retirement Act 1937

Jurisdiction of Courts (Cross-Vesting) 
Act 1987

Law Reform (Contributory Negligence and
Tortfeasors’ Contribution) Act 1947

Law Reform (Miscellaneous Provisions) 
Act 1947

Law Reform (State of Frauds) Act 1962

Law Reporting Act 1981

Law Society Public Purposes Trust Act 1985

Legal Aid Commission Act 1976

Legal Contribution Trust Act 1967

Legal Practitioners Act 1893

Legal Representation of Infants Act 1977

Limitations Act 1935

Marketable Securities Transfer Act 1970

Newspaper Libel and Registration Act 1884

Newspaper Libel and Registration Act 1884
Amendment Act 1888

Occupiers’ Liability Act 1985

Offenders (Legal Action) Act 2000

Official Prosecutions (Defendants’ Costs) 
Act 1973

Off-Shore (Application of Laws) Act 1982

Partnership Act 1895

Perth and Tattersall’s Bowling & Recreation
Club (Inc.) Act 1979

Perth Anglican Church of Australia Collegiate
School Act 1885

Presbyterian Church Act 1976

Presbyterian Church of Australia Act 1970

Prisoners (International Transfer) Act 2000

Prisoners (Interstate Transfer) Act 1983

Property Law Act 1969

Public Notaries Act 1979

Sale of Land Act 1970 (Part IVA)

Sea-Carriage Documents Act 1997

Securities Industry Act 1975 *

Securities Industry (Application of Laws) 
Act 1981 *

Securities Industry (Release of Sureties) 
Act 1977 *

Securities Industry (Western Australia) Code *

Sentencing Act 1995

Sentencing (Consequential Provisions) 
Act 1995

Service and Execution of Process (Harbours)
Ordinance 1855

Slander of Women Act 1900

Solicitor-General Act 1969

Special Investigation (Coal Contract) 
Act 1994
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Statutory Corporations (Liability of Directors)
Act 1996

Stipendiary Magistrates Act 1957

Trustee Ordinance 1854

Trustee Companies Act 1987

Trustees Act 1962

Uniting Church in Australia Act 1976

Victims of Crime Act 1994

Warehousemen’s Liens Act 1952

Warrants for Goods Endorsement Act 1898

Western Australian Trustees Limited
(Mergers) Act 1989

Wills Act 1970

Legislation complied with:

Aboriginal Affairs Planning Authority 
Act 1972

Adoption Act 1994

Age of Majority Act 1972

Anatomy Act 1930

Artificial Conception Act 1985

Associations Incorporation Act 1987

Auction Sales Act 1973

Bills of Sale Act 1899

Business Names Act 1962

Cemeteries Act 1986

Charitable Trusts Act 1962

Chattel Securities Act 1987

Child Support (Adoption of Laws) Act 1990

Child Welfare Act 1947

Choice of Law (Limitation Periods) Act 1994

Commercial Arbitration Act 1985

Commercial Tenancy (Retail Shops)
Agreement Act 1985

Commercial Tribunal Act 1984

Companies (Co-operative) Act 1943

Control of Vehicles (Off-road Areas) Act 1978

Cremation Act 1929

Criminal Code

Criminal Injuries Compensation Act 1985

Criminal Property Confiscation Act 2000

Debits Tax Act 1990

Debits Tax Assessment Act 1990

Dental Act 1939

Disability Services Act 1993

Dividing Fences Act 1961

Dog Act 1976

Domicile Act 1981

Electoral Act 1907

Employers Indemnity Supplementation Fund
Act 1980

Equal Opportunity Act 1984 (Parts I-VII, X)

Escheat (Procedure) Act 1940

Evidence Act 1906

Fair Trading Act 1987

Family Court (Orders of Registrars) Act 1997

Fatal Accidents Act 1959

Federal Courts (State Jurisdiction) Act 1999

Financial Administration and Audit Act 1985

Financial Institutions Duty Act 1983

Financial Transaction Reports Act 1995

Firearms Act 1973

First Home Owner Grant Act 2000

Freedom of Information Act 1992

Gender Reassignment Act 2000

Health Act 1981

Health Services (Conciliation and Review) 
Act 1995

Health Services (Quality Improvement) 
Act 1994

Hire-Purchase Act 1959

Hospitals and Health Services Act 1927

Industrial Relations Act 1979

Inheritance (Family and Dependents
Provision) Act 1972

Judges Retirement Act 1937

Jurisdiction of Courts (Cross-Vesting) 
Act 1987

Land Administration Act 1997

Land Tax Assessment Act 1976

Law Reporting Act 1981

Legal Practitioners Act 1893
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Legal Representation of Infants Act 1977

Library Board of Western Australia Act 1951

Life Assurance Companies Act 1889

Limitations Act 1935

Liquor Licensing Act 1988

Local Government Act 1995

Medical Act 1894

Mental Health Act 1996

Minimum Conditions of Employment 
Act 1993

Mining Act 1978

Misuse Of Drugs Act 1981

Nurses Act 1992 Occupational Safety and
Health Act 1984

Occupational Therapists Registration 
Act 1980

Official Prosecutions (Defendants’ Costs) 
Act 1973

Optical Dispensers Act 1966

Parliamentary Commissioner Act 1971

Parole Orders (Transfer) Act 1984

Partnership Act 1895

Pharmacy Act 1964

Physiotherapists Act 1950

Poisons Act 1964

Prisoners (Interstate Transfer) Act 1983

Professional Standards Act 1997

Property Law Act 1969

Psychologists Registration Act 1976

Public and Bank Holidays Act 1972

Public Sector Management Act 1994

Public Works Act 1902

Radiation Safety Act 1975

Registration of Deeds Act 1856

Residential Tenancies Act 1987

Retirement Villages Act 1992 (Part IV)

Salaries and Allowances Act 1975

Sale of Land Act 1970

Sentencing Act 1995

Sentencing (Consequential Provisions) 
Act 1995

Slander of Women Act 1900

Stamp Act 1921

State Records Act 2000

State Superannuation Act 2000

State Supply Commission Act 1991

Strata Titles Act 1985 (Part VI)

Supreme Court Act 1935

Surveillance Devices Act 1998

Town Planning and Development Act 1928

Transfer of Land Act 1893

Trustees Act 1962

Unclaimed Money Act 1990

Victims of Crime Act 1994

Weapons Act 1999

Wills Act 1970

Workers Compensation and Rehabilitation
Act 1981

Workplace Agreements Act 1993

C’wealth Admiralty Act 1988

C’wealth Bankruptcy Act 1966

C’wealth Cheques Act 1986

C’wealth Child Support (Assessment) 
Act 1989

C’wealth Child Support (Registration and
Collection) Act 1988

C’wealth Companies Act 1981

C’wealth Corporations Law (to 1 Feb 2001)

C’wealth Crimes Act 1914

C’wealth Currency Act 1965

C’wealth Disability Discrimination Act 1992

C’wealth Electronic Transactions Act 1999

C’wealth Family Law Act 1975

C’wealth Fringe Benefits Tax Act 1986

C’wealth GST (Goods and Services Tax) – 
A New Tax System

C’wealth Income Tax Assessment Act 1936

C’wealth Insurance Act 1973

C’wealth International Transfer Of Prisoners
Act 1997
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C’wealth/Int’l Chemical Munitions Treaty 1997

C’wealth Life Insurance Act 1995

C’wealth Marriage Act 1961

C’wealth Migration Act 1958

C’wealth Native Title Act 1993

C’wealth Patents Act 1990

C’wealth Racial Discrimination Act 1975

C’wealth Registration of Deaths Abroad 
Act 1984

C’wealth Service and Execution of Process 
Act 1992

C’wealth Trade Practices Act 1974

C’wealth Transfer Of Prisoners Act 1983

C’wealth Veterans Entitlements Act 1986

C’wealth Witness Protection Act 1994

C’wealth Workplace Relations Act 1996

* Although still in force, these Acts have for all practical purposes been replaced by the

Corporations (Western Australia) Act and related Commonwealth legislation



D E P A R T M E N T  O F  J U S T I C E  •  A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 1 / 2 0 0 2

PUBLICATIONS

APPENDICIES

Page 187

The Department of Justice has developed a comprehensive collection of publications, brochures

and videos. These are available from the Department at no cost unless otherwise stated, or can 

be downloaded from Justice Online at www.justice.wa.gov.au

Disability services policy

Information on prisons (online only)

Language services policy

Department of Justice annual reports (online only)

Department of Justice handbook: A practical guide to using the Department’s services

Prisoner work camps

Report of the review of remission and parole

Report of the review of restraining orders

Sentencing statistics

Adult offender statistical reports (yearly reports)

The comprehensive list orders publications according to subject. When requesting copies of the

publications, please contact the appropriate contact number.

ABORIGINAL SERVICES 9264 6105
• Aboriginal Alternative Dispute Resolution Service – Helping to heal the conflict

• Taking the Stand (a video presentation for victims of crime)

BIRTHS, DEATHS AND MARRIAGES 9264 1555

General
• Changing your name

• Customer service charter

• You too can trace your family history

• The Western Australian pioneers on CD ROM or microfiche. Index of 210,000 birth, death

and marriage records registered between 1841 and 1905 ($205 and $140 respectively)

• The Western Australian death and marriage index on microfiche. Year by year index of deaths

and marriages (from $35)

Births
• Commemorative birth certificates for Western Australians young and old ($40)

Marriages
• Happily ever… before and after

• Marriage counselling

• Your registry wedding

COURTS

General court information 9264 1547
• About jury service

• Application for appointment as a justice of the peace

• Being a witness in court

• Commissioner for declarations

• Court child-minding
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• Child witness service

• Court video-link service

• Courtrooms of the future – May Holman Courts

• Customer Service Charter

• Information about court fines

• Information about infringement notices

• Intelligent courtroom

• Interpreters for court clients

• Jury duty

• Jury service information sheet

• Mediation at the Supreme Court

• Remand court appearances by video

• Restraining orders

• Understanding the Court of Petty Sessions

• Understanding the Local Court

Children’s Court 9218 0111
• ‘Keep Your Head’ video and resource book. The consequences of breaking the law, 

going to court and taking responsibility for one’s actions ($40)

• Perth Children’s Court – services and facilities for victims of crime

• The Children’s Court – important information for parents and guardians

• Understanding the Children’s Court

• Children’s Court – a guide for those appearing before the court

Commercial Tribunal 9425 2773
• Annual report of the Commercial Registrar under the Commercial Tenancy (Retail Shops)

Agreement Act

• Annual report of the Commercial Tribunal.

• Information and resource kit – Commercial Tribunal explanatory publication

Coroner’s Court 9321 2491
• When a person dies suddenly – information for the family

• Coroner’s Court of WA – important information about inquests

• Annual Report

Criminal Injuries Compensation 9425 2730
• Compensation for victims of crime

• Criminal injuries compensation application form incorporating guidelines and procedures

• Chief Assessor’s annual report

District Court 9425 2343
• Information for unrepresented litigants in the civil jurisdictions

• How to apply to have your Drivers Licence Disqualification removed

• How to apply to have your serious old conviction removed from your record

Drug Court 9425 2666
• Drug Courts in Western Australia – the positive choice.
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Equal Opportunity Tribunal 9425 2774
• Equal Opportunity Tribunal

• Guidelines for settlement of disputes by agreement

Family Court 9224 8222
• Pathway to Agreement

• Cost disputes – Notice of rights

• Costs of family law proceedings

• Family Court Counselling Services

• Forms prescribed under Family Law Act 1975 and Family Court Act 1995 

and relevant instructions

• Guide to serving an application for divorce

• Information sessions

• Introduction to the Family Court

• Marriage, families and separation

• Parental responsibility and parenting orders

• Practice directions and case management guidelines ($5) 

• Handbook for self-represented litigants preparing for trial in the Family Court of WA

• Family Court of WA; conciliation conference kit

• Family Court of WA; order contravention kit

• Family Court of WA; divorce kit

Fines and infringement notices 9235 0235
• Information about court fines

• Information about infringement notices

Gender Reassignment Board 9425 2774
• Application forms

• Information brochure

Guardianship and Administration Board 9278 7350
• See also "Guardianship and Advocacy" section page 114

• Annual report

Magistrates Courts 9425 2222
• Understanding the Court of Petty Sessions

• Understanding the Local Court

Retirement Villages Tribunal 9425 2773
• Retirement villages application form.

Sheriff’s Office 9425 2481
• About jury service.

• Jury duty

Small Claims Tribunal 9426 8700
• Claim form with guide

• Information for consumers

• Information for traders
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Strata Titles Referee 9425 2773
• Applications to the Strata Titles Referee – what you need to know

Supreme Court 9421 5333
• The Supreme Court of Western Australia

• What is probate? Do I need to apply?

Victim Support Services 94252851
• Coping with Trauma

• Court Support

• How can I help?

• Preparing a victim impact statement

• Restraining orders

• Taking the Stand

• Victim Support Services

• What about me, the victim?

• Directory of services for victims of crime

GUARDIANSHIP AND ADVOCACY

Office of the Public Advocate 9278 7300
• Office of the Public Advocate (general introductory brochure)

• Customer service standards and grievances procedures

Guardianship and administration brochure series
• An introduction to guardianship and administration in Western Australia

• Before you apply for an appointment of a guardian or administrator

• An application has been made for appointment of a guardian or administrator

• You have been appointed to make decisions on behalf of a person with a decision-making

disability

Enduring Power of Attorney
• Enduring power of attorney – making a decision to safeguard your own financial security

• Enduring power of attorney information kit.

Professional Guides
• A guide for service providers (practice manual) ($38.50)

Research reports
• Safeguarding the financial interests of vulnerable seniors

• Needs of Indigenous People in Guardianship and Administration System 

in Western Australia ($16.50)

Newsletter
• Office of the Public Advocate newsletter (published twice a year)
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Annual Report
• Annual report of the Public Advocate (online only)

• Annual report of the Guardianship and Administration Board

Video
• Guardianship and Administration (12 minute videotape) ($22.00)

OFFENDER MANAGEMENT /  PRISON SERVICES

Adults in the community 9264 1381
• Aboriginal visitors scheme

• Community bail

• Community-based order

• Conditional release order

• Home detention for prisoners

• Home leave program

• Intensive supervision order

• Pre-sentence report

• Prisoner program

• Prisoner industries

• Reparation order

• Sentencing orders

• Suspended imprisonment

• Victim – offender mediation (information for victims and offenders)

• Work release order

Juveniles in the community 9264 1065
• Aboriginal family supervision program – taking responsibility for your own kin

• Education services – education and vocational training for the future

• Juvenile justice teams – a chance for offenders to set things straight; giving victims a voice

• Juvenile supervision orders

• Killara Youth Support Service – helping families keep their children out of trouble

• Mentor program – giving young offenders a helping hand

• Parole

• Psychological services – assessment and counselling for young people and their families

• Rehabilitation programs for prisoners

• Supervised bail program – an alternative to being locked up

• Supervised release program – after detention, getting back on track in the community

• Warminda Intensive Intervention Centre – a chance for young offenders to go straight

Adults in prison or custody
• Prisons Division strategic plan for Aboriginal Services 2002-2005

• Integrated Prison Regime

• Work Camps

• Information for visitors to prisons
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Juveniles in detention or custody 9264 1065
• Banksia Hill Detention Centre – an opportunity for a new beginning

• Children’s Court – a guide for those appearing before the court

• Children’s Court – after conviction, what next?

• Rangeview Remand Centre – what being remanded in custody means

Parole Board and Supervised Release Review Board 9229 1100
• Parole Board annual report

• Supervised Release Review Board annual report

• Mentally Impaired Defendants Review Board annual report

• Parole information booklet

VICTIM SERVICES

Child Witness Service 9425 2165
• Child Witness Service

Victim Support Service 9425 2851
• Coping with trauma

• Court support

• How can I help?

• Preparing a victim impact statement

• Restraining orders

• Taking the stand

• Victim Support Services

• What about me the victim?

• Directory of services for victims of crime

PUBLIC TRUSTEE 9222 6777
• About our charges

• Public Trustee annual report

• Who we are, what we do
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